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文物是历史的记忆，是民族文化的重要凭证。2014年3月27日，习近平主席访问联合国教科文组织总部并发表重要演讲。他强调，要让收藏在博物馆里的文物、陈列在广阔大地上的遗产、书写在古籍里的文字都活起来，让中华文明同世界各国人民创造的丰富多彩的文明一道，为人类提供正确的精神指引和强大的精神动力。

当时，我还在联合国教科文组织第37届大会主席任上，有幸于现场聆听了习主席的讲话，很受触动和启发。中国是一个拥有五千多年辉煌历史的文明古国，同时也是文物大国。文物不可再生，弥足珍贵，保护好、利用好文物，是全人类的责任，也是大学的责任。

2018年，北京大学将隆重庆祝120周年校庆。自京师大学堂创办以来，一代又一代北大人接力奋斗，形成了爱国、进步、民主、科学的传统，为国家的发展、民族的复兴作出了卓越的贡献。

走过两个甲子风雨历程的北大，不仅形成了自己独特的精神魅力，也保存了大量珍贵的文物。这些有形的文化遗产，承载着大学的光荣传统、核心价值与使命担当。著名历史地理学家、北京大学教授侯仁之先生曾经说过：“我们之所以有今天，正是过去的人们世世代代辛勤创造的结果。是值得我们非常珍惜和爱护的。话不必说得太远，我们这座校园，就是一个很好的见证。”

北大上承太学传统，是中国几千年文脉延续并不断与时俱进的象征。今日北大的主校区位于燕园，这里有着久远的历史记忆，珍藏着数不胜数的历史文物。我们热爱北大，就必然热爱燕园，热爱燕园文物。

早在金代，这里就是京郊著名的风景区，明清时期，又成为皇家的“赐园”，近代以来则发生了重大历史性变化。1920年，司徒雷登在这里为燕京大学新校园选址，看中了这片“废园”，并与陕西督军陈树藩签署用地契约，此后在周边陆续扩增。燕大聘请了毕业于耶鲁大学的亨利·墨菲进行规划设计，1922—1929年，用了整整七年的时间，在这里建成了非常美丽的校园，而这一地区也从此被冠以“燕园”的美称。墨菲是美国的建筑设计师，但却是当时中国建筑古典复兴思潮的代表性人物，他所设计的燕园，古色古香、典雅端庄，也为今日北大核心校区奠定了基础。（可参见拙著《无奈的结局——司徒雷登与中国》）

经过几百年的沧桑，燕园已经囊括了勺园、静园、燕南园、朗润园、鸣鹤园、淑春园、镜春园、未名湖、悠哉湖、红湖、后湖等名胜古迹。这里自成一格，集北方园林的宏伟气度与江南园林的精致秀丽于一体，亭台楼阁遍布，假山怪石俯拾皆是。2001年，“未名湖燕园建筑”被列入全国重点文物保护单位。目前，燕园共有国家级文物建筑、北京市级文物建筑、海淀区级文物建筑及具有保护价值的建筑近百座，有石碑、石雕及石构件等文物42件，赛克勒考古与艺术博物馆藏品两万余件，图书馆中文古籍150万册，档案馆和校史馆等也保存着大量的珍稀资料。

这些文物，既记录了繁荣、强盛与辉煌，也反映了近代中国落后挨打的屈辱，更昭示着这个古老民族走向复兴的光明前景。

北京大学是可以触摸到历史的地方。保护好燕园的文物，就是存续北大的历史，就是守护北大人的精神传统、守护中华民族的文脉。在保护与传承的过程中，我们也要落实新的发展理念，注意发挥文物在立德树人方面的作用，让古与今、旧与新在这里交相辉映，让北大的文物成为桥梁，推动中国文化走向世界、走向未来。

现在，我们编成了这本《燕园文物》，是对燕园历史和先贤的纪念，也是向120周年校庆的献礼。希望读者能够由此更加了解和爱护燕园文物，并对燕园悠长的历史和北大厚重的人文积淀有新的发现，形成新的认知与记忆。

是为序。

北京大学党委书记、校务委员会主任

联合国教科文组织第37届大会主席

郝平

2017年10月1日





Preface

Cultural relics are the memories of history and important evidences of national culture. In his speech delivered at UNESCO headquarters on March 27, 2014, President Xi Jinping reiterated that we need to bring all collections in our museums, all heritage structures across our lands and all records in our classics to life. In this way, the Chinese civilization, together with the rich and colorful civilizations created by the people of other countries, will provide mankind with the right mental guidance and strong motivation.

As president of the 37th UNESCO General Conference, I was lucky enough to attend the speech, which stirred and inspired me immensely. China is a country blessed with a splendid history spanning over 5,000 years, and a repository of precious cultural relics. It is the responsibility of universities and all mankind to protect and make the best use of cultural relics, as they cannot be reproduced and therefore are even more valuable.

Peking University will celebrate its 120th anniversary in 2018. Ever since the establishment of the Imperial University of Peking in 1898, teachers and students of Peking University have, in their unremitting effort one generation after another, formed a tradition featuring patriotism, progressiveness, democracy and science, and made an outstanding contribution to national development and revitalization.

Going through two cycles of sixty years' vicissitudes, Peking University has not only formed a spiritual charisma of its own, but also a large quantity of precious cultural relics loaded with the glorious tradition, core value and consistent responsibility of the University. Hou Renzhi, Peking University professor and famed historical geographer, once remarked: "We owe what we have today to the strenuous efforts of generations of people in the past. It merits our utmost appreciation and good care. Our campus itself, not to mention others, is a good testimony."

Following the tradition of the Imperial College, Peking University symbolizes the continuity and evolution of the vein of Chinese culture over the centuries. The main campus of today's Peking University is in the Yan Garden, which boasts a long history and numerous cultural relics. Our love for Peking University cannot be complete without the love for the Yan Garden and its cultural relics.

As early as in the Jin dynasty, this place was already a famous suburban scenic spot. During the Ming and Qing dynasties, it became the "granted garden" of the imperial family. Since modern times, it has experienced tremendous historical changes. Virtually a wasteland though, it was selected by John Leighton Stuart as the new site of Yenching University in 1920. When a land agreement was signed with the military governor of Shaanxi, Chen Shufan, also the land owner, expansion in the surrounding areas ensued. Yenching University invited Henry Murphy, who was graduated from Yale University, to design for the new campus and he spent the whole seven years from 1922 to 1929 making the wasteland into an attractive landscape, and the area has since been entitled the "Yan Garden". An American architect though, Murphy stood first in the revival of classical Chinese architecture. The Yan Garden of his design had an antique flavor, elegant and dignified, and laid the foundation for the core campus of today's Peking University. (Hao Ping, Helpless Ending—John Leighton Stuart and China
 )

After centuries' ups and downs, the Yan Garden has now formed a brand of landscape integrating the majesty and grandiosity of the northern gardens and refinement and delicacy of their southern counterparts. These include the Shaoyuan Garden, Jingyuan Garden, Yannan Garden, Langrun Garden, Minghe Garden, Shuchun Garden, Jingchun Garden, Weiming Lake, Youzai Lake, Honghu Lake, Houhu Lake and others. Pavilions, terraces and multi-storied buildings scatter all over, and rockwork can be found everywhere. In 2001, the "Architecture centering around the Weiming Lake of the Yan Garden" was listed as a key cultural relics site under state protection. At present, the Yan Garden has about 100 state-level, municipal-level and district-level ancient constructions and architectures meriting protection; 42 stone tablets, stone sculptures and stone constructions; over 20,000 collections in the Arthur M. Sackler Museum of Art and Archaeology; 1,500,000 Chinese classics in the Library, and a good quantity of precious documents in its Archives and Museum of History.

These cultural relics are recorders of not only glory, prosperity and power, but also humiliation and disgrace of backward China in modern times. More than these, they hail a bright prospect of this ancient nation heading towards brilliance.

Peking University is a place where one can actually touch and feel history. The protection of cultural relics of the Yan Garden is the preservation of the history of Peking University, the spiritual tradition of its students and teachers, and the vein of Chinese culture. In the course of protection and inheritance, we should pay equal attention to the new concepts of development, bringing into play the role of cultural relics in the cultivation of morals and talents. We should make every effort to blend the old and the new together, turning the cultural relics of Peking University into a bridge so as to promote Chinese culture into the world and future.


Cultural Relics of the Yan Garden
 is a commemoration of the history of the Yan Garden and its forerunners. It is also a present to Peking University's 120th anniversary. It is our hope that readers can achieve a better knowledge of the cultural relics of the Yan Garden and thus value them more, and gain new insights into the age-long history of the Yan Garden and deep humanist deposit of Peking University, thereby updating their perceptions and memories about them.

Secretary of the Party Committee of Peking University

Dean of School Affairs Committee

President of the 37th UNESCO General Conference

Hao Ping

October 1, 2017


壹　历史追溯

I. Back Tracing
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20世纪初，北京地区有三所主要的教会学校——汇文大学堂、华北协和大学、华北协和女子大学，前两所大学自1916年就开始酝酿合并，但新校名和校长人选到1918年尚未确定，只挂出了“Peking University”的英文牌子。1918年12月3日，设在美国的董事会决定聘请司徒雷登任正在合并的新校校长。
【1】

 为了不与当时国立北京大学混淆，经过多番争论，1919年，包括蔡元培、吴雷川、胡适等在内的校名决议委员会在诚静诒的建议下，决定将这所学校命名为“燕京大学”。当时的校部设在北京城东南角盔甲厂一带，校舍简陋，经费短缺，环境十分窘迫。至1920年华北协和女子大学并入时，燕大仍只能使用佟府夹道旧址。重新选择一处新校址，是司徒雷登在答应就任燕京大学校长职务时提出的条件之一，
【2】

 因此，为燕京大学寻找一个新的地块建设校园成了他上任后的重要工作，他多方联络、四处寻觅，“燕园”这个传世之作正在孕育待生。

In the early 20th century, there were three major missionary schools in Beijing, i.e., Peking Huiwen University, North China Union College and North China Union Women's College. The merger of the former two had been on the cards since 1916, but the name and the president of the new school had not been determined by 1918, with only a sign of "Peking University" in English in use. On December 3, 1918, the Board of Directors based in the United States appointed John Leighton Stuart president of the new school in merge.
【1】

 In order to distinguish it from National Peking University at the time, the university name resolution committee, which included Cai Yuanpei, Wu Leichuan and Hu Shih, after rounds of discussion and upon the suggestion by Cheng Jingyi, finally reached a consensus on "Yenching University". At that time, the college was located near Kuijia Chang, southeast of Beijing. Due to the shortage of funding, the college buildings were shabby and the general situation was miserable. By the time the North China Union Women's College was incorporated in 1920, Yenching University could only use the old site of Tongfu Jiadao for teaching. A precondition of John Leighton Stuart's consent to the position of president was a new site for the university.
【2】

 Therefore, choosing a location for the newborn university was among the top of his agenda after installation. He went hither and thither, and contacted as many people as possible. The legendary "Yan Garden" was in gestation.



坐标的锁定

1919年，中国局势飘摇动荡，当时政府领导者大总统徐世昌、国务总理钱能训，以及“安福国会”幕后领袖段祺瑞等多方势力激烈斗争、鱼龙混杂。第一次世界大战战胜国在法国巴黎召开所谓的“和平会议”，拒绝了中国代表提出的要求，激起了中国人民的强烈反对，五四运动爆发。政治局势的混乱、土地产权的变更反而使得燕京大学购买校址有了更多的可能和选择。1912年溥仪退位，民国政府按照优待皇室条例保全了一部分皇家地产，但是还有很多地产要么被收归民国政府而维护不力，要么属于落魄贵族等待被出手，这为燕大的校址选择提供了有利条件。

燕大先后找到了约十处可能的选址地块，在锁定燕园之前，大概还有两处较为中意。

一是“月坛庙地产”。1919年初，燕大看中了一块叫“月坛庙地产”的地块，大概就在今天的月坛公园附近，离今天的教育部也不太远。司徒雷登一度认为这块地与他心目中的校址接近，并且认为政府会帮助他们说服地块中的农民卖掉土地。然而，燕大很快发现：一方面，政府的法律程序没完没了，各个机构之间互相推诿不作为；另一方面，外国人在华的活动变得越发敏感，无论是政府还是农民，把土地卖给外国人是一件需要慎之又慎的事情。虽然司徒雷登已经向远在大洋彼岸的美国董事会汇报了这块地并得到了认可和授权，但是一段时间过去，购地仍无丝毫进展，司徒雷登也几近绝望，不得不放弃。

二是“动物园地产”。1920年初，冯玉祥的客卿王铁珊与基督教会走得较近，他为燕大找了一块新地，位于西直门外，在当时的农事试验场西侧，大概就是当初傅恒三子福康安贝子的私人园邸“三贝子花园”的继园，
【3】

 也就是现在动物园的位置。在司徒雷登眼中，这块地的位置和景观都是很动人的，这至少一百亩的土地，索价15,000墨西哥鹰洋，他已决定并托付王铁珊帮助办理这块地的购买事宜。然而，五四运动之后民族主义情绪高涨，将一块具有历史意义的地皮公然卖给外国人，这可能被扣上“卖国贼”的帽子，也可能引发一场动乱。在这种情况下，“动物园地产”的购买计划又夭折了。

在城里的购地计划已经接连挫败，燕大的眼光也开始投向城外更远的地方，司徒雷登曾在回忆录中感慨：“几个世纪以来，京城的外省官吏需要为他们的家族成员准备墓地，便从城外购买地皮。北京的近郊到处都是这类互不相关的私人坟地，很多都破败失修，找不到原地主。”
【4】

 在近郊买不到土地，就不得不扩大寻找范围，说起来，司徒雷登注意到海淀的睿王园还是因为用庚子赔款建的清华学校（1928年更名为国立清华大学）：

一天，我应几个朋友之邀到清华园做客。有个朋友对我说：“你为什么不买我们对面的那片地？”我朝那边看了看。那块地正好在去颐和园的马路边上，离城有五英里；因为交通便利，所以比原先看好的几处地点离城更近一些，而且景色也十分迷人，不远处就是著名的西山，那里到处都是中国古代遗留下来的宏伟庙宇和宫殿。这个地方原先是清朝一个亲王废弃的花园，现在是陕西督军陈树藩的避暑山庄和祠堂。我们认识的一名中国官员说他可以帮我们设法买下这块地。不久后，燕大董事会和托事部批准了我们选的这个新校址。第二年夏天，我特地去陕西见了陈督军。他对此非常有兴趣，以六万银元的售价把这块地产卖给了我们，并捐出卖地的三分之一钱款作为奖学金。起初买的一片地有四十英亩，以后我们又逐渐买下了附近几个荒废的花园和空地，使总面积扩大到原来的四倍多。”
【5】



事实上早在1918年，就有商人给燕大董事会写信，建议新校址考虑城外的北郊或者西郊。此外，就在目标聚焦在睿王园之前，燕大还曾考虑过“治贝子园地块”，据高厚德
【6】

 先生所述，这块地是“紧靠海淀东北面的一座清朝亲王的园地，距北京西北五英里，外国人叫朝鲜园的，因其曾出租一部分给朝鲜人做养牛场。它虽归属于一位清朝亲王，在北京外国银行中却有很沉重的抵押。这块地不足大学所需，并且要价过高，校董事会遂放弃了这个计划，希望要价低些或者地界扩大再议。后来这块地还是到了学校手中，用于农学系的实验地。”
【7】



位于治贝子园西北方不到一百码的地方，便是睿王园。其实，当时不仅西山已经成为一个很吸引人的旅游之地，而且还有传言说国立北京大学有意迁往玉泉山，这样北大、清华再加上燕大就形成了集聚，更有利于促进燕大的发展和知名度的提升。

这块地的获得还颇费了一番周折。1920年夏天，有了中意的目标，司徒雷登很快便动身前往陕西，与这块地的主人谈购买事宜。睿王园就是之前的淑春园（十笏园），后来燕大的主校区。此地本是陕西督军陈树藩此前以两万银元购得给父亲养老的，当时陈已经把地委托给了一位北京居民邓孝科。邓孝科曾与燕大进行洽谈，并于1920年10月15日与燕大签订契约，作价六万银元。后来，陈树藩不满邓越过他们向燕大索价，经协议把这块地向邓要了回来，而后由陈父将之改为转让给校方的永久性租地契约，以半卖半送的方式作价四万银元给了燕京大学，便宜出的三分之一款项被捐出做奖学金和襄助陕西教育等。

关于燕大购买新校址的过程，1988年12月21日的《文汇报》上曾经刊登过一篇董健吾先生的遗作，记述了司徒雷登如何专程到陕西找陈树藩为燕大买地的经过——司徒雷登准备了20万美金的巨款，到陕西找陈树藩决心买到这块地，在董健吾和李同契等的引荐下，司徒雷登到督军府见陈树藩：

（陈树藩说：）“我遵照家父宏愿，不是卖给燕大，而是送给燕大。”司徒雷登听的这里，真是出乎意外的高兴透了。但陈话锋一转，接着说：“不过，我要求司徒雷登博士答应我三个条件：（1）在燕京大学内要立碑纪念捐献勺园的家严；（2）要承认我在西安所创办的成德中学为燕大的附属中学；（3）成德中学有权每年保送50名毕业生到燕大上学，一律享受免费待遇。”司徒雷登迅速站起来，向督军和到席的诸位行了一个旋转式鞠躬礼，然后开始演讲，说他们的业绩，值得他不但在中国赞扬，而且他回到美国的时候，也要广为宣传。陈督军和尊翁将可爱的“勺园”赐给燕大为校址，此举意义极大：一来纪念了尊翁，二来提高了成德中学地位，三是使寒苦学生得以深造，四是促进了燕大的发展。“为善最乐”，今天督军和其尊翁所行的善举，一举而有四得，其乐无穷。
【8】



据郝平同志考证，在陈树藩与燕大签订的租地合同中，该园被称为“中诠园”。“中诠”来源于最后一代和硕睿亲王的名字，附近的居民一般称此园为睿亲王花园。而“勺园”则是燕大继睿亲王花园后，购买的与该园相毗连的另一片园地。可能是因为“勺园”是这一带自明代便知名的花园，所以容易错将两园混为一谈。
【9】



有了这个完美的邂逅，燕园的坐标就被锁定了。从1919年春季燕京大学成立到1920年11月燕大正式与陕西督军陈树藩签署契约，司徒雷登整整用了一年半的时间。这个约40英亩的地块成了燕园最初的核心区，此后燕大在周边不断扩增。这块土地承载着中国厚重的历史，也传承着中国大学的未来。

Securing the coordinates

The year 1919 saw China stumbling amidst political turmoil. Drastic combats among President Xu Shichang, Prime Minister Qian Nengxun, backstage leader of "Anfu Congress" Duan Qirui and many other forces, were underway. The political scene was a mixture of good and evil. The winning countries of WWI had a so-called "Peace Conference" in Paris and refused the demands raised by the Chinese delegation, which aroused strong oppositions among Chinese people and triggered off the May Fourth Movement. Chaotic political situation and change of land property rights, however, presented more possibilities and choices for Yenching University. When Puyi abdicated in 1912, the government of the Republic of China maintained some imperial real estate in accordance with the preferential treatment for the imperial. But a great deal of real estate was either taken over by the government who, however, was incapable of proper maintenance, or owned by sorehead nobles, waiting to be sold. This provided a most favorable condition for Yenching University's site selection.

Yenching University had investigated about ten places in succession. Before the final choice was made on the Yan Garden, there were two other places to its liking.

One was the "Temple of Moon property", presumably near the presentday Temple of Moon Park and not far from the Ministry of Education. Yenching University took a fancy to this place in early 1919. For a time Stuart thought it quite close to his desire, and that the government would help to persuade the peasants into selling their lands. Much to its disappointment, however, Yenching University soon found that, on the one hand, there was no end in governmental legal procedures, aggravated by buck passing among administrations; on the other, foreigners' activities in China became a more and more sensitive issue. When selling a piece of land to a foreigner, the seller, be it the government or the peasant, would exercise extreme prudence. Although Stuart had already informed the Board of Directors far back across the ocean and obtained recognition and authorization, there was no trace of progress in land purchase after a period of time. In near despair, Stuart could not but give up.

The other was the "Zoo property" in the present-day Beijing Zoo. In early 1920, Wang Tieshan, a familiar of Feng Yuxiang, who had a close relationship with the Christian church, found a place for Yenching University in Xizhimenwai, west of the Experimental Farms at the time. It is presumably the Jiyuan Garden of Fukang'an, a prince of the fourth degree and third son of Fuheng.
【3】

 The land no less than 100 mu
 charged at 15,000 Mexican silver dollars was, as Stuart saw it, agreeable in both location and view. He then entrusted Wang Tieshan with the transaction. Unfortunately, however, at a time when nationalism ran high as a result of the May Fourth Movement, to sell barefaced a piece of land of historical significance to a foreigner may result in the label of a "traitor", or cause chaos. In consequence, the purchase of the "Zoo property" miscarried as well.

Repeated setbacks in land purchases inside the city caused Yenching University to set its eyes on the suburbs. In his memoirs Stuart so wrote:"For many centuries officials from other provinces residing in the capital had needed a burial site for members of their families and had purchased plots adjacent to the city. The environs of Peking are full of these unrelated private cemeteries, many of them in disrepair and belonging to owners who cannot be traced."
【4】

 Unable to buy a land on the outskirts, Yenching University had to broaden its scope of search still further. It is possible that Yenching University's first knowledge about the Garden of Prince Rui in Haidian started from Tsinghua College (renamed National Tsinghua University in 1928), partly funded by the Boxer Indemnity.

One day I was invited to Tsinghua College by some friends, and one of them said, "Why don't you buy that property across from ours?" I looked at it, on the main highway to the Summer Palace—five miles out, but really nearer to Peking because of a good road than many other nearer places already considered, and quite attractive. The location was toward the celebrated Western Hills upon the slopes of which cluster some of the loveliest temples and palaces of China's great past. It had been the ruined garden of a Manchu prince but was now used by Governor Ch'en Shu-fan of Shensi as a summer villa and ancestral hall. An official we knew said he would try to secure it for us. The Managers and Trustees approved the proposed site and the next summer I went to the capital of Shensi to see Governor Ch'en. The Governor showed great interest, sold us the property for $60,000 in Chinese currency, and contributed one-third of the purchase price for scholarships. The original purchase was forty acres in a solid piece. In course of time, we bought adjoining gardens also in ruins or open land amounting in all to more than four times the original tract.
【5】



As a matter of fact, Yenching University Board of Directors had received letters from businessmen as early as in 1918, suggesting the northern or western suburbs as the site of the new campus. Moreover, before attention was focused on the Garden of Prince Rui, the University had considered "Zhibeizi Garden property". According to Howard S. Galt
【6】

 , this land "was the garden of a Qing-dynasty prince closely adjacent to northeast of Haidian. It was five miles to northwest of Beijing, and called by foreigners a 'Korean garden' because part of it had been rented out to Koreans for cow breeding. Although it belonged to a Qing-dynasty prince, it had already been heavily mortgaged to a foreign bank in Beijing. As the land was insufficient for university needs and the price too high, the Board decided to drop it unless the price could be lowered down or the area expanded. Anyhow it went to the hands of the University at last, as experimental fields for the Department of Agriculture."
【7】



No more than 100 yards to the northwest of the Zhibeizi Garden was the Garden of Prince Rui. As a matter of fact, the Western Hills at the time had already become an attractive tourist destination, and rumors had it that National Peking University had intended to move to the Jade Spring Hill. If that really was the case, National Peking University, Tsinghua College and Yenching University would form a cluster conducive to Yenching University's development and reputation.

The acquisition of this land was not without difficulties. Now that a target was set, Stuart soon went to Shaanxi to negotiate with the land owner in the summer of 1920. The Garden of Prince Rui was the former Shuchun Garden and became the main campus of Yenching University later. Governor Chen Shufan had bought it at 20,000 silver dollars for his father to live in retirement, and then entrusted it to a Beijing resident by the name of Deng Xiaoke. Deng Xiaoke had negotiations with Yenching University and signed the contract on October 15, 1920 at the price of 60,000 silver dollars. Afterwards, Governor Chen disapproved of Deng's overstepping and took back the land from Deng by an agreement. Then Chen's father rented the land to Yenching University permanently at 40,000 silver dollars only. The 20,000 silver dollars thus saved were donated as scholarship funds and used to develop the education in Shaanxi province.

About the details of this purchase, an article by Dong Jianwu on Wenhui Bao
 of December 21, 1988 recorded how Stuart went out of his way to Shaanxi to purchase the land from Chen Shufan. Stuart went with 200,000 US dollars, determined to get this land from Governor Chen. By the introduction of Dong Jianwu and Li Tongqi, Stuart arrived at Chen's residence:

(Governor Chen said:) "I will act as my father wished. I would not sell it to Yenching University, but give it to you as a present." That was too much beyond Stuart's expectation, and he was overjoyed. But Chen went on: "I do have three conditions. (1) A memorial should be established for my respected father who has donated this Shaoyuan Garden. (2) Chengde Middle School, which I have founded in Xi'an, should be recognized as the attached school to Yenching University. (3) Chengde Middle School is entitled to send 50 graduates to Yenching University every year, free of charge." At these words, Stuart stood on his feet at once, and bowed around to the governor and others present. He said that what they had done was not only worthy to be praised in China, but in America as well, after he went back. It is of great significance that Governor Chen and his respected father donate the lovely Shaoyuan Garden to Yenching University: First, it is a remembrance of the respected father. Second, it upgrades the status of Chengde Middle School. Third, it enables poor students to continue their study. Fourth, it promotes the development of Yenching University. Doing good is the happiest thing. The governor and his respected father have done four good things in one deed. That happiness is unbounded.
【8】



According to Hao Ping, in the land lease contract between Chen Shufan and Yenching University, the garden was called the "Zhongquan Garden" named after Zhongquan, the last-generation descendent of Prince Rui. Residents in the neighborhood generally called it the Garden of Prince Rui. The Shaoyuan Garden, however, was an adjacent garden bought by Yenching University later. As the Shaoyuan Garden had long been well known ever since the Ming dynasty, it was most likely that people often confused the two.
【9】



With this almost perfect meeting, the coordinates of the Yan Garden were secured. From the spring of 1919 when Yenching University was established to November 1920 when Yenching University formally signed the contract with Governor Chen Shufan of Shaanxi, it took Stuart one and a half years. In the days to come, the Yan Garden would gradually expand around this 40-acre core area, heavily loaded with the history of China and the future of Chinese universities.



历史的承载

虽然燕大得到这块地时它几近废墟，但这块地可谓历经了沧桑，见证过兴亡。

燕大从陈树藩手中得到的土地主要是睿王园，又叫墨尔根园（“睿”字满语为“墨尔根”），是清初摄政王多尔衮的后代睿亲王仁寿的居所。1860年，英法联军入侵北京，火烧圆明园，睿王园也遭到了破坏，之后同治年间重修圆明园时还曾从这里拆过建筑材料。大概到1881年，睿王园就只有“临风待月楼”一座较大建筑物了，侯仁之先生认为，当时这个建筑便处于现在的临湖轩位置，临湖轩前面的一对白皮松，也应该是在临风待月楼初建时就已经栽植下来的。
【10】

 后来，又发生了1900年八国联军再次火烧圆明园事件，到1922年燕园开始建设时，原来的临风待月楼应该已经不见了，园中的慈济寺也只剩下一座山门。庆幸的是这个山门被保留了下来，这也是追溯历史的又一坐标。

睿王园再往前追溯，便是淑春园。在乾隆把淑春园赐给和珅之后，该园的大规模建设便开始了，水田被改造为湖泊水系，园林建设也颇为用心。但也正是淑春园，成了和珅大罪二十款中的第十三款：“其园寓点缀，竟与圆明园蓬岛瑶台无异，不知是何肺肠？”
【11】

 据奉命查抄和珅家产的永锡等人奏折称：“全园房屋1003间，游廊楼亭357间。”
【12】

 可想当年淑春园的亭台楼榭、湖光山色是何等奢华。直至嘉庆四年（1799），淑春园被分为东西两部分，东部较大、西部较小，东部赐给了乾隆第十一子永瑆，丰绅殷德和十公主留住在西部。1823年，在永瑆和十公主相继去世之后，按惯例淑春园被收归内务府所有，之后才赐给了睿亲王。

其实，燕园里的古园最早可以追溯到的是明代米万钟的“勺园”，勺园不仅是燕园中开辟最早的一块园林，也是海淀园林开辟的先驱。相对于睿王园来说，勺园的名气要大得多，难怪很多人认为燕大最先买的校址是勺园。关于勺园的历史，曾任燕京大学教务长的洪业作过考证。洪业又叫洪煨莲（英文名：William），是侯仁之先生的老师，
【13】

 他23岁赴美留学，五年内拿了三个学位，他言辞流利、文采斐然，英文好到足以让大多数美国人羡慕，且兼通中西、风度翩翩。洪业1921年接受了燕京大学聘约，并在回校任教之前被邀与燕大副校长亨利·W．鲁斯（又名路思义）在美国为燕京大学筹款一年。
【14】

 回到北京后，历史学出身的洪业开始搜集关于燕大新校址一带的书籍、手稿、诗词、绘画。他于1928年写作的第一篇考证文章便是关于两块在燕大校址出土的明朝墓志铭——《明吕乾斋吕宇衡祖孙二墓志铭考》，由出土的墓志铭也可确认，燕大校址的一部分原是明朝米万钟画过的勺园，洪业还买到了这幅画，而且把画及关于勺园的文件收集在一起出版了。
【15】



据考证，勺园是米万钟在1612年开始构筑的。米万钟作为万历年间著名书画家，与董其昌号称“南董北米”。他虽是北方人，但十余年的南方宦游经历对他的园林建造影响至深，他巧妙地运用了水，并且园林的设计体现着他的性格和处世之道。这个园子竣工后，其盛名已经超过了米万钟的书画，园林的名字也与它的设计一样呈现美感：

因为园中只取了海淀一勺之水，也因为他认为“勺”是形容米氏家族的一种合适的容器，他把新园命名为勺园。之后不久，李伟在勺园西侧建立了一个远近闻名的园子……两个园子都很漂亮。据说明朝的一个内阁大学士曾这样赞扬他们高雅的品位：“米园不俗，李园不酸”。明朝灭亡以后很久，李园早已成为皇家园林
【16】

 ，而米家依旧其乐融融地居住在勺园。
【17】



历史上关于勺园的记载甚多，康熙年间还曾在勺园的旧址上重建了弘雅园，根据洪业的《勺园图录考》记载，这里曾做过贵族积哈纳（郑恭亲王）的府邸，之后便以“群贤毕至、少长咸集”之意改作“集贤院”，供从城里赶来的文武官员上朝前后落脚。关于这片园子的历史，有一个很值得回忆的事件，在乾隆五十八年（1793），英王乔治三世第一次派遣特使马嘎尔尼出使中国，企图修改通商章程和在北京派驻公使。为了便于马嘎尔尼在圆明园朝觐，清廷特地为使团在海淀预留了一处住所，这处住所就是弘雅园。
【18】



虽然在1920年燕京大学最先获得的校址以睿王园为主，并不包含勺园旧址，但是勺园很快也被购入，并且一直是燕园中不可或缺的一部分，这个名称也一直保留至今。现在，北大图书馆中还藏有米万钟于万历四十五年（1617）手绘的《勺园修禊图》。

Load of history

Though almost in ruins when rented, the land has weathered through ups and downs in history.

The land Yenching University rented from Chen Shufan was chiefly the Garden of Prince Rui, also called Moergen Garden (for "rui" in Manchu is "oergen"), which was the residence of Prince Rui (Renshou), posterity of Prince Regent Dorgon of the early Qing dynasty. In 1860, when the AngloFrench Allied Forces invaded Beijing and set the Yuanming Yuan on fire, the Garden of Prince Rui was destroyed as well, and, to make matters worse, when the Yuanming Yuan was rebuilt during the reign of Emperor Tongzhi, building materials were taken from here. Thus by 1881 or so, the Garden of Prince Rui was reduced to one larger structure, i.e., the Linfeng Daiyue Building only. According to Hou Renzhi, the building was located at the very place of the present-day Linhu House, and the couple of lacebark pines in front of the Linhu House must have been planted when the building was first built.
【10】

 Later in 1900, the Yuanming Yuan was burnt for good by the forces of the Eight-Nation Alliance. By the construction of the Yan Garden in 1922, the original Linfeng Daiyue Building must have gone, and the Ciji Temple had only a gate to mourn, which was quite a relief though, for it became another coordinate when we go back in history.

Tracing still further, the predecessor of the Garden of Prince Rui was the Shuchun Garden. After Emperor Qianlong bestowed it to Heshen, a most powerful official at the time, there ensued a big-scale construction. Paddy fields were changed into rivers and lakes, and the garden construction was all too meticulous. However, it was this very Shuchun Garden that became the thirteenth charge against Heshen among the twenty ones: "The decorations in his garden are very much the same as the Immortal Abode on Penglai Island (Pengdao Yaotai) in the Yuanming Yuan. What does he mean by that?”
【11】

 According to the memorials to the throne submitted by Yongxi and others who were ordered to confiscate the family property of Heshen: "There are 1,003 rooms altogether, and 357 porches, chambers and pavilions.”
【12】

 Just imagine the luxury of the pavilions, terraces, chambers and gazebos, and the landscape! Until the fourth year of Emperor Jiaqing's reign (1799), the Shuchun Garden was divided into the eastern and western parts. The bigger eastern part was given to Yongxing, the eleventh son of Emperor Qianlong, while Fengshen Yinde and the Tenth Princess resided in the western part. In 1823, after Yongxing and the Tenth Princess died successively, the Shuchun Garden was, by customary rule, confiscated by the Imperial Household Department. It was given to Prince Rui in later years.

In fact, the history of the Yan Garden can be traced back to the Shaoyuan Garden of Mi Wanzhong, a famed painter-calligrapher of the Ming dynasty. It was the oldest garden in the Yan Garden and Haidian district as well. In reputation it far exceeded the Garden of Prince Rui. No wonder most people believed that it was the earliest garden bought by Yenching University. Hong Ye (also known as William Hung), former Dean of Yenching University and tutor of Hou Renzhi,
【13】

 made a specific research on the history of the Shaoyuan Garden. William went to study in America at the age of 23 and obtained three academic degrees within five years. His fluency and literacy in English was the envy of even most natives. Well versed in both Western and Chinese cultures, the graceful young man accepted Yenching University's offer in 1921, and before taking office, was invited to raise funds for Yenching University in the US together with Yenching University's Vice President Henry W. Luce for one year.
【14】

 Back to Beijing, William the historian began to collect books, manuscripts, poems and paintings about Yenching University's new site. His first textual research in 1928 was on two epitaphs unearthed on the site—"Research on the Epitaphs of Lü Qianzhai and Lü Yuheng, Grandfather and Grandson, of the Ming Dynasty". It can be confirmed from the epitaphs per se that part of Yenching University's new site was the Shaoyuan Garden depicted in Mi Wanzhong's painting. William even bought the painting and published it together with other documents about the Shaoyuan Garden.
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According to research, the construction of the Shaoyuan Garden began in 1612. A famous painter-calligrapher during the reign of Emperor Wanli, Mi Wanzhong was often referred to together with Dong Qichang as the "southern Dong and northern Mi". Though a northerner, Mi's over ten years of official travels in the south exerted a deep influence on his garden. Water was ingeniously applied in its design, which represented the personality and philosophy of life of its owner. When the garden was completed, its fame exceeded that of his calligraphy and painting. The name of the garden, likewise, presented no less beauty than the garden itself:

As the garden had only taken a ladleful of water from Haidian, and as Mi believed the "ladle" (shao
 in Chinese) was a suitable container for the description of his family, the new garden was named the "Shaoyuan Garden" accordingly. Before long, Li Wei built a renowned garden in the west of the Shaoyuan Garden … the two gardens were both attractive. A member of the Grand Secretariat of the Ming dynasty was reported to praise the cultivated taste of the two: "Mi's garden is not vulgar; Li's garden is not shabby." Long after the ending of the Ming dynasty, Li's garden had become an imperial garden
【16】

 , while the Mi family still lived happily in the Shaoyuan Garden.
【17】



There is no lack of records about the Shaoyuan Garden in history. During the reign of Emperor Kangxi, the Hongya Garden was rebuilt on its former site. According to William Hung's An Illustrative Catalogue of the Shaoyuan Garden
 , it used to be the residence of Jihana (Prince Zhenggong), and was then renamed Jixian Garden (Garden of Worthy Scholars) for civil and military officials to take a rest on their way to the court. There was a memorable incident about this garden: In the 58th year of Emperor Qianlong's reign (1793), King George III of the Great Britain sent Envoy George Macartney to China, in a mission to open new ports for British trade in China and establish a permanent embassy in Beijing. For the convenience of Macartney's audience with the Emperor in the Yuanming Yuan, a residence was reserved for the corps in Haidian—that was the Hongya Garden.
【18】



Although the Shaoyuan Garden was not included in Yenching University's 1920 lease contract, which featured the Garden of Prince Rui, it was soon acquired and became an inseparable part of the Yan Garden, retaining its original name. The Peking University Library now boasts Mi Wanzhong's painting about a literati gathering in the Shaoyuan Garden drawn in the 45th year of Emperor Wanli's reign (1617).



校园的诞生

在司徒雷登将燕园坐标锁定之后不久，受高厚德邀请，美国建筑设计师亨利·墨菲和斯塔奇博士就来到了这块燕京大学新校址进行勘测。在细致测绘并拍摄了一组照片之后，墨菲开始真正将这块西望玉泉山、东临刚刚建成大礼堂和图书馆的清华学校（墨菲设计）、北靠圆明园、南对海淀稻田荒地的基地纳入到自己先前的设计图纸上来。那个时候他不会想到，从绘制第一张设计图（1919年底）、开始施工（1922年春）到校园全部建设竣工（1929年10月）竟花费了十年时间。他也不会想到，自己建立在紫禁城及其西郊园林之上的对中国古代建筑的想象会与这块穿越古今中外、连接天地人物的土地发生怎样的化学反应，最终造就了这座“世界最美丽的大学校园”，并引起后来每一个踏进这座园子的人对于燕园的无限遐想与美好回忆。

事实上，司徒雷登早已找到墨菲，邀请其担任燕京大学新校园的设计师，并在不考虑校址的具体情况下，提前设计校园建筑，所以1919年底燕京大学校园规划的第一张鸟瞰图就已经诞生了。尽管它与后来实际勘察之后的设计方案相去甚远，但仍可让我们对这位美国建筑师的设计理念有一个直观印象。

[image: alt]


【墨菲最初的设计方案（1919年12月）】

（图片来源：《从废园到燕园》，第15页）

墨菲何许人也？为何司徒雷登在校址尚未确定、建校资金毫无着落的情况下就开始新学校的规划呢？为何一所由传教士合办的教会大学在一开始就采取了一种非常具有中国特点的建筑样式呢？

这些都需要从墨菲的个人经历讲起。他1877年出生在美国纽黑文，1899年毕业于耶鲁大学，在大学二年级时就对建筑产生兴趣，毕业后在纽约的数家事务所先后担任画图员。1906年墨菲结束欧洲旅行回美国后，即和朋友达纳挂牌成立自己的事务所，开始了独立从业的道路。1914年初春，受在华传教组织雅礼会（成员以耶鲁大学师生为主）邀请，墨菲带着妻子从西雅图出发乘船前往中国，为当时在湖南长沙新建立的雅礼大学设计一座教学楼——这是墨菲在中国的第一个作品。那时他还没有看过真正的中国古代建筑，却在这个方案中采用了中国式的屋顶，同时在屋顶上又开了五扇老虎窗，从而使整栋建筑的风格介于中西之间。之后他乘火车前往北京，第一件事便是去参观紫禁城。四天之后，同为耶鲁大学校友、时任清华学校校长的周诒春便邀请他尽可能快地为其建造一所留美预备学校的主要建筑，于是墨菲很快在上海成立了纽约事务所远东分部——茂旦洋行，并开始了清华学校的设计方案。1918年墨菲再次来到中国，没多久，亚洲就成为其事务所的重要项目来源地。后来他不但在南京指导吕彦直
【19】

 共同设计了金陵女子大学，也正式接受了燕京大学的业务委托。
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【一墨菲设计的雅礼大学教学楼】

【二清华学校大礼堂】

【三金陵女子大学主楼】

【四金陵女子大学鸟瞰图】

（图片来源：方拥主编：《藏山蕴海：北大建筑与园林》，北京大学出版社2013年版，第98页、第99页、第100页）

第一次勘察燕大新址的报告这样写道：

整块地产含有人工小山、水道和岛屿，有溪流由西注入，源头与玉泉山和颐和园的相同。巨大杉树和松树、人工岩穴和石窟加强了此处的自然美，从地产的最高点可以看见周遭的乡野景色。

总体状况：遵高厚德先生之嘱，我们对地产和附近地方的状况进行了测绘，也进行了地势测绘，估计附近建筑石头的数量，因为附近有许多大量花岗岩石头，状况适足满足建筑新房子的需要。地势测绘可能是最重要的，因为这对利用地面上不规则性的自然艺术的潜质最有好处，从而可以让建筑师墨菲先生着手安排他的大学建筑的群组。
【20】
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【墨菲在1920年底第一次实测燕京大学新校址的形状】

（图片来源：《从废园到燕园》，第42页）
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【1921年燕京大学规划总平面图】

（图片来源：《北京大学海淀校区总体改扩建规划》，1991）

所以墨菲带着自己原先的设计图来到实地进行勘测后，不得不作出调整，因为他必须考虑到两方面的因素：一是基地形状不规则，原先的严格对称、近乎方形的布局已经不合实际；二是基地地势虽然起伏不大，但山水高低错落
【21】

 。第二个问题某种程度上和第一个问题相关，如果把这些沟沟壑壑都填平，无疑会增加有效的建筑面积，但后果则可能是我们今天看到的未名湖区将失去其特有的山水地貌，未名湖本身也将不存。因此需要在山水之间寻找新的规划思路，才能将湖区如画的自然风光和规整的轴线对称建筑群落相匹配。而墨菲的解决办法似乎也很简单，既然形状不规则，那就把原先的方案进行删减，使之在保留一定程度对称性的前提下符合现有的地形条件。为此需要首先确定的是两条轴线，这样才能保证其他建筑的合适位置。
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【燕园的东西轴线】

（图片来源：截取自网络地图）

长期以来，一直流传着这样一个故事，当时墨菲站在一座小山上极力寻找地形与中轴线之间的内在联系，他突然望见玉泉山，很高兴地说：“那边就是我想找的端点，我们的轴线应指向玉泉山上的那座塔。”今天看来，沿着玉泉山、西校门、办公楼、湖心岛，的确存在一条轴线。整个校园主体坐东朝西，接下来只需要找到合适的南北轴线即可。然而这个转了90°的“紫禁城”和中国建筑坐北朝南的传统并不合，因为传统的建筑朝向以南面为尊，如果南面不可，则东向也可以，很少有将正门朝西开的。即使从采光的角度来讲，西向也不合适，因为东向可以带来清晨的阳光，南向有利于采光朝阳，而西向会带来下午的日晒，通常应该避免。对此有一种解释是西方教堂入口多设在西侧
【22】

 。
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【燕园的南北轴线】

（图片来源：《北京大学海淀校区总体改扩建规划》， 1991）

在确定东西主轴线之后，接下来就需要确定南北次轴线来安排女校的教学和生活设施。在原始测绘中墨菲把石舫作为基准点，但在施工过程中不知石舫被谁移动过，导致实际上女校的轴线向东偏离了很小一段距离。在完成确定轴线的基础工作之后，墨菲开始更具体的单体建筑设计，因为学校最初希望在1924年9月以前能迁到新校址，而迁校的最基本条件是：建设起用于大学管理的行政楼一座，用于上课和研究的科学楼两座，两个宿舍区的建筑合院和27处教工住宅。
【23】
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【从1920年10月到1926年间墨菲完成的四张燕京大学校园规划平面图】

（图片来源：按时间顺序分别取自《从废园到燕园》第43页、《藏山蕴海：北大建筑与园林》第113页、《从废园到燕园》第85页和第78页）

从仅有的四张墨菲在不同时间完成的校园规划平面图中可以发现，包括男女生宿舍、教学和行政楼群在内的几个核心区域的设计方案并没有发生太大变化，唯一的问题在于规划房屋建筑太多，1929年最终建成时这些规划都不同程度缩了水。这是因为燕京大学在最初就希望“是为了十年，十五年甚至二十年的需要而规划的，因此规划必须预期五千至一万学生的居住需要”
【24】

 ，这导致墨菲在增大单体建筑尺度的同时又增加了数量。而等到真正开始施工时，墨菲却发现燕京大学所在的地质构造不适于大规模营建，后来为了稳固地基需要购买额外的卵石、沙子进行加固，单体建筑的成本大幅增加，墨菲不得不适当削减整体建筑规模。
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【1926年燕京大学校园规划鸟瞰图】

事实上，设计师的方案必须考虑学校两种不同的需要：一套是校方真正亟需建设的可以使学校早日开始运作的建筑，包括行政楼、教学楼和宿舍楼等等；另一套是供校方说服美国的捐款人参与进来、愿意掏钱的校园假想设计方案。而两种方案之间互相拉扯，所以在最初的几年里，尽管墨菲作为设计师对于整个规划方案最有发言权，但捐助人的潜在意见、学校对于师生需求的考量、施工中遇到的实际困难甚至燕京大学在纽约的托事部都不同程度地影响了每一次修改，当然每次修改都让燕京大学不得不支付给墨菲额外的设计费用。

1922年对于燕京大学来说是一个不同寻常的年份。这一年春天，新校址终于破土动工。1923年4月，两组四座男生宿舍（现“德才均备”斋）、女校的讲堂、教工宿舍、食堂，都已经开始兴建。在最初的校址上已经可以预见到一幢幢拔地而起的新校舍，这座沉寂了多年的古老园林终于迎来新的生命，燕园的轮廓也逐渐勾勒形成。到1929年，经过整整7年的建设，一座耗资360万元建成的燕京大学新校园才在北京城西郊的海淀正式落成，并从此被冠以“燕园”的美称。

Birth of the campus

Not long after the coordinates were secured, Galt invited the American architects Henry Murphy and Dr. Stuckey to investigate the site Stuart had chosen. After careful survey and photographing, Murphy began in real earnest to take this land into his design drawing: in the west was the Jade Spring Hill, in the east was Tsinghua College of his own design, with a freshly completed auditorium and library, in the north was the Yuanming Yuan, and in the south, a stretch of paddy fields. At the time, he could not have imagined that it would take him ten years from the first design drawing in the end of 1919, to real construction in the spring of 1922, and to final completion in October 1929. Nor could he have imagined that the chemical reactions between his imagination of ancient Chinese architecture based upon the Forbidden City and gardens on the western outskirts and this piece of land, which traversed space and time and connected heaven and earth, would eventually engender "the most beautiful university campus in the world", arousing infinite reveries and pleasant memories in everyone stepping in.

The fact is, Stuart had long ago invited Henry Murphy to design the new campus, without consideration of the concrete conditions of the site. Therefore, the first bird's-eye view of the campus plan had been born by the end of 1919. Although it was world apart from the design plan after Murphy's site inspection, we can still have a direct impression of the design concept of this American architect.
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The original plan of Murphy (December 1919)

(Source: From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , p. 15)

Who on earth was this Murphy? How come Stuart began the school planning when neither the site was settled nor the construction fund secured? Why did a church university jointly established by missionaries adopt a typical Chinese architectural style from the very start?

The answers lie in Murphy's personal experience. Born in New Haven, US in 1877, Murphy was graduated from Yale in 1899. He began to be interested in architecture when a sophomore, and worked consecutively as a draftsman for several offices in New York after graduation. Back from his European travel in 1906, Murphy started his own office with his friend Richard Henry Dana Jr. Upon invitation of the Yale-in-China, chiefly composed of teachers and students of Yale University, Murphy and his wife embarked on the ship for China from Seattle in the early spring of 1914. His task was to design a teaching building for the newly established College of Yale-in-China in Changsha, Hunan province. As it turned out, that building became Murphy's first work in China. By then, he had not seen a real ancient Chinese architecture, but he adopted Chinese roof in his plan, and opened five dormant windows on the roof, making the whole building a compound of Chinese and Western styles. After that, he went by train to Beijing and visited the Forbidden City right away. Four days later, Zhou Yichun, then President of Tsinghua College and his schoolmate at Yale, invited him to build a main building for the preparatory school as soon as possible, whereupon Murphy soon set up a Far East branch in Shanghai—Murphy & Dana Architects, and set about his design for Tsinghua College. In 1918 Murphy came to China again. Before long, most of his important projects were carried out in Asia. He then directed the design of Ginling College together with Lü Yanzhi
【19】

 in Nanjing, and formally accepted Yenching University's commission.
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1. Teaching building of College of Yale-in-China designed by Murphy

2. Auditorium of Tsinghua College

3. Main building of Ginling College

4. A bird's-eye view of Ginling College

(Sources: Crouching Mountains, Hidden Sea: Architecture and Gardens of Peking University
 , Fang Yong ed., Peking University Press, 2013, p. 98, p. 99, p. 100)

The report on the first survey of Yenching University's new site so wrote:

The whole property includes artificial hills, waterways and islands. There is a stream flowing from the west, which shares the same origin with the Jade Spring Hill and the Summer Palace. The huge cedars, pine trees, artificial grottos and rock caves gild the natural beauty of the place, and from the highest point one can have a glimpse of the countryside scenery that surrounds it.

General condition: Upon Galt's entrustment, we have made a survey of the conditions of the property and its surroundings, including terrain mapping and calculation of building stones. The huge quantity of granite stones meets the need for new houses. Terrain mapping is perhaps the most important, as it helps most to make the best of irregular nature's art, so that Murphy can set about his grouping of university architecture.
【20】
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Murphy's first survey of the shape of Yenching University's new site, at the end of 1920

(Source: From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , p. 42)
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General layout of Yenching University, 1921

(Source: General Expansion and Reconstruction Plan of Haidian Campus, Peking University, 1991)

Therefore after his on-the-spot investigation, Murphy had to adjust his original plan for two reasons: first, the irregular shape of the base made strict symmetric and almost quadrate layout unrealistic; second, although the terrain of the base had no sudden rise and fall, the waters and hills scattered high and low
【21】

 . The second problem was more or less related to the first. To fill and level up the gullies and ravines would have undoubtedly increased effective construction area, but consequently, the Weiming Lake area would have lost its uniqueness, and the lake itself would have been no longer in existence either. A new plan should be sought so that the picturesque landscape and symmetric construction groups could coexist in harmony. Murphy's solution seemed quite simple: now that the shape was irregular, the original plan could be cut down in order to match the actual terrain with the symmetry kept to some extent. For this purpose, two axes should be determined to secure the proper position of other constructions.
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The east-west axis of the Yan Garden

(Source: the Internet)

The story had long gone that, when Murphy stood on a hill thirsting for an inner connection between the terrain and central axis, the Jade Spring Hill all of a sudden came into his sight. He said in excitement: "That's the point! Our central axis should fall on the pagoda on the Jade Spring Hill." It turns out there indeed is an axis along the Jade Spring Hill, West Gate, Bashford Hall and the Center Island. Now that the main body of the campus faced west, everything would be settled so long as a suitable north-south axis was found. But this "Forbidden City"turned by 90 degrees did not conform to Chinese architecture tradition, which took the south as the most respected position. If the south were impossible, east would do as well. But rarely was a building facing west. In terms of daylighting, to have a construction facing west was inappropriate as well, for the east would bring morning sunshine, the south was convenient for daylighting, while the west meant exposure to sunshine in the afternoon, which should be avoided in general. There was one positive case though: churches in the Western countries more often than not faced west.
【22】
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The south-north axis of the Yan Garden

(Source: General Expansion and Reconstruction Plan of Haidian Campus, Peking University, 1991)

When the east-west axis was fixed, it was time to fix the south-north axis so that teaching and living facilities of the girls' school could be arranged accordingly. In the original mapping, Murphy took the Marble Boat as the reference, but in the course of construction the boat was moved somehow. As a result, the actual axis of the girls' school diverged to the east a bit. After the axes were fixed, Murphy began his more concrete design for individual buildings. The school had hoped to move to its new site before September 1924 under the precondition that there were one building for university administration, two buildings for teaching and research, two quadrangles for dormitories, and 27 dwellings for the teaching staff.
【23】
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Four plane graphs of Yenching University by Murphy, from October 1920 to 1926

(Sources: in order of time, From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , p. 43; Crouching Mountains and Hidden Sea: Architecture and Gardens of Peking University
 , p. 113; From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , p. 85 and p. 78)

From the only four plane graphs drawn by Murphy at different times we can find no big changes in the designs of core areas, including boys' and girls' dormitories, teaching and administrative buildings. The only problem was that there were too many buildings, in consequence of which they were more or less trimmed when completed in 1929. The reason was that Yenching University was "planning for ten, fifteen and even twenty years; hence, it must look forward to furnishing accommodation for from five to ten thousand students"
【24】

 . As a result, Murphy had to expand both the size and quantity of individual constructions. In real practice, however, he found the geological structure of the site unfit for large-scale construction. Extra sand and pebbles were purchased to fortify the base, which greatly increased the cost of individual constructions and led to proper cuts in overall scale.
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A bird's-eye view of the planned Yenching University, 1926

(Source: Jeffrey W. Cody, Building in China: Henry K. Murphy's "Adaptive Architecture," 1914–1935
 , Hong Kong: The Chinese University Press, 2001)

As a matter of fact, the designer had to consider two different demands of the University: one was a practical plan which involved an administrative building, teaching buildings and dormitories so that the University could operate at the earliest time possible; the other was a hypothetical plan to attract potential American donators. This back-and-forth between the two plans caused several changes in the design, considering potential opinions of the donators, teachers' and students' needs, actual difficulties in the construction, and even opinions of the University's Board of Trustees in New York. Of course, for each revision Yenching University had to pay extra money to Murphy, who had the last say in the whole design.

The year 1922 was unusual for Yenching University. In the spring of this year, the new site broke ground at last. Until April 1923, the construction of four boys' dormitories placed in two groups (present-day "De, Cai, Jun, Bei" Buildings), the lecture room of the girls' school, teaching and administrative staff's dormitories and a dining hall were all under way. On the original site could be foreseen new school buildings rising straight one after another. This ancient garden dormant for years at last met its new life, and the outline of the Yan Garden gradually took shape. After seven full years' construction, by 1929, the new campus of Yenching University costing 3,600,000 yuan formally set foot in Haidian, west of Beijing, and was known as the "Yan Garden" ever since.



时空的拓展

1920年确定选址时的燕大校园只是今天燕园的一小部分，起初墨菲的设计也主要基于睿王园地块及勺园。但燕大一直没有放弃过对周边土地的拓展，希望能够为学校的未来发展置办更多的土地。在时机和价格合适的时候，燕大总会出手买下周边的土地，燕大以睿王园为中心又陆陆续续购买或者租赁了周围的镜春园大部、鸣鹤园、朗润园、蔚秀园，后又增建了农园、燕南园、燕东园等，使燕京大学的新校园在开始的380余亩的基础上有了大幅扩增。
【25】

 周边的很多土地所有者也想把土地卖个好价钱给燕大，燕大土地储备较为充足之后，便也有了和他们讨价还价的余地。

然而，一方面，燕园建设开工后，耗资巨大，主要依靠捐赠筹资的学校财政也是捉襟见肘，另一方面，每一次拓展校园空间也不都是尽如人意，特别是紧邻北面的徐世昌总统花园地块。北面这块地虽然面积不大，但狭长的一条横在了校园中间，牢牢地卡死了北面的发展空间，尤其是在后来燕大租赁了朗润园之后，这块地严重破坏了校园的完整性，给校园整体规划带来了很多麻烦。朗润园曾是宿舍区，但是从校园到宿舍需要从东边绕行，非常不便。燕大也希望徐大总统能将土地转让给燕园，但是徐家丝毫没有此意，直至抗战爆发燕大都未能如愿。
【26】



1952年，全国院系调整，原北京大学部分院系和清华大学、燕京大学的文、理、法科，以及辅仁大学、浙江大学、中法大学等高校的有关系科并入新的北京大学，燕京大学撤销。北京大学迁至燕京大学校址，并对校园进行了扩展，1953年，北大以20.5亿元（旧币）购买承泽园、朗润园
【27】

 ，主要作为住宅区。由于燕园未名湖区域的规划用地已基本建设完成，加之校园北部为圆明园遗址，西部以西校门为界，规划者建议在原燕园内不塞建新建筑，学校重点向东、向南寻求发展空间，于是北大向东扩建了教学区，向南新建了学生宿舍区，在中关园建造了一批临时性平房。工程完成时，校园扩建600亩，总占地面积达到了2175亩，至今北大校本部占地面积已达到2700亩，
【28】

 燕园的空间得到了进一步拓展，相信未来的燕园必将世代传承、越发珍贵。
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［1］参见《北京大学海淀校区文物保护规划——未名湖燕园建筑文物保护总体规划说明》，引自杨开忠主编：《向上的精神——北京大学规划文选（1914—2013）》，北京大学出版社2014年版，第555页。
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【燕园古园林分布示意图】

（图片来源：《燕园景观》，第5页）

Expansion in space and time

The campus of Yenching University in 1920 was only a small part of today's Yan Garden, and Murphy's design was primarily centered on the Garden of Prince Rui and the Shaoyuan Garden. Yenching University had never given up its efforts in further expansion, hoping to purchase more land for further development. When both the time and price were favorable, Yenching University would buy a land nearby. One after another, it either bought or rented a big part of the Jingchun Garden, and the Minghe Garden, Langrun Garden and Weixiu Garden, in addition to the newly built Nongyuan Garden, Yannan Garden, Yandong Garden and others, enlarging the new campus from the original 380-odd mu
 by a big margin.
【25】

 Most landowners in the neighborhood also wanted to sell their lands to Yenching University at a good price. When it had sufficient land reserves, the University had more leeway when it came to bargain.

However, after the construction began, the huge cost incurred left the university finance, which chiefly depended on donation, in straitened circumstances. To make matters worse, expansions of campus space were not entirely satisfactory, especially when it came to the property of President Xu Shichang's garden adjacent in the north. Although not large, it traversed in the middle of the campus like a narrow band and solidly closed the door on further expansion in the north. The situation became worse when the Langrun Garden was rented: at the time the Langrun Garden was where the dormitories stood, and one had to wind all his way in the east to reach there, which was extremely inconvenient. The President's garden had become a serious trouble to the completeness and overall plan of the campus. Yenching University hoped that President Xu could sell his land to the Yan Garden, but in vain. By the breakout of the War of Resistance Against Japan, the Xu family had been in no such mood.
【26】



In the 1952 national adjustment of colleges and departments, some departments and colleges of the former National Peking University, along with those of liberal arts, science and law of Tsinghua University and Yenching University, and related departments of Fu Jen Catholic University, Zhejiang University and Sino-French University, were merged into the new Peking University. Yenching University ceased to exist. The new Peking University moved to the site of Yenching University and expanded the campus. In 1953, it purchased the Chengze Garden and Langrun Garden at 2.05 billion yuan (in old currency)
【27】

 , chiefly used as residences. The land development around the Weiming Lake area was basically completed; the north of the campus was the remains of the Yuanming Yuan and the west ended at the West Gate; the designer suggested that no new buildings be constructed in the former Yan Garden. Given these circumstances, the University turned to the east and south for further expansion. New teaching facilities were added in the east, dormitories sprang up in the south, and a group of temporary bungalows were constructed in the Zhongguan Garden. By the time all was completed, with an extension of 600 mu
 , the total space amounted to 2,175 mu
 . Today the main campus of Peking University has reached 2,700 mu
 .
【28】

 The Yan Garden has been further expanded in space, and is expected to be inherited and more cherished for generations to come.
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[1] "Cultural Relics Protection Plan of Haidian Campus, Peking University—Master Plan Description of the Weiming Lake Heritage Buildings", The Spirit of Striving for Progress: Selected Articles on the Plan of Peking University (1914–2013)
 , Yang Kaizhong ed., Peking University Press, 2014, p. 555.
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Sketch map of ancient gardens in the Yan Garden

(Source: The Landscape of the Yan Garden
 , p. 5)

注释


【1】
 　参见燕京大学校友校史编写委员会编，张玮瑛、王百强、钱辛波主编：《燕京大学史稿》，人民中国出版社1999年版，第1—6页。A Draft
 of Yenching University History
 , Zhang Weiying, Wang Baiqiang and Qian Xinbo eds., Renmin Zhongguo Press, 1999, pp. 1–6.


【2】
 　参见郝平：《无奈的结局——司徒雷登与中国》，北京大学出版社2011年版，第53页。Hao Ping, Helpless Ending
 —John Leighton Stuart and China
 , Peking University Press, 2011, p. 53.


【3】
 　参见唐克扬：《从废园到燕园》，生活·读书·新知三联书店2009年版，第16页。Tang Keyang, From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , SDX Joint Publishing, 2009, p. 16.


【4】
 　John Leighton Stuart, Fifty Years in China—The Memoirs of John Leighton Stuart
 , Missionary and Ambassador
 , Random House, 1954, pp. 55–56.


【5】
 　John Leighton Stuart, Fifty Years in China—The Memoirs of John Leighton Stuart, Missionary and Ambassador
 , p. 56.


【6】
 　高厚德（1872—1948），1899年义和团运动前夕来华，燕京大学合并前的华北协和大学校长，后来长期主持燕大教育系。1943年，高厚德被日军遣送回美国，不幸多次中风。1948年冬，高厚德在美国病逝。Howard Spilman Galt (1872–1948) came to China before the Boxer Rebellion. He was president of the former North China Union College, and long-term Dean of the Education Department of Yenching University. In 1943, he was sent back to the United States by the Japanese. He suffered from apoplexy repeatedly, and died in the United States.


【7】
 　郝平：《无奈的结局——司徒雷登与中国》，第55页。Hao Ping, Helpless Ending—John Leighton Stuart and China
 , p. 55.


【8】
 　郝平：《无奈的结局——司徒雷登与中国》，第57页。Hao Ping, Helpless Ending—John Leighton Stuart and China
 , p. 57.


【9】
 　参见同上书，末代和硕睿亲王名“中铨”，而陈树藩与燕京大学签订的合同书中，基地名为“中诠园”。Ibid. The name of the last-generation descendent of Prince Rui is "中铨", while the name of the garden is "中诠" in the contract signed by Chen Shufan and Yenching University.


【10】
 　参见侯仁之：《燕园史话》，北京大学出版社2008年版，第54页。Hou Renzhi, A History of the Yan Garden
 , Peking University Press, 2008, p. 54.


【11】
 　侯仁之：《燕园史话》，第40页。Hou Renzhi, A History of the Yan Garden
 , p. 40.


【12】
 　故宫博物院：《史料旬刊》第十四期，第490页。The Palace Museum, Historical Review
 , No. 14, p. 490.


【13】
 　参见［美］舒衡哲：《鸣鹤园》（张宏杰译），北京大学出版社2009年版，第143页。Vera Schwarcz, Place and Memory in the Singing Crane Garden
 , trans. by Zhang Hongjie, Peking University Press, 2009, p. 143.


【14】
 　参见唐克扬：《从废园到燕园》，第70页。Tang Keyang, From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , p. 70.


【15】
 　参见陈毓贤：《洪业传》，商务印书馆2013年版，第127页。Chen Yuxian, A
 Biography of William Hung
 , Commercial Press, 2013, p. 127.


【16】
 　据储兆文《中国园林史》，清康熙时在李伟所建清华园的故址上修建畅春园。According to The History of Chinese Garden
 by Chu Zhaowen, the construction of the Changchun Garden (Joyful Spring Garden) on the old site of the Tsinghua Garden built by Li Wei began during the reign of Emperor Kangxi of the Qing dynasty.


【17】
 　［美］舒衡哲：《鸣鹤园》（张宏杰译），第46页。Vera Schwarcz, Place and Memory in the Singing Crane Garden
 , trans. by Zhang Hongjie, p. 46. (Back translation due to lack of the original English quotation)


【18】
 　参见侯仁之：《燕园史话》，第18页。Hou Renzhi, A History of the Yan Garden
 , p. 18.


【19】
 　中山陵的设计者。Designer of the Sun Yat-sen Mausoleum.


【20】
 　唐克扬：《从废园到燕园》，第27页。Tang Keyang, From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , p. 27. (Back translation due to lack of the original English quotation)


【21】
 　据谢凝高等在《燕园景观》（北京大学出版社1988年版）中统计，未名湖区的山地、水面、平地分别占湖区总面积的21％、23％和56％。According to Xie Ninggao's calculation in The Landscape of the Yan Garden
 (Peking University Press, 1988), hills, waters and flat grounds in the Weiming Lake area take up 21％, 23％ and 56％ of the whole area respectively.


【22】
 　墨菲在设计金陵女子大学的主体建筑时也是沿东西轴线对称布置的，并以西面丘陵为对景。The main building of Ginling College designed by Murphy was also symmetrical along the east-west axis, with hills in the west as the focal point.


【23】
 　参见唐克扬：《从废园到燕园》，第72页。Tang Keyang, From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , p. 72. (Back translation due to lack of the original English quotation)


【24】
 　唐克扬：《从废园到燕园》，第223页。Tang Keyang, From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , p. 223. Also see Julean Arnold to Reinsch, 7 November 1918, Yenching University Papers, Record Group II, Box 304, Folder 4719.


【25】
 　参见郝平：《无奈的结局——司徒雷登与中国》，第57页。Hao Ping, Helpless Ending—John Leighton Stuart and China
 , p. 57.


【26】
 　参见唐克扬：《从废园到燕园》，第42页。Tang Keyang, From a Wasteland to the Yan Garden
 , p. 42.


【27】
 　参见王学珍：《北京大学纪事（1898—1997）》，北京大学出版社2008年版，第573页。Wang Xuezhen, Records of Peking University (1898–1997)
 , Peking University Press, 2008, p. 573.


【28】
 　参见《北京大学海淀校区文物保护规划——未名湖燕园建筑文物保护总体规划说明》，引自杨开忠主编：《向上的精神——北京大学规划文选（1914—2013）》，第552—557页。"Cultural Relics Protection Plan of Haidian Campus, Peking University—Master Plan Description of the Weiming Lake Heritage Buildings", The Spirit of Striving for Progress: Selected Articles on the Plan of Peking University (1914–2013)
 , Yang Kaizhong ed., pp. 552–557.


贰　文物掠影

II. A Sketch of Cultural Relics
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【一】西校门区域

West Gate Area


办公楼

北京大学办公楼，建于1926年，原名“施德楼”，1931年曾被燕京大学校楼命名委员会定名为“贝公楼”，是燕京大学早期主体建筑之一。楼内保存有当代著名书法家沈尹默先生所书写的“贝公楼”几个字，为1931年燕大毕业生所赠。“施德”与“贝公”之名均为纪念同一个人，即燕京大学前身之一的汇文大学堂第二任校长贝施德（又译贝施福）。

办公楼是一座宫殿式建筑，位于原燕京大学校园东西向中轴线上，坐东面西，气势宏伟。主楼屋顶为歇山顶，两翼配有副楼，红柱白墙，斗拱彩画，色调古朴高雅。楼前有麒麟、丹墀。两翼配楼为庑殿顶，坐落于高大的花岗岩台基上。

在燕京大学时代，办公楼是校园中的“主楼”，燕大第一任校长司徒雷登就在此办公。现在办公楼的一楼是北京大学党委和校长办公室各个下属单位的办公室，二楼为办公楼礼堂。礼堂内设有942个坐席，以宫灯、彩绘装饰，色调以红色为主，风格古朴典雅。办公楼礼堂见证了从燕京大学到北京大学期间的许多重要事件，在1935年的“一二·九”运动前夜，燕京大学的学生会就是聚集在这里商讨和策划了这次著名的爱国运动。新中国成立后，周恩来总理、江泽民主席、美国总统克林顿、俄罗斯总统普京、德国总理施罗德、哈佛大学校长劳伦斯·萨默斯、剑桥大学校长布鲁斯爵士、中国国民党主席连战以及许多著名的科学家都曾在这里演讲。时至今日，能够在办公楼礼堂演讲已经成为一种荣誉。

对着西校门的那座楼，原来名叫“贝公楼”，据说是有个叫Baker的人捐建的，这座楼的规模比较大，是燕京的主楼。

冯友兰：《三松堂自序》
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【办公楼】——夏昕鸣　摄

The Bashford Hall was built in 1926 in commemoration of James White Bashford, the second president of the Methodist Peking University (one of the predecessors of Yenching University). It is now known as PKU Administrative Building, which once was the office of Yenching's first president John Leighton Stuart.

The auditorium of the Bashford Hall has a long history and has witnessed numerous major events in the history of both Yenching University and Peking University. World-famous celebrities including Bill Clinton, Vladimir Putin, Gerhard Schröder, Lawrence Summers, Sir Alec Broers, and other famous scientists have all delivered a speech in the auditorium of the Bashford Hall.
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Bashford Hall (photo by Xia Xinming)
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西校门

西校门原为燕京大学的主校门，坐东朝西，面阔五间，是一座古典三开朱漆宫门建筑，庄严典雅。这座校门是由燕京大学校友于1926年捐资修建，故又称“校友门”。

西校门位于亨利·墨菲所设计的燕京大学校园东西向主轴线的起始点，进门后经过校友桥、华表就可到达办公楼。门正中悬挂的“北京大学”匾额，为曾在北大图书馆工作过的毛泽东主席亲自题写，字体苍劲有力，气势雄浑。校门左右两侧有一对石狮，为燕京大学于1924年从民间购得，石狮鬓发虬卷，目光炯炯有神，为西校门更增添了几分庄严。今天西校门不仅是北大师生进出校园的重要通道之一，更早已成为北大校园的标志性建筑之一和北大的象征。

西校门和校友桥留下了许多北大校友的记忆。对于已故的侯仁之先生来说，人生的许多良辰美景，似乎都比不上八十多年前他初入燕园的那个秋天，他动情地写道：

一进西校门，半亩方塘，一个石桥。我来的时候还有水，从（桥）底下冒出来，那个时候看见真是心里高兴啊，一进来以后想起一首朱熹的诗：半亩方塘一鉴开，天光云影共徘徊，问渠哪得清如许，为有源头活水来。

肖东发：《风物：燕园景观及人文底蕴》
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【西校门】——殷帆　摄

The West Gate used to be the main gate of Yenching University. It is also called the "Alumni Gate", which was donated by Yenching University alumni in 1926.

Among PKU's many gates, the West Gate is the most famous due to both its age and its design. This exquisitely painted gate is dignified and solemn and follows classic Chinese style.
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West Gate (photo by Yin Fan)
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校友桥

校友桥位于西校门内，由燕京大学校友于1926年捐建，因此而得名。桥长15米、宽4米，样式为三孔圆券石拱桥，中券券心上有石雕吸水兽。栏板为清式做法，望柱断面为正方形，柱头方形印刻如意纹，桥端以抱鼓石收束。

据统计，校园内共有24座桥，既能提供方便的交通，又可点缀校园景致。除校友桥外，较为著名的桥还有：未名湖东北出水口的单孔尖拱桥、通向湖心岛的西洋式平桥、湖南岸的单孔圆券石拱桥等。
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【校友桥】——何晋　摄

The Alumni Bridge is very close to the West Gate, visible to visitors who walk into the campus through the West Gate. Built in 1926 thanks to the donations of Yenching University alumni, it was called the Alumni Bridge. Fifteen meters long and four meters wide, it is adorned with decorative patterns in the style of the Qing dynasty.

In total, there are 24 bridges on campus which not only offer much convenience but also help decorate the campus.

[image: alt]


Alumni Bridge (photo by He Jin)



南北阁

南北阁建于1924年，位于俄文楼草坪以西，与俄文楼构成“品”字形结构。不同于大部分呈长方形的庭院式燕园建筑，南北两阁是一对孪生的方形建筑。两阁之间有一椭圆状小花坛，内有汉白玉石香炉一尊。

南北阁又称“姊妹阁”，据说是司徒雷登因思念远在大洋彼岸的两个女儿而修建，也有一种说法是司徒雷登的两个女儿曾经分别居住在两阁之中，故有此称。实际上南北阁原名分别为甘德阁、麦风阁，英文名统称为Miner Hall，其得名与麦美德女士（S. Luella Miner）有关。麦美德原为华北协和女子大学校长兼创始人，华北协和女子大学并入燕京大学后成为燕大女部，她成为燕大首任女部主任。麦美德在任仅三年，却为燕大作出了历史性的贡献，因而这两座阁楼以麦美德来命名。其中南阁是由甘伯尔夫人（Mrs. Gamble）捐款建造，因此命名为“甘德阁”。当时北面的麦风阁是学生活动室与音乐教室，南阁为女部办公楼；现在北阁为北京大学国际战略研究院所在地，南阁则是北京大学国际合作部所在地。
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【南阁】——胡财华　摄

The South and North Pavilions were built in 1924. Unlike most of PKU's rectangular buildings, these two pavilions are square, like twins, also called the Sister Pavilions. During the time of Yenching University, the North Pavilion used to be the student activity room and music room while the South Pavilion was the office building of Women's College. Today, the former is the Institute of International and Strategic Studies while the latter is used as the Office of International Relations.
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South Pavilion (photo by Hu Caihua)



民主楼

民主楼，原名宁德楼，又称宗教楼，始建于1922年，是燕京大学在燕园校址的第一所建筑。宁德楼由在上海的甘维尔夫妇捐赠，以纪念前美以美会会督威廉·宁德牧师（Bishop William X. Ninde），并以此得名。

民主楼坐落在办公楼北侧，靠近鸣鹤园。建筑采用中国古典样式，歇山顶，素墙灰瓦，红色柱子，斗拱彩画。这里原为燕京大学宗教学院所在地，现在是北京大学外国语学院西方语言文学系及朝鲜文化研究所的办公场所。
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【民主楼】

The Minzhu Building, also known as the Zongjiao Building, was originally called the Ninde Building. Built in 1922, it was the first building after Yenching University moved to the Yan Garden. The School of Theology of Yenching University was situated here. It is currently the office for the Institute of Korean Cultural Studies and the Department of Western Languages.
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Minzhu Building



外文楼

外文楼，原称穆楼，由穆拜亚先生所捐，建成于1925年，燕大时期作为教室使用。建筑坐北朝南，位于原燕京大学东西中轴线北侧，与办公楼、化学北楼构成一个“品”字形的院落。建筑形制采用了中国古建筑式样，庑殿顶，素色墙体，深红柱子与格栅窗以及条石基座。如今外文楼作为北京大学外国语学院的教学办公场所。

司徒雷登问诸人到校印象。余直答：“初闻燕大乃中国教会大学中之最中国化者，心窃慕之。及来，乃感大不然。入校门即见‘M’楼，‘S’楼，此何义，所谓中国化者又何在？此宜与以中国名称始是。”一座默然。后燕大特为此开校务会议，遂改“M”楼为“穆”楼，“S”楼为“适”楼，“贝公”楼为“办公”楼，其他建筑一律赋以中国名称。

钱穆：《师友杂忆》
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【外文楼】——刘继伟　摄

The Waiwen Building was donated by the banker Mr. McBrier in 1925 and it was originally known as the Building Mu. During the time of Yenching University, it was used as classrooms. It is a typical Chinese style building, decorated with dark red pillars and grilles. The Waiwen Building is currently the office for the School of Foreign Languages.
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Waiwen Building (photo by Liu Jiwei)
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档案馆

北京大学档案馆位于西校门内，办公楼南侧，坐东朝西，与化学南北楼构成一个“品”字形的院落。建筑形式采用了中国古建筑式样，歇山顶，素色墙体，深红柱子与格栅窗以及条石基座。

档案馆建成于1925年，原为燕京大学图书馆馆舍，是贝瑞姐妹（Berry Sisters）为纪念父母而捐资建成，为燕京大学早期主体建筑之一。1952年院系调整后档案馆成为北京大学图书馆，1974年学校新图书馆建成后，原有的图书馆阅览室陆续迁出。在这之后，由王选教授领导的汉字激光照排工程工作组，即“七四八”研究所和北京大学档案馆先后迁入，如今整栋楼都已作为北京大学档案馆的办公场地。馆内的档案记录着百年以来燕园的沧桑变化，再现了百年来北京大学教与学的发展历程。
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【北京大学档案馆】——吴淑颖　摄

Built in 1925, the Peking University Archives used to be the library of Yenching University. In 1952 it was turned into Peking University's library, and after the new library was built in 1974, it was used as archives. The Peking University Archives adopts a beautiful antique style. The building follows the traditional style of Chinese architecture, with boulder strips as foundation and plain colored walls.
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Peking University Archives (photo by Wu Shuying)
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俄文楼

俄文楼建于1924年，原名圣人楼，又称适楼，是墨菲主持规划设计的燕京大学主教学区的主体建筑之一。俄文楼坐落于南北阁东侧，坐东朝西。楼高两层，歇山顶，檐下饰以斗拱，形制与外文楼相似，只不过体量小得多。

俄文楼由罗素·塞奇基金会捐资兴建，时为燕京大学女子学院教学楼。现为北京大学元培学院的办公场所。

在女校建设的过程中，关于圣人楼与南北阁之间如何形成过渡的问题，墨菲和翟伯产生了有趣的争执——墨菲强调“中国风格”中群体的重要性，主张在圣人楼南侧修建两组主轴长132英尺的建筑，而代表校方的翟伯则主张每边一个主轴长165英尺的歇山顶建筑。而这一争端的缘起，在于已经落成的圣人楼设计得体量过小，难以承担轴线上“贯穿景深末端”的重任。

唐克扬：《从废园到燕园》

The Russian Building was designed by Henry Murphy and built in 1924. Since the whole construction was sponsored by the Russell Sage Foundation, it was also named the Sage Hall.



化学南北楼

北京大学化学南北楼，最早名为科学楼，建成于1925年，资金来源于洛克菲勒基金会用于建设北京协和医学院预科资金中的一部分。这两栋对称的建筑原为燕京大学的教学办公场所，由墨菲设计。两栋建筑均坐南朝北，位于原燕京大学东西中轴线南侧，与档案馆构成一个“品”字形的院落；其中化学北楼还与外文楼和办公楼构成了中轴线上的视觉焦点。两栋建筑形式上采用了中国古建筑式样，庑殿顶，素色墙体，深红柱子与格栅窗以及条石基座。如今化学北楼作为北京大学国学研究院、国际汉学家研修基地的教学科研楼（“大雅堂”），而化学南楼成为北京大学财务部的办公场所。虽然历经百年的沧桑，但化学南北楼仍是北京大学的标志性建筑。
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【化学南楼】——吴淑颖　摄
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【化学北楼】——唐伽拉　摄

If you ever pay a visit to the Peking University Archives, you will inevitably find two symmetrical buildings standing next to it. These buildings were designed by Henry Murphy in an ancient style and built in 1925. They are now called the North and South Chemistry Buildings. These days the North Chemistry Building is used as the teaching and research building for the Institute of Chinese Studies, while the South Chemistry Building serves as the Office of Financial Affairs.
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South Chemistry Building (photo by Wu Shuying)
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North Chemistry Building (photo by Tang Jiala)



西门石狮

在北京大学西门外，左右各立有一只石狮，与毛泽东主席题写的“北京大学”匾额相映生辉。石狮为汉白玉雕刻而成，传统造型，鬓发虬卷，威严而不狰狞，庄重而不死板。双眼向上斜吊，目光炯炯有神，眉弓上卷云眉舒展，狮口大开，方鼻微翘，器宇轩昂。石狮身披雕花绶带，背盘钮花结，前胸有一小狮头，狮口含铃，雕工精细，与大狮相互呼应，设计巧妙。左边雄狮右前爪玩一绣球，右边雌狮左前爪抚一小狮，趾上关节特别突出。须弥座上浮雕花型图案，纹饰类型多样，几乎布满了整个底座，给人以浓厚的喜庆吉祥之感。两只石狮整体相似而细节之处又略有变化，展现了高超的雕刻技术和传统的对称美。

关于这一对石狮的来历，有人以为取自圆明园，其实不然，它们乃是原燕京大学于1924年从民间购得的，在北大文书档案馆里，还存有当时购买这对石狮的契据，全文是：“立字人文翰章，兹因祖遗有石狮一对齐整无损。今因合族生计艰难，商同合族允可出售。今经介绍人贞德元等说合，卖与燕京大学使用。三面言明议价现洋柒佰元，先付定洋壹佰元，俟起运时全行付清。再者起运经工人手重损坏，并连脚有失，本卖主概不负责。本买主按约履行付钱呈数。以此立字为证。”

肖东发：《风物：燕园景观及人文底蕴》
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【西门石狮】——张博言　摄

Outside the West Gate, there are a pair of stone guardian lions, which were bought in 1924 by Yenching University. You can see the male lion resting his right front paw upon an embroidered ball and the female restraining a playful cub under her left front paw.
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Stone Guardian Lion (photo by Zhang Boyan)



华表

西校门内办公楼前草坪上立有两根高大精美的华表，历经百年沧桑，给园子增添了几分典雅与庄重。这一对华表是圆明园安佑宫遗物，至迟当造于乾隆七年（1742），原本一共有四根，另一对在国家图书馆文津街分馆院内。

华表为汉白玉石雕，刻蟠龙云气，通高约8米，下为八角形须弥座，座高1.24米，每一面都刻有一条正面龙，周身饰有各种寓意吉祥的花纹图案，雕刻精细。柱身主体为一条蟠龙，龙身盘曲遒劲，每一片龙鳞都清晰而富有张力，龙爪刚劲有力，充满力量美和动态美。云纹线条舒展而柔美，进一步衬托了龙的形象。顶部有中国传统瑞兽“犼”，雕刻技法娴熟，线条流畅优美，又使华表的造型有了一定的变化。两根华表充分展现了中国传统石刻高超的雕刻技术和独特的审美价值。

但是仔细观察一下这对华表，会发现一粗一细，并不是一对。原来1925年燕京大学建校舍时，只从圆明园运来了三根，第四根却被运到城里，1931年曾横卧在天安门前道南。当北京图书馆建文津阁新馆时，欲将燕大多余的一根华表搬走与天安门前的另一根合成一对，不料搬运时阴差阳错，结果燕大和北图的华表皆不成对，成就了这一桩趣事。

肖东发：《风物：燕园景观及人文底蕴》
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【华表】——陈燕军　摄

On the lawn outside the Bashford Hall stand a pair of exquisite ornamental columns. They were built no later than 1742 and used to belong to the Yuanming Yuan. There were originally four of them but the other two were moved to the National Library.
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Ornamental Column (photo by Chen Yanjun)
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石麒麟

办公楼前立有两尊石麒麟，原为圆明园遗物。石麒麟刻成时间不晚于雍正三年（1725），最初立于圆明园大宫门前，乾隆六年（1741）修建安佑宫时，被移至安佑宫。圆明园被英法联军在第二次鸦片战争中焚毁后，安佑宫旧日景象荡然无存，这对麒麟却基本完好地保存了下来，后由载涛购得，置于朗润园中，后又随朗润园一起归燕京大学所有。麒麟高1.74米，须弥座高0.98米，正面宽1.41米，侧面宽1.95米，刻工细腻，巧夺天工，线条纹样流畅清晰。但其实，每尊石麒麟与其基座是由两块石头刻成后拼接而成的，由于接缝断面向里收缩，接缝很难被发现，足见制造者的灵巧与用心。

麒麟在中国传统文化当中是“圣兽”，两尊石麒麟像两位勇敢刚强的守护神一般，雄伟刚健的身姿与秀美和善之风度点缀着周围的环境。
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【石麒麟】——刘继伟　摄

In front of the Bashford Hall is a pair of stone qilin
 . They used to belong to the Yuanming Yuan. They were then bought and put in the Langrun Garden by Zaitao, and later sold to Yenching University.

In fact, each qilin
 was jointed together with its base seat after it was carved. The seams were unnoticeable because of the inward shrinking of the fracture surface, enough to show the craftsmen's ingenuity and thoughtfulness. Deemed as a sacred animal in traditional Chinese culture, the two qilin
 stand there like two brave and unyielding guardians, embellishing their surroundings with the majesty of their posture and geniality of their manners.
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Stone Qilin
 (photo by Liu Jiwei)



丹墀

办公楼前两麒麟中间的丹墀又称“龙云石”，和石麒麟同属圆明园安佑宫遗物，原有两块，另一块保存在颐和园。丹墀所雕图案为二龙戏珠，形态逼真，石长3.15米，宽1.3米，其中龙云浮雕宽1米。丹墀与石麒麟同系载涛购得，一起存放在朗润园，多年以后被迁置办公楼前。
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【丹墀】——吴淑颖　摄

In between the stone qilin
 , there is a Danchi
 , also called Dragon Cloud Marble. It is carved with dragons playing with a pearl, 3.15 meters long and 1.3 meters wide. The Danchi
 was moved to the present place after Yenching University bought the Langrun Garden form Zaitao.
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Danchi
 (photo by Wu Shuying)



海晏堂引水槽

从西校门南行不远，在柏油路两侧，摆放着两块汉白玉长条石刻。石刻呈须弥座形，略有弧度。上层饰莲瓣纹，束腰饰S形纹，底部正中饰蝠形纹，四角饰卷草纹。这块石刻原为圆明园西洋楼建筑群中海晏堂门前的引水石槽。

西洋楼位于圆明园中的长春园北界，是我国最早的欧式巴洛克风格园林建筑群；清乾隆十二年（1747）开始筹划建设，四十八年（1783）最终完工。海晏堂位于西洋楼园区中部，主楼前广场上建有大名鼎鼎的十二生肖铜像喷泉，而海晏堂正门两侧，连接喷泉雕像与储水池“锡海”的则是叠落式的引水石槽。根据传世的海晏堂铜版画来看，引水石槽的位置应位于生肖铜像上方。

清末圆明园罹难，西洋楼损毁殆尽。引水石槽从圆明园流出后，曾作为燕园西墙外万泉河上篓斗桥的桥栏。后万泉河改道，不再流经西门外，篓斗桥也随之废弃，而引水石槽被摆放在西门内直到如今。
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【海晏堂引水槽】——王春茵　摄

Not far from south of the West Gate stand two white marble stone strips. The slightly curved strips have lotus petal patterns on the upper layer, S patterns in the middle, and bat patterns on the bottom. They used to be the gutter in front of the Haiyan Tang (Hall of Calm Sea) in the middle of the Xiyang Lou area. In the plaza in front of the Haiyan Tang was the celebrated Twelve Bronze Animal Heads Fountain. According to the extant copperplate etching of the Haiyan Tang, the gutter must have been located on top of the bronze animal heads.
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Haiyan Tang Gutter (photo by Wang Chunyin)



旗杆座（1924）

在西校门内的外文楼西南侧草地上，有一个小型石质旗杆座。该旗杆座为三块方形石块堆叠而成，上、中、下三块边长分别约0.62米、0.47米、0.32米，顶部有一圆洞。最上层的石块有所残缺，它的一侧刻有铭文“CONSERVATION AND RECONSTRUCTION”，背面刻有年代“1924”。其来源与用途尚不清楚。

Within the West Gate and on the lawn southwest of the Waiwen Building stands a small flagpole seat. It is made of a stack of three square stones, whose sides measure 0.62, 0.47 and 0.32 meter respectively. The one on the top is damaged, with the inscription "CONSERVATION AND RECONSTRUCTION" on one side and the year "1924" on the back. Its source and usage are not clear yet.



旗杆座（1952）

在西校门内东南侧，化学北楼南面的草坪上，也有一个旗杆座，体型稍大，为一六面体石柱，其中一面刻有“献给母校　北京大学一九五二年全体毕业生”字样。旗杆座筹建于1952年，当时1952届的毕业生作为新中国成立后北京大学正式毕业的第一届学生，在毕业前集体作出决定：每人从离校后的第一次工资中寄出五毛钱，给新校址建一个旗杆。目的是希望北京大学迁入燕园后的第一面五星红旗从这个旗杆上升起，以此作为给母校的礼物。毕业典礼上，当时的学生代表乐黛云将旗杆模型郑重交给了时任校务委员会主席的汤用彤先生。

The larger flagpole located southeast within the West Gate was set up in 1952. It was donated by the alumni of that year as a gift to the University.



葛利普教授墓

葛利普教授墓位于校友桥南，西南联大纪念碑北侧。墓碑为汉白玉材质，洁白的碑身正面刻有葛利普教授的头像、生卒年及“葛利普教授之墓　In Memory of Professor AMADEUS WILLIAM GRABAU”等几个大字，背面刻有葛利普教授的生平简介。

葛利普（1870—1946），德裔美国地质学家、古生物学家、地层学家，近代地层学的创建人之一，一生发表近300种学术著作。1905年受聘为哥伦比亚大学教授，并当选纽约科学院院士。1920年应丁文江邀请来华担任中国农商部地质调查所顾问、北京大学地质系教授。1934年任北京大学地质学系系主任。葛利普在中国从事地质、古生物研究和教学26年，对中国地质事业的发展作出了重大贡献。

葛利普教授是中国地质学会的创建会员之一，曾任学会理事和副会长。他十分热爱中国，抗日时期曾致书美国总统，要求支持中国人民的斗争。他曾站在中国地质调查所门口，阻挡日本兵接收，并始终不同侵略者合作。太平洋战争爆发后，72岁高龄的葛利普被关进集中营长达四年之久，倍受折磨，但仍孜孜不倦地著述。1946年3月26日，葛利普教授于北平逝世。北京大学教授会遵照他的遗愿，决定将他的骨灰葬于北大沙滩红楼旁的地质馆前。1982年7月，在中国地质学会的倡议下，其墓被移入燕园之中。

葛利普教授是中国人民的好朋友，是北大历史上杰出的教授，为中国的教育和科学事业奉献了一生，最终也长眠于这片他深爱的土地上。
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【葛利普教授之墓】——张夏妍　摄

The Tomb of Professor Grabau is located to the south of the Alumni Bridge, north of the Memorial of National Southwestern Associated University. The gravestone is a square white marble. Inscribed on the front is the head portrait of Professor Grabau, with years of birth and death, and the inscription "In Memory of Professor AMADEUS WILLIAM GRABAU".

Amadeus William Grabau (1870–1946) was a German-born American geologist, paleontologist, and stratigrapher. He had worked and taught in China for 26 years, making a great contribution to the development of Chinese geology.
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Tomb of Professor Grabau (photo by Zhang Xiayan)



国立西南联合大学纪念碑

国立西南联合大学纪念碑位于西校门内南侧，化学南楼西侧草坪上。纪念碑高约5米，宽约2.7米，面西而立。碑的正面为闻一多篆额、冯友兰撰文、罗庸书丹的碑文，碑文记述了西南联大的建校始末、特点及历史意义；碑的背面是由唐兰篆额、刘晋年书丹的“联大抗战以来从军学生名单”，共计834名。原碑建于1946年5月，彼时正当抗战胜利、联大北返之际，现立于西南联大旧址（今云南师范大学）。此碑为北大于1989年5月4日照原碑复制所得。正如宗璞先生在《燕园碑寻》一文中所说，这是“一座极有意义的碑，它不评风花雪月，不记君恩臣功，而是概括了一段历史”。如今，国立西南联合大学早已成为历史，但她的历史、学风、胸怀、精神、成果滋养着一代又一代学人。燕园里的纪念碑让一代又一代北大人感受到温暖深情、厚重精神。
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【国立西南联合大学纪念碑】——靳戈　摄

The Memorial of National Southwestern Associated University stands on the lawn south of the West Gate, west of the South Chemistry Building. The inscriptions on the front were jointly made by Wen Yiduo, Feng Youlan and Luo Yong, recording the history, characteristics and significance of the University. Inscribed on the back was a list of students who joined the army after the war broke out. The original memorial was constructed in May 1946 when the University was on its northbound journey. It is now on the former site of National Southwestern Associated University (present-day Yunnan Normal University). PKU's memorial was a copy of the original made on May 4, 1989.
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Memorial of National Southwestern Associated University (photo by Jin Ge)



国立西南联合大学纪念碑碑文

国立西南联合大学纪念碑　文学院院长冯友兰撰文　中国文学系教授闻一多篆额　中国文学系主任罗庸书丹

中华民国三十四年九月九日，我国家受日本之降于南京，上距二十六年七月七日卢沟桥之变为时八年，再上距二十年九月十八日沈阳之变为时十四年，再上距清甲午之役为时五十一年。举凡五十年间，日本所鲸吞蚕食于我国家者，至是悉备图籍献还。全胜之局，秦汉以来所未有也。

国立北京大学、国立清华大学原设北平，私立南开大学原设天津。自沈阳之变，我国家之威权逐渐南移，惟以文化力量与日本争持于平津，此三校实为其中坚。二十六年平津失守，三校奉命迁于湖南，合组为国立长沙临时大学，以三校校长蒋梦麟、梅贻琦、张伯苓为常务委员主持校务，设法、理、工学院于长沙，文学院于南岳，于十一月一日开始上课。迨京沪失守，武汉震动，临时大学又奉命迁云南。师生徒步经贵州，于二十七年四月二十六日抵昆明。旋奉命改名为国立西南联合大学，设理、工学院于昆明，文、法学院于蒙自，于五月四日开始上课。一学期后，文、法学院亦迁昆明。二十七年，增设师范学校。二十九年，设分校于四川叙永，一学年后并于本校。昆明本为后方名城，自日军入安南，陷缅甸，乃成后方重镇。联合大学支持其间，先后毕业学生二千余人，从军旅者八百余人。

河山既复，日月重光，联合大学之战时使命既成，奉命于三十五年五月四日结束。原有三校，即将返故居，复旧业。缅维八年支持之苦辛，与夫三校合作之协和，可纪念者，盖有四焉：我国家以世界之古国，居东亚之天府，本应绍汉唐之遗烈，作并世之先进，将来建国完成，必于世界历史居独特之地位。盖并世列强，虽新而不古；希腊罗马，有古而无今。惟我国家，亘古亘今，亦新亦旧，斯所谓『周虽旧邦，其命维新』者也！旷代之伟业，八年之抗战，已开其规模、立其基础。今日之胜利，于我国家有旋乾转坤之功，而联合大学之使命，与抗战相终始，此其可纪念者一也。文人相轻，自古而然，昔人所言，今有同慨。三校有不同之历史，各异之学风，八年之久，合作无间，同无妨异，异不害同，五色交辉，相得益彰，八音合奏，终和且平，此其可纪念者二也。万物并育而不相害，道并行而不相悖，小德川流，大德敦化，此天地之所以为大。斯虽先民之恒言，实为民主之真谛。联合大学以其兼容并包之精神，转移社会一时之风气，内树学术自由之规模，外来民主堡垒之称号，违千夫之诺诺，作一士之谔谔，此其可纪念者三也。稽之往史，我民族若不能立足于中原，偏安江表，称曰南渡。南渡之人，未有能北返者。晋人南渡，其例一也；宋人南渡，其例二也；明人南渡，其例三也。风景不殊，晋人之深悲；还我河山，宋人之虚愿。吾人为第四次之南渡，乃能于不十年间，收恢复之全功。庾信不哀江南，杜甫喜收蓟北，此其可纪念者四也。联合大学初定校歌，其辞始叹南迁流难之苦辛，中颂师生不屈之壮志，终寄最后胜利之期望。校以今日之成功，历历不爽，若合符契。联合大学之终始，岂非一代之盛事、旷百世而难遇者哉！爰就歌辞，勒为碑铭。铭曰：

痛南渡，辞宫阙。驻衡湘，又离别。更长征，经峣嵲。望中原，遍洒血。抵绝徼，继讲说。诗书弃，犹有舌。尽笳吹，情弥切。千秋耻，终已雪。见仇寇，如烟灭。起朔北，迄南越。视金瓯，已无缺。大一统，无倾折。中兴业，继往烈。维三校，兄弟列。为一体，如胶结。同艰难，共欢悦。联合竟，使命彻。神京复，还燕碣。以此石，象坚节。纪嘉庆，告来哲。





“三·一八”遇难烈士纪念碑

“三·一八”遇难烈士纪念碑位于校史馆东侧的小路上，共有两座，均为汉白玉材质、方锥形，是为纪念“三·一八”惨案中为国殉身的年轻烈士们而立，其中南侧的碑为燕京大学魏士毅烈士纪念碑，北侧的碑为北京大学黄克仁、李家珍、张仲超烈士纪念碑。

魏士毅纪念碑由燕京大学学生会于1927年3月建立。碑身正面镌刻有“魏士毅女士纪念碑”八个大字。碑座上层四面有浅浮雕纹饰，主体为铃兰花环，外侧衬以三角形；下层刻有“魏士毅女士纪念碑铭”。

黄克仁、李家珍、张仲超烈士纪念碑乃1929年5月30日北京大学师生为三人合立。碑座高三尺、腰高一尺、身高八尺，取纪念“三·一八”之意。石碑北、南、西三面碑身分别镌有“三·一八遇难烈士黄君克仁纪念碑”“三·一八遇难烈士李君家珍纪念碑”“三·一八遇难烈士张君仲超纪念碑”字样，碑座相应地刻有三位烈士的生平略历；东面刻有立碑时间“中华民国十有八年五月三十日立石”，碑座为北大教授黄右昌所撰铭文（以上碑身文字均为篆书）。该碑原立于北大三院（北河沿54号），1982年3月北大团委将其迁到燕园现址。

两座纪念碑肃然挺拔的身躯傲视苍穹，透露着一股中国青年为了国家、民族奋起抗争，甚至不惜牺牲的崇高精神，以及反抗强暴、视死如归的凛然正气，强烈地震撼着每一位瞻仰者的心灵。那段离乱存亡的岁月或已远去，但其代表的北大、燕大学子的爱国精神将一直在燕园里传承发扬。
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【“三·一八”遇难烈士纪念碑】——邹程浩　摄

The Memorials of the Martyrs in the "March 18 Massacre" are on the road east of the Museum of Peking University History. The two memorials are made of white marble, in the shape of square cone. The one on the south is the memorial of Wei Shiyi of Yenching University; the one on the north is that of Huang Keren, Li Jiazhen and Zhang Zhongchao of Peking University.

Tall and straight in a highly respectful manner, the memorials radiate Chinese young people's dedication and devotion to their nation and country. Their patriotism will be carried forward in the Yan Garden forever.
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Memorials of the Martyrs in the "March 18 Massacre" (photo by Zou Chenghao)



魏士毅女士纪念碑铭

魏士毅女士，直隶天津县人，燕京大学本科二年级生。劬学励志，性不容恶，尝慨然以改革习俗为己任。民国十五年三月十八日，北京各学校学生为八国通牒事参加国民大会，至国务院请愿。女士与焉，遂罹于难，时年二十有三岁。女士既死难，同人敛其遗骸，谋公葬于校地，以其亲属弗欲，遂不果。越年乃立斯石，用申景慕，且为铭曰：

国有巨蠹政不纲，城狐社鼠争跳梁。公门喋血歼我良，牺牲小己终取偿。北斗无酒南箕扬，民心向背关兴亡。愿后死者长毋忘。

中华民国十六年三月燕京大学男女两校

及女附中学生会全体会员敬立



黄克仁、李家珍、张仲超烈士纪念碑铭

黄烈士克仁略历

黄烈士克仁，湖南长沙人。民国十三年夏，毕长郡中学业，入北京大学。家贫甚，学费仰给亲友，以是研攻颇力。十五年三月十八日，八国通牒事起，民众集议于天安门，烈士欲约同学某偕往，见某尚高卧，愤然独行，随众至执政府请愿。执政段祺瑞、国务总理贾德耀令卫士枪击，烈士遂遇害。时年十九岁。

李烈士家珍略历

李烈士家珍，湖南醴陵人。世业农，尚朴实。兄弟三人，烈士其季也。民国九年夏，入省立中学，试辄冠曹。尤长队球，尝代表华中参与全国运动会。十三年夏，入北京大学潜修，不少外骛，唯颇关怀国事。十五年三月十八日，烈士亦往执政府请愿，右腿中弹，当晚五时，逝于内城官医院。时年二十一岁。

张烈士仲超略历

张烈士仲超，陕西三原人。无兄弟，母早逝。父景秩，毕业日本士官学校，归国后，从事革命。烈士习于庭训，年十五入省立第三中学，肄业。十三年夏，毕高中业，入北京大学。翌年春，费绌休学，任澄城中学教员，组织青年社，以灌输青年革命思想为己任。是年秋复学。十五年三月十八日，烈士亦往执政府请愿，同遇害。时年二十三岁。



东面碑座碑铭

死者烈士之身，不死者烈士之神。愤八国通牒兮，竟杀身以成仁。唯烈士之碧血兮，共北大而长新。踏着三一八血迹兮，雪国耻以敌强邻。繄后死之责任兮，誓尝胆而卧薪。

北大教授黄右昌撰









【二】未名湖区域

Weiming Lake Area


临湖轩

临湖轩坐落于未名湖南岸，掩映在一片茂林修竹之中，显得幽静而神秘。建筑采用了三合院的布局形式，内有庭院，房屋为单层卷棚硬山顶，灰色砖墙面，红色柱子。

临湖轩为燕京大学时期新建，而在其南侧是乾隆赏赐给宠臣和珅的临风待月楼的楼址，在1860年英法联军火烧圆明园的浩劫中，临风待月楼所在的淑春园化为灰烬，只有这座小楼和未名湖畔的石舫基座幸免于难，而燕园开始建设时，小楼也已不存。燕京大学迁入燕园新校址时，由美国人乔治·柯里夫妇捐资，在临风待月楼原址北侧新建了临湖轩，成为20世纪20年代燕京大学校长司徒雷登的寓所和接待来宾的地方。1931年，时任燕大教师的冰心为其命名“临湖轩”，后由当时的北大著名教授胡适题写牌匾。解放初期临湖轩仍然作为校长宅邸，燕大校长陆志韦、北大校长马寅初都曾在这里居住，后改为贵宾招待所。“文革”后临湖轩归属北大外事处（今北京大学国际合作部），成为对外接待和小型会议场所。

After Yenching University moved to the Yan Garden, the Linhu House was constructed north of the former site of the Linfeng Daiyue Building. In the 1920s, it was used as a guest house for foreign visitors. John Leighton Stuart also lived there.

Since then, the Linhu House has always been the guest house for distinguished visitors. It has become a tradition for PKU presidents to meet guests in this building.



博雅塔

博雅塔位于北京大学校园中东部，未名湖东南侧，“湖光塔影”是校园著名景观之一。

博雅塔原为水塔。1924年7月为了解决师生的用水问题，燕京大学打出一口深55米的深水井，且急需建一座水塔以向全校供水。为了与校园古典建筑群和未名湖风光相协调，燕京大学校方向社会名流征求意见后，决定参照通州燃灯塔，建造一座塔式水楼，因为通州是燕京大学前身之一——协和大学的所在地。

水塔形制取八角密檐式，塔基为须弥座，塔级13级，高37米。塔中空，有螺旋梯直通塔顶，除基座外塔身均用钢筋水泥建筑，设计精良。水塔建造经费由当时任教于燕京大学哲学系的美籍教授博晨光（Lucius Chapin Porter，旧译博雅氏）的叔父（时居美国）所捐，依从当时燕京大学校园建筑以捐款人姓氏命名的惯例，水塔被命名为“博雅塔”。如今博雅塔已经不再作为水塔使用，而是作为校园的标志性建筑之一成为北京大学的象征。

湖和塔的天作之合构成了未名湖的主旋律。这绝妙的搭配堪称大手笔的杰作，真不愧是大匠之心，那么富有哲理，那么耐人寻味。湖和塔一个动一个静，一个纤巧一个伟岸，一个空灵一个凝重，一个活泼一个肃穆，一个变幻一个守恒，一个天性平顺一个崇尚正直，一个透着女性的秀美一个蕴藉着男性的阳刚。

詹克明：《魂系未名湖》
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【博雅塔】——姜南　摄

Built in 1924, the Boya Pagoda used to function as a water tower for Yenching University. The pagoda was named after James Porter(translated as Boya Shi), the donor of the construction. In Chinese, "Bo" stands for knowledge while "Ya" means elegance. It is a tradition of Yenching University that each building on campus would be named after its donor, which is why people can always see two or more names for one certain building at PKU.

Today, the Boya Pagoda is no longer used as a water tower but plays a far more important role instead. It has become a must-see site for tourists and also a beloved symbol of PKU for all the students.
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Boya Pagoda (photo by Jiang Nan)



“德才均备体健全”斋

“德才均备体健全”斋坐落在未名湖北岸，是一组由七个宅院组成的仿明清式古典建筑群落，分别称为“德斋”“才斋”“均斋”“备斋”“体斋”“健斋”“全斋”。其中“德斋”“才斋”“均斋”“备斋”四斋与西面的民主楼平行，在未名湖北岸呈直线排列，合称“德才均备”四斋。“体斋”和“健斋”坐落于“德才均备”四斋以东，“全斋”位于“体斋”和“健斋”以北。

“德才均备”四斋原为燕京大学的男生宿舍。从建筑外观上看，这四斋因循地形分为两组三合形式，“德斋”与“才斋”为一组，“均斋”与“备斋”为一组。每组的两斋之间有一栋狭长的东西走向的仿明清式建筑，将两斋连接在一起，形成“品”字形结构，两组“品”字形的结构形成两个小院。对比于作为燕大女生宿舍的静园六院，“德才均备”四斋的建筑及其所夹庭院的设计风格都更为雄浑有力、开阔豪放，很符合男生的性格特点。“体斋”和“健斋”一大一小，相连相依，最初作为燕京大学年轻单身教职员工的宿舍使用。“体斋”是一座小巧玲珑的两层八角亭式建筑，“健斋”则高大雄浑，两斋以回廊和台阶相连。“全斋”建成于1952年，作为当时的男教师宿舍。“全斋”是七斋中唯一的封闭式平房大院，分为南北两排，起初共有40余间平房，每间可住一户人家。

在燕园初建之时，作为男生宿舍使用的“德才均备”四斋曾以各自的捐资者姓名为依据，分别命名为斐斋（为费先生Mr. Finley所捐）、蔚斋（为惠先生Mr. Wheeler所捐）、干斋（为纪念甘伯尔先生Mr. James N. Gamble所捐）、复斋（为Mrs. Fannie Forbes纪念其父所捐）。“德才均备”四斋也曾按照编号系统自西向东分别称为红一楼、红二楼、红三楼和红四楼。“体斋”又名为湖滨楼，“健斋”又名为平津楼。而“德才均备体健全”七斋的名称则一直沿用下来，寄托着从燕京大学到北京大学对莘莘学子的殷殷厚望。

“德才均备”四斋，现在主要为学校院系科研办公使用。北大百年校庆之际，“体斋”和“健斋”修缮一新，作为国际访问学者公寓使用，称帕卡德公寓。“全斋”经整体重建，成为北京大学国际数学研究中心的科研场所。
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【第一体育馆】——吴淑颖　摄

If you make a list of the top ten favorite buildings on campus, although different people have different opinions, there is no doubt that this group of buildings will always be on the list. These seven buildings, including the Dezhai Building, Caizhai Building, Junzhai Building, Beizhai Building, Tizhai Building, Jianzhai Building and Quanzhai Building, are the most famous group of buildings at PKU. The "De, Cai, Jun, Bei" Buildings, standing in a line alongside the Weiming Lake, used to be the boys' dormitories of Yenching University.

The names of these buildings are quite interesting: "De" means "virtue", "Cai" means "talent" and "Jun Bei" means "both have", giving "De Cai Jun Bei" the meaning "having talents and virtues". Meanwhile, "Ti Jian Quan" means "being well-built". Both place high hopes on PKU students.
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Gymnasium No. 1 (photo by Wu Shuying)



第一体育馆

第一体育馆原为燕京大学男子体育馆，落成于1931年，由燕京大学在美国的托事部主席华纳（Franklin Warner）捐资兴建，因而又名华氏体育馆。华氏体育馆坐落在未名湖东侧，坐东朝西，位于墨菲为燕京大学校园设计的始于西门、终于鲁斯亭的东西方向主轴线的延长线上，与办公楼隔湖相望，并采用了与办公楼相近的形制，主楼屋顶为庑殿顶，两翼配有副楼。

现一体东侧新建了棒球场、足球场，冬季为未名湖冰场提供服务，平时是形体课、太极拳等体育课程的教学场所，为北大师生提供了优质的体育活动条件。

一体紧邻未名湖，为学生冬季的冰上活动提供了便利：“寒冬到了，湖水结冰，辟一角作为溜冰场，悬灯结彩，近在咫尺，健儿们不假外求，昼夜都可以登场。瞧哪！冷风萧瑟的冰场，也是温馨洋溢的情场：红男绿女，哥儿姐儿，眼波含笑，粉脸微红，短衣窄袖，七彩缤纷。一个个眉飞色舞地在大显身手呢。或追奔逐北，或随意回旋，花式变化万千。或独行，或结队，或携玉手，作龙飞凤舞，一泻千里的演出，岂不快哉！”这种冰雪季节的盛况一直持续到了今天。一体出租的冰刀，依旧可以吸引校内的大批同学以及校外的游客。冬季湖上的冰雪盛况丝毫不减当年风韵。

唐克扬：《从废园到燕园》

Built in 1931, the Gymnasium No. 1 used to be the Men's Gymnasium of Yenching University. It stands at the east side of the Weiming Lake. Now a baseball field and a football pitch have been built next to the gym, offering students much convenience.
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守仁国际中心建筑群

北京大学守仁国际中心建筑群位于未名湖的南岸，博雅塔以西的低地之内。其前身是燕京大学于1929年所建成的生物东馆，院系调整之后为北京大学生物学系所有；2001年由香港联泰国际集团主席陈守仁捐资重建，于2007年完工，后正式更名为北京大学守仁国际中心。该建筑群由三栋卷棚硬山顶的仿古建筑组合而成，以室外的连廊相连，自东向西分别命名为亨利楼、章桂堂和伟利楼。建筑形制上采用了灰色砖墙面配以中国传统的红色花窗，为建筑平添了一分古朴与典雅。如今守仁国际中心东西馆已经成为北京大学多个学术机构的办公场所，中馆为会议室，一些重要的国际学术会议常在这个古朴的小院中召开。

The Tan Siu Lin Center for International Studies is located at the southern end of the Weiming Lake. It was donated in 2001 by Mr. Tan Siu Lin, chairman of Luen Thai Holdings Ltd. It follows the simple and unadorned yet elegant style of traditional Chinese buildings. The center has now become the office building for various academic institutions. It is also the most popular venue for important international academic conferences.



鲁斯亭

鲁斯亭位于未名湖中心的湖心岛上，俗称岛亭，是一座木质结构的八角亭，亭顶为宝塔状，底座为高一米有余的八角形石台，亭下建有地下室，亭外有回廊，亭内据说有地道，以备战争时期紧急情况。

鲁斯亭是1929年亨利·鲁斯为纪念其父——曾于1919年任燕京大学副校长的鲁斯义而捐资建成，故又名斯义亭。1998年北京大学百年校庆时，鲁斯基金会捐资重修岛亭并将其重新命名为鲁斯亭。鲁斯亭修建之初为师生团体聚会场所，1966年前北京大学工会曾在此开设图书馆。现在鲁斯亭作为会议室使用。
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【钟亭与铜钟】——李泉　摄

The Luce Pavilion lies on an island in the middle of the Weiming Lake. This wooden pavilion looks like a pagoda with a veranda nearby. It was donated by Mr. Henry R. Luce to honor his father Mr. Henry W. Luce, former vice president of Yenching University. In 1998, the University decided to redecorate it for PKU's 100th birthday, and it is now used as a meeting room for faculties.
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Bell Pavilion and Bronze Bell (photo by Li Quan)



钟亭与铜钟

钟亭坐落在未名湖西岸的小土山上，北面临湖，东北方向正对翻尾石鱼，南面土山脚下有乾隆诗碑。钟亭在建筑形制上采用圆形攒尖式，柱头与梁上均有大量的彩绘；亭内悬挂一口古色古香的大铜钟。

铜钟“口径逾三四尺，高达八九尺”，用青龙铰连成的钟耳悬挂在亭内横木上，下端铸成八瓣荷花状，形似一朵倒开的花。钟体上部镌有十二对蛟龙戏珠，下部则刻有波涛和旭日图案，内部还有精美的八卦图案。钟上用满汉两种文字铸有“大清国丙申年八月制”字样。

据记载，这口铜钟原系颐和园中水军起居用膳报时所用，后几经辗转被燕京大学购得作为校钟使用，全校师生的起居作息均以钟声为准。学校还专门制定了《撞钟法》：“每半小时撞钟一次，自十二时半起撞一下，一时撞两下，一时半撞三下，……四时撞八下，到四时半复撞一下。如是每四小时循环一次，每日早六时至晚十一时为撞钟时间。”北大迁入燕园后仍以此钟报时，直到“文革”方止。如今铜钟不再用来报时，而每当新年来临之际，人们都会前来敲响这口钟，让喜悦在未名湖畔久久回荡。

湖西侧小山上的钟亭，亭有亭的线条，钟有钟的线条，钟身上铸了十八条龙和八卦。那几条长短不同的横线做出的排列组合，几千年来研究不透。

宗璞：《我爱燕园》
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【慈济寺山门】——彭兆睿　摄

The Bell Pavilion is located on the hill west of the Weiming Lake, with its north facing the lake. Inside the pavilion hangs an ancient bell. It is three to four chi
 in diameter and eight to nine in height, and exquisitely carved and decorated with patterns of waves and dragons. After Yenching University bought it as the school bell, the University made a special pattern for striking the bell. Now the bell has ceased its function of telling time. People love to come and strike it upon the New Year in their best wishes for the future.
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Gate of the Ciji Temple (photo by Peng Zhaorui)



慈济寺山门

慈济寺山门位于未名湖南岸。慈济寺俗称花神庙，实为观音寺。寺坐南朝北，寺门临未名湖，入门后拾级而上，有一座北向的正殿，并有东西配殿，连同周围的垣墙，都建在土山上。现在仅存一座寺门，就是如今经过重修的那座褐红色建筑，立于未名湖畔，有点景的妙用。而当年正殿的旧址，就是今天斯诺墓所在的地方。

The Ciji Temple was located on the south bank of the Weiming Lake. However, it was ruined in a fire and the gate is now all that remains. If you walk along the lake, you can still easily find the gate painted in dark red standing on the bank.



石舫

石舫位于湖心岛的东侧，是未名湖的标志性景观，一艘永远不沉的石船，又称“不系舟”。石舫最初为和珅在乾隆皇帝赏赐的淑春园中仿清漪园（颐和园）“清晏舫”修建的。船身部分原有精美木构，1860年英法联军火烧圆明园，石舫所在的淑春园也在劫难逃，今石舫仅余基座。如今石舫静静躺在未名湖中，与四周荡漾的碧波和身后郁郁葱葱的湖心岛相映成趣。

余概模糊辨，轩楹慨劫灰。竟成填海物，不是济川材。渭水曾推毂，严陵尚钓台。临流一凭吊，蛩语动蒿莱。

奕[image: alt]
 ：《石舫》
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【石舫】——王爱农　摄

The Marble Boat stands to the east of the Center Island. When the AngloFrench Allied Forces set the Yuanming Yuan on fire in 1860, the Shuchun Garden, where the Marble Boat stood, was nowhere to escape. Its body of exquisite wooden structure was burned down. Now only the base remains. Today the boat silently lies in the middle of the Weiming Lake, forming a most agreeable contrast with the undulating waves around and the luxuriant Center Island at the back.
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Marble Boat (photo by Wang Ainong)



柱础

在湖心岛鲁斯亭南侧下方竹林中，新近发现了一块石雕构件，据其外形推测当为一柱础（即石柱底座）。其材质为汉白玉，分两层：下层为方形基座，边长约0.42米，一侧刻有铭文“1925 BROTHERHOOD AND HARMONY”；上层为方形石雕，中刻鱼鳞纹，四周饰以荷叶卷边纹，中间有圆形小槽，直径约0.28米，原来当为放置石柱处。在底座旁边，尚有石柱残件，高约0.2米。该柱础上层石雕很可能是清代园林旧物，而下层基座则似为燕京大学时期新增，具体用途及来源尚待考察。

In the bamboo grove to the lower south of the Luce Pavilion there is a newly found stone carving sculpture, which, judging from the shape, is a column base. On one side can be seen the inscription "1925 BROTHERHOOD AND HARMONY". Made of marble, it has two parts. The upper part, square in shape and with fish scale patterns in the middle and lotus leaf curl patterns all around, is probably a relic of a Qing-dynasty garden, while the lower base seems to be a new adding by Yenching University, whose usage and source are not clear yet.



石屏风

未名湖北岸迤东，“全斋”南面土丘之阳，并立着四扇造型古朴典雅的青石屏风，背山面湖，与未名湖的湖光塔影依依相望，石屏前面是一个扇形空地，以石屏为中心辐射开来，周围青松翠柏郁郁葱葱，颇有古典园林的韵味。四扇屏风上面刻有乾隆御笔题写的两副对联，历经几百年风吹雨打，仍然清晰可辨。右边两扇为“画舫平临岸阔，飞楼俯映柳阴多”，左边两扇为“夹镜光澄风四面，垂虹影界水中央”。字体为楷书，清秀遒劲，文字上下分别饰有荷叶卷边纹和莲瓣纹。

石屏风据说是燕京大学建校时从乱岗荒草间发掘出来的，原先被弃置在民主楼西北的草丛中，后迁至今址。关于其来历，一说为圆明园四十景之一“夹镜鸣琴”的遗物，镶嵌在该景点的主体建筑——一座高大桥亭的两面；一说为和珅淑春园的遗物，与园中石舫上的旧建筑有关。
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【石屏风】——邹程浩　摄

On the north bank of the Weiming Lake and to the south of the Quanzhai Building stand four elegant stone screens side by side. There are two couplets inscribed by Emperor Qianlong on the screens, both clear-cut in spite of the winds and rains over the centuries. The regular script is delicate and vigorous, with lotus leaf curl and lotus petal patterns on the upper and lower sides.

The screens are said to have been unearthed among disordered grass during Yenching University's establishment. There are two versions about its origin: one believed it was a relic of the Jiajing Mingqin (Double Reflections and Roaring Waterfall), one of the Forty Scenes of the Yuanming Yuan, inserted on both sides of a tall bridge pavilion; the other believed it belonged to the Shuchun Garden, concerning the old constructions on the Marble Boat in the garden.
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Stone Screens (photo by Zou Chenghao)



翻尾石鱼

未名湖西岸附近有一尊白色石鱼雕像，身雕鳞片，翻尾翘首，张口朝天，宛若真正的鱼儿跃出水面，远远望去，像是将博雅塔影含在口中。鱼身长1.65米，高0.87米，下部鱼肚宽0.9米，上部鱼嘴宽0.42米。翻尾石鱼是圆明园遗物，为长春园北部西洋楼建筑群西南角“谐奇趣”前面的圆形喷水池中的装饰构件，此石鱼位于大型海棠式喷水池正中，口内喷出水柱可上升十余米，属于西洋石刻艺术。圆明园惨遭英法联军洗劫之后，石鱼被朗润园主人载涛购得，放置在朗润园多年，又由燕京大学1930届学生在毕业时买下赠给母校，从此才得以在未名湖安家落户。石鱼早先位于未名湖畔，“文革”中被推入湖底，1981年整修未名湖时才被发现，此时鱼尾与鱼口均已断裂，后校方想方设法按照原样进行修补，并置于今址。现在“石鱼含塔影”已经成为未名湖胜景之一，冬天未名湖结冰时可走近鱼身，一睹其精美的纹刻工艺。
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【翻尾石鱼】——姜南　摄

Near the west bank of the Weiming Lake stands a stone fish sculpture vividly in a leaping posture. Looked afar, the Boya Pagoda seems to be in its mouth. The Tail-turned Stone Fish used to be a relic of the Yuanming Yuan, i.e., a decoration of the circular fountain in front of the Xieqiqu (Harmonious Wonder) at the southwest corner of the Xiyang Lou.

[image: alt]


Tail-turned Stone Fish (photo by Jiang Nan)



石雕五供及石供桌

在北京大学钟亭小山的东侧有一组据说是晚明时期的石雕五供及石供桌，由石供桌、香炉、蜡矸和宝瓶组成。石供桌由上枋、束腰、下枋构成，束腰上下有莲花瓣（八达马）图案。云纹图案的圭脚，美轮美奂。香炉为双耳三足圆顶形，上有饰以青竹花纹的炉盖，下有花卉图案。香炉的两侧各有一个蜡矸，下有底座，绘有灵芝云纹图案。在蜡矸的外侧各有一个宝瓶。

这一组保存比较完整、雕造精美的石雕五供是陵墓的祭器，用于供奉先人，追思恩泽。蜡矸和香炉略有缺损，但瑕不掩瑜，仍不失其历史和艺术价值。2002年校方对此处景点进行了整修，在石供桌底部边缘贴了花岗岩，将原有水泥混凝土基础遮掩起来，并在五供处铺设了方青砖铺装，既防止了水土流失，又便于游人游览观光。至于石雕五供的来源，至今尚无确切史料可考。
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【石雕五供及石供桌】——王爱农　摄

To the east of the Bell Pavilion, there are five articles of tributes in stone sculpture and a stone altar with various decorations. It is said that they were designed in the late Ming dynasty.
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Five Articles of Tributes in Stone Sculpture and Stone Altar (photo by Wang Ainong)



植树碑

植树碑位于未名湖南岸，石雕五供东侧，碑高0.77米，宽0.5米，厚0.19米，系燕京大学壬戌（1922）班同学于民国十一年（1922）10月参加校园植树活动后所立。碑身刻有《植树铭》，共52个字，全部取自《诗经》，可谓别出心裁。燕京大学于1922年开始兴建新校舍，1927年基本落成。此碑立于1922年校园建设初期，由此我们可以想见当年燕大师生积极投身校园建设、亲手营造美丽燕园的动人场景。

On the south bank of the Weiming Lake is the Tree Planting Tablet. 0.77 meter in height, 0.5 meter in width and 0.19 meter in thickness, it was erected by the alumni of the Renxu (1922) Class of Yenching University in October 1922 after the tree planting event. There is a tree planting inscription on the body, all meticulously taken from the Book of Songs
 .



植树铭

瞻彼中林，其叶蓁蓁。淑人君子，学有缉熙于光明。何彼秾矣，灼灼其华。岂弟君子，婆娑其下。日就月将，有[image: alt]
 其实。以谷我士女，绰绰有裕。

壬戌班同人　秦振华、许景云、刘义、何廷廉、毛淑身、孙淑贞、王仁山、郑国梁、刘宗桥、张尚勤、康伯沧、李勋刚、许国梁、许光迪、林铭基

大中华民国十一年十月十四日立





旗杆座（1934）

在未名湖南岸的慈济寺山门东西两侧有一对旗杆座。这对旗杆座形制相同，均为石质。上部呈须弥座形，上枭混部饰叶纹，腰部饰覆仰莲瓣，中夹连珠纹，下枋饰云纹；下部为正方体形，一面有铭文“一九三四班留校纪念”；上下部之间有铁箍一周。据铭文，这对旗杆座应为燕京大学1934班学生毕业时赠给母校的纪念物。

On the south bank of the Weiming Lake and on both sides of the gate of the Ciji Temple stand a couple of flagpole seats. Both are made of stone with the same structure. The upper part is in the shape of a sumeru pedestal, of which the upper cyma is decorated with leaf patterns, the suyao with inverted and upward lotus petal patterns mixed with linked-pearl patterns in the middle, and the lower fillet and fascia with cloud patterns. The lower part is cubic. On one side there is the inscription "Souvenir of Class 1934”. Between the upper and lower part is an iron hoop. Judging from the inscription, this pair of seats must be a gift to the University by Class 1934.



斯诺墓

斯诺墓坐落于未名湖南岸，清代慈济寺遗址处。墓碑为一长方形白色大理石，碑上镌刻着叶剑英元帅的题词：“中国人民的美国朋友埃德加·斯诺之墓”，下注英文：





IN MEMORY OF EDGAR SNOW

AN AMERICAN FRIEND OF THE CHINESE PEOPLE

1905–1972





墓旁松柏环绕，绿草如茵，迎面一湖碧水，更觉幽静肃穆。

埃德加·斯诺（1905—1972），美国新闻记者、作家，生于美国密苏里州堪萨斯城，就读于密苏里大学新闻系。1928年来华，曾任欧美几家报社驻华记者、通讯员。1934年初，斯诺应邀兼任燕京大学新闻系讲师。1936年6月，斯诺访问陕北革命根据地，成为第一个采访苏区的西方记者，其后在燕园撰写《红星照耀中国》（又译《西行漫记》）一书，成为西方最畅销的书籍之一。抗日战争爆发后，又任多家报纸驻华战地记者。1942年去中亚和苏联前线采访，离开中国。新中国成立后，曾三次来华访问，著《大河彼岸》等书。1972年2月15日因病在瑞士日内瓦逝世。按照他生前遗愿，其部分骨灰被运来北京，于1973年10月19日安葬于令他深情眷恋的精神家园——燕园。

斯诺一生对增进中美两国人民的相互了解和友谊作出了卓越的贡献，亦对燕大有着极其深厚的感情。如今其部分遗骨长眠于未名湖畔，陪伴着一代又一代的北大学子，见证着他深爱的中华民族走向复兴。

On the south bank of the Weiming Lake, the former site of the Ciji Temple, is the Tomb of Snow. On the rectangle white marble is an inscription written by Marshal Ye Jianying with the English below: IN MEMORY OF EDGAR SNOW / AN AMERICAN FRIEND OF THE CHINESE PEOPLE / 1905–1972. With pines and cedars around, green grass below, and a lake of clear water in the front, the sight of the tomb strikes one as solemn and serene.

An American journalist and writer, Edgar Snow came to China in 1928, where he worked for several news agencies. In early 1934 he taught journalism at Yenching University. Years later, he went to the frontline and became a war correspondent for China. His Red Star over China
 had been a best seller in the West.

Snow has made an outstanding contribution to the mutual understanding and friendship between Chinese and American people, and cherished a deep love for the Yan Garden, where part of his ashes was buried at his request.



赖朴吾、夏仁德墓

在未名湖南岸、临湖轩东北角的山丘上，有一块石碑安静地嵌在高高的青岩顶处，这就是赖朴吾和夏仁德两位先生的墓碑。石碑上镌刻着三排漆红的英文：





RALPH LAPWOOD

RANDOLPH SAILER

GARDEN





石碑下方，两方天然青石上镌刻着两位先生的亲笔签名和生卒年：“E. R. Lapwood 1909–1984”、“Randolph Sailer 1898–1981”。

Ernest Ralph Lapwood（1909—1984），中文名赖朴吾，原燕京大学英籍教授。英国著名地球物理学家、数学家。1932年6月毕业于剑桥大学后，8月坐船前往中国。1936年至1939年，任教于燕京大学数学系。赖朴吾精心设计每一节课，主动要求与学生同吃同住。他一贯同情中国革命，积极参加抗日活动，曾协助路易·艾黎开展“中国工业合作社”的工作。1950年获得剑桥大学博士学位后再次到燕京大学任教，直至燕大在全国高等院校院系调整中被撤销后回国。20世纪80年代，赖朴吾四次访问中国。1984年4月11日，他在应北京师范学院邀请来华讲学期间，因心肌梗死，病逝于北京，享年75岁。赖朴吾的骨灰依嘱被安葬在北京大学未名湖畔。

Randolph Clothier Sailer（1898—1981），中文名夏仁德，原燕京大学美籍教授。出生于美国费城，1919年毕业于普林斯顿大学，1923年获哥伦比亚大学博士学位，同年8月来到中国执教，曾任燕京大学心理学系、教育学系教授及系主任。夏仁德同情中国人民抗日救亡、争取进步的事业，爱护燕大学生。1941年太平洋战争爆发后，他被日军囚禁并关进集中营，直到1943年美国和日本交换囚犯时才被送回美国。1946年他又回到中国，辗转到燕大任教，1950年返回美国。1973年4月他应邀再次访华，受到周恩来总理的接见。1979年，邓小平访美时，夏仁德作为美中友好协会主要负责人之一参加接待宴请。他在晚年深切怀念在中国的学生、同事和朋友，临终前在信中还向他的中国朋友致敬和告别。夏仁德于1981年7月11日病逝，享年83岁。同年9月6日，燕京大学北京校友会召开“夏仁德先生纪念会”，有160多位校友参加。燕大校友把他的名字和赖朴吾的名字一起刻在未名湖畔的石碑上，以示缅怀和敬仰。

赖朴吾和夏仁德两位先生在中国生活工作多年，对中国人民怀有深厚感情。在中华民族危亡的年月，他们对中国抗日救国、争取进步的事业的同情和支持是淳朴真挚、始终不渝的，他们是中国人民忠诚的朋友。他们的事业从中国开始，他们的第二故乡在燕园，他们的精神在未名湖畔长青。
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【赖朴吾、夏仁德墓】——唐伽拉　摄

On the hill northeast of the Linhu House, south of the Weiming Lake, is a stone tablet quietly embedded on top of a rock. This is the Tomb of Lapwood and Sailer.

Ernest Ralph Lapwood (1909–1984) was a famous British geophysicist and mathematician. From 1936 to 1939, and again from 1950 to the national adjustment of colleges and departments in 1952, Lapwood had worked assiduously as an instructor in mathematics at Yenching University. He died in 1984 in Beijing, at the age of 75, and his ashes were placed by the Weiming Lake as he had wished.

Randolph Clothier Sailer (1898–1981) once taught psychology and education at Yenching University. Compassionate for Chinese people's fighting to save the nation, he cherished his students deeply.

Both professors were honest friends of Chinese people.
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Tomb of Lapwood and Sailer (photo by Tang Jiala)



鱼洗

在临湖轩院内、正厅门前，有一座汉白玉鱼洗。鱼洗是古代一种装饰有鱼纹的盆状盥洗用具。临湖轩的这座鱼洗四周雕有麒麟、梅花等精美纹饰，底座上一侧刻有“大明永乐年造”字样，并有钤印“永乐御览之宝”（疑为后刻），另一侧刻诗一首：“圣主回銮肃百灵，紫云团盖翼苍精。属车剑履星辰丽，先驾旂常日月明。”侯仁之先生认为底座是大明永乐的遗物，但鱼洗是清康熙时仿制的。

临湖轩门外花坛内原有一座形制相同的鱼洗，但2007年被盗，今只剩底座。如今，临湖轩院内的这座鱼洗可谓北大校园内迄今已知年代最早的地面文物遗存。至于其何时由何人置于燕园之内，尚不得而知。
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【鱼洗】——何晋　摄

In the courtyard of the Linhu House there is a white marble fish wash. A fish wash is a kind of washing utensil in the shape of a basin, so called because of the fish patterns on it. The fish wash in the Linhu House is decorated with the patterns of qilin
 and plum blossoms. Its base, according to the famed historical geographer Hou Renzhi, is a relic of the Ming dynasty, from Emperor Yongle's time, but the fish wash itself is a copy during the reign of Emperor Kangxi of the Qing dynasty.
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Fish Wash (photo by He Jin)



石盆

石盆位于未名湖南岸、临湖轩院前草坪上，为两株明代白皮松的底座。其形呈须弥座状，原为六面，后加至八面。上下枋饰万字纹，上下枭饰覆仰莲瓣，束腰饰佛八宝，圭角饰云纹。石盆应为清乾隆时期和珅淑春园临风待月楼之旧物，几百年来一直保护着这两株白皮松的根基，至今依然安静地守护着这片土地。

On the lawn in front of the Linhu House, south of the Weiming Lake, stand two stone pots, serving as the base for two lacebark pines of the Ming dynasty. Originally they had only six sides; the other two sides were a later addition. They are believed to be the relics of Heshen's Shuchun Garden during the reign of Emperor Qianlong of the Qing dynasty. Over the centuries these two stone pots have kept the roots of the ancient trees in good condition, which still quietly guard this piece of land.



香炉

南北阁之间的花坛内，现摆放有一香炉。其形为方口、四足，长约1.02米、宽约0.66米、高约0.73米，肩部一耳略有缺损。这座香炉的来源尚不清楚，按纹饰推断可能是清代遗物。

In the flower terrace between the South and North Pavilions there is an incense burner. It is square in shape, with four feet. The length is 1.02 meters, width 0.66 meter and height 0.73 meter. One ear is slightly damaged. Its source is not clear yet, but the patterns suggest it might be a relic of the Qing dynasty.
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梅石碑

在临湖轩西南侧土丘之下，有一座造型独特的石碑，上有石雕庑殿顶，下有莲花碑座，碑面镌刻有梅石图案，故称梅石碑。该碑高1.64米、宽1.03米、厚0.25米，单面刻，下有一角缺损。

历史上共有三块梅石碑。南宋德寿宫内旧有苔梅和芙蓉石，至明代石存而梅枯，画家孙杕便立碑刻梅置于石旁，后蓝瑛又增刻芙蓉石于碑上，是为第一块梅石碑。乾隆十六年（1751），乾隆帝第一次南巡时发现了芙蓉石与梅石碑，甚是喜爱，遂将芙蓉石运回圆明园中长春园西南角的茜园内，命名曰“青莲朵”，并对梅石碑加以题咏。但他据《浙江通志》的记载，以为梅石皆为蓝瑛所刻绘。乾隆三十年（1765），乾隆帝第四次南巡时发现，苔梅是孙杕而非蓝瑛所刻，遂令人重摹一碑，并题诗作文，加刻于碑上，立于杭州原碑旁，以正前讹。此为第二块梅石碑。乾隆三十二年（1767），乾隆帝又令人再摹一碑，并新作诗文加刻其上，置于茜园“青莲朵”旁，是为第三块梅石碑，亦即北京大学现存的梅石碑。碑上方刻乾隆御题七言诗及跋文，行书，共28行；右下方刻乾隆御题五言诗及跋文，行书，共8行。

圆明园遭焚毁后，“青莲朵”和梅石碑却保存了下来。“青莲朵”于1915年前后移于今天的中山公园内，而梅石碑则于20年代移至燕园。梅石碑最初放在北阁内，后移置于阁外西阶，再后来又被搬至北阁北面的小山顶上，1993年移至今址。在辗转搬移的过程中，梅石碑受到了一定程度的破坏，今虽加建了碑座和碑冠以保护，但已难复旧貌。
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【梅石碑】——吴淑颖　摄

To the southwest of the Linhu House stands a stone tablet in strange shape. Its name comes from the plum flowers engraved on it. The Plum Stone Tablet is 1.64 meters in height, 1.03 meters in width, and 0.25 meter in thickness.

There were three plum stone tablets in history. In the Southern Song dynasty there used to be a moss-covered plum tree and a rose quartz in the Deshou Palace. In the Ming dynasty, the quartz remained, but the plum withered. An artist by the name of Sun Di set up a tablet engraved with a plum, and placed it by the stone. Later Lan Ying added a rose quartz on the tablet, which became the first plum stone tablet. When Emperor Qianlong found the rose quartz and the plum stone tablet during his first southern tour in 1751, he had the rose quartz moved to the Yuanming Yuan and renamed it Qinglianduo (Green Lotus Flower). When he found that the plum tree was engraved by Sun Di instead of Lan Ying as he had reckoned, he had another tablet copied and placed beside the original tablet in Hangzhou. That was the second plum stone tablet. In 1767, the Emperor had a third tablet copied and placed beside the Qinglianduo, which was the Plum Stone Tablet preserved in Peking University.

After the Yuanming Yuan was burned down, the Qinglianduo and Plum Stone Tablet were luckily preserved. The Qinglianduo was moved to today's Zhongshan Park around 1915, and the Plum Stone Tablet, after several shifts to and fro, was finally moved to its present place in 1993. In spite of the newly added seat and crest for protection, its former appearance could not be retrieved because of damages during frequent moves.
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Plum Stone Tablet (photo by Wu Shuying)



梅石碑诗文

春仲携来梅石碑，模经冬孟始成之。

不宁十日一水就，惟以万几余暇为。

孙梅堪作石友，蓝瑛石亦肖梅姿。

为怜漫漶临新本，笑有人看漫漶时。

《浙江通志》称，南关工部分司本宋德寿宫址，有梅花厅、芙蓉石，傍竖断碑，刻蓝瑛画古梅一本，此蓝瑛梅石所以膻芗鼻祖也。即予辛未南巡观民之暇，亦有蓝瑛梅石之咏。今春再至浙省，就而视之，则梅乃孙，而石实蓝瑛，盖二人合作勒于碑者也。于是然失愕尔，吁曰：千秋纪载之失实，其不若是者盖鲜矣。既已目击，不可不为正其讹。且碑版剥落漫漶，几不可辨，爰为之重模泐石，旧者仍并存，聊志数典。

乾隆乙酉小春上浣御笔





昔年德寿石，名曰青莲朵。

梅枯石北来，惟余碑尚妥。

德寿岂复存？久矣毁兵火。

不禁兴废感，碑亦漫漶颇。

因之为模迹，驿致江之左。

新碑邻旧碑，那见梅石我？

重摹置石侧，为结无缘果。

谁云假冰玉？备见真嶪峨。

如因忆中郎，武贲何不可？

乙酉冬，曾摹德寿宫梅石碑，驿致杭州，以存旧迹。因思梅既久枯，石又北来，则新碑与旧碑不过留其名于依稀仿佛间耳。既又思梅之槁于南者，虽不可复生，而石之存于北者，固在也。因命重摹一通，置之石侧。青莲朵者，盖壬申初到时所命名，亦并有诗纪事云。

丁亥仲春月中浣御题并识





乾隆御制诗碑

未名湖西岸钟亭所在的土山下，横放有一长方形的乾隆御制诗碑。该碑长2.27米，高1.10米，碑身四周及碑座均镌刻有精美的云龙图案，碑体保存完好，字迹和纹样均较清晰。

碑身两面各刻有乾隆御制诗一首，均作于乾隆五十二年（1787），是76岁的乾隆忆及40年前畅春园旧事写下的诗句。其中一首题为《种松戏题》的七言律诗，记由种树引发的关于育材任官的感想；另一首题为《土墙一首》的五言古诗，回忆往年筑土墙练枪的情景。

该碑为燕大兴建新校舍时从西校门附近挖出，旧说为畅春园遗物，今考不恰。咸丰五年（1855）御制《习枪有作》诗注云：“山高水长有乾隆间所筑土墙，并碑刻圣制土墙诗，盖因御虎神枪而作也”。据此，此碑当为圆明园“山高水长”旧物。至于其何时流入燕园，尚待进一步研究。

Below the hill on which the Bell Pavilion stands there is an imperial tablet engraved with Emperor Qianlong's poems. 2.27 meters in length and 1.1 meters in height, the tablet has been kept in good condition, both the words and patterns remaining clear.

The tablet was unearthed when the University was constructing its new campus. According to a poem by Emperor Xianfeng in 1855, the tablet should be a relic of the Yuanming Yuan, instead of the Changchun Garden(Joyful Spring Garden). But no clear evidence has been found yet as to when to was moved into Yenching University.



乾隆御制诗碑碑文

清明时节宜种树，拱把稚松培植看。欲速成非关插柳（柳最易活，折枝插地即成，根亦易长，种树十年计盖谓此；若松柏二三十年尚不入观也），挹清芬亦异滋兰。育材自合求贞干，絮矩因之思任官。待百十年讵云远，童童应备后人观。

种松戏题　丁未仲春中浣御笔





苑西五尺墙，筑土卌年矣。昔习虎神枪，每尝临莅此（习枪苑中，远筑土墙，以遮枪子，恐伤人也）。木兰毙於菟，不一盖已屡。土墙久弗试，数典忍忘尔。得新毋弃旧，可以通诸理。

土墙一首　丁未仲春中浣御笔





“振兴中华”碑

“振兴中华”碑位于图书馆东北角，老生物楼西侧的草坪上，碑体为一略呈三角形的天然黄石，正面刻有“振兴中华”四个大字，背面刻有碑文。碑文记述了立碑背景：1981年3月20日晚，世界杯排球赛亚洲区预选赛于香港举行，中国男排对阵韩国男排，胜者将代表亚洲参加东京世界杯排球赛。中国队在先失两局的不利战况下，以3‥2逆转战胜韩国队。北大学子激动游行，喊出口号“团结起来，振兴中华”。两日后，《人民日报》刊登了这一情况，口号在社会上迅速流传开来。1984年，八四届全体毕业生于毕业时捐建此碑，以示纪念。

“振兴中华”碑纪念的不仅仅是那个民族在集体狂乱中清醒、渴望中华民族复兴的时代，更是代表了百年来一代又一代北大人以肩负民族兴亡为己任、敢领天下先地呐喊出时代最强音的精神。
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【“振兴中华”碑】——何晋　摄

The "Revitalizing the Chinese Nation" Tablet stands on the northeast corner of the library. It is made of a yellowish brown stone slightly in the shape of a triangle. On the front are the four large characters "Zhen Xing Zhong Hua" (Revitalizing the Chinese Nation), and on the back it tells the background of how the tablet was set up.

As the inscriptions indicate, this tablet is a donation by the graduates of 1984 in memory of China's victory over South Korea in the qualification tournament of the Volleyball Men's World Cup. The tablet is not only a token of an era of national revitalization, but even more the spirit of Peking University, which always takes the lead in shouldering the great task to revive the Chinese nation.
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"Revitalizing the Chinese Nation" Tablet (photo by He Jin)



“振兴中华”碑碑文

一九八一年三月二十日夜，中国男排在香港比赛。获胜消息传来，北京大学四千多学生集队游行，高唱国歌，喊出了八十年代最强音：团结起来，振兴中华！特建此碑，以志纪念。

北京大学八四届全体毕业生

一九八四年七月









【三】燕园南区

Southern Yan Garden Area


燕南园

燕南园因位于燕园的南部而得名，占地48亩，建成于上世纪20年代，当时主要作为燕大外籍教师的住宅。按照当时所有中外教师住宅的编号顺序，燕南园的住宅被定为51号到66号（后加建了50号），这一编号从燕大到北大，一直没有变更。如今，在某些宅院的门口，还能看到黑底白字的木门牌，上面清晰的数字向人们展示了这里曾经经历过的岁月和沧桑。住宅中有自成一体的西式小楼，也有矮墙环绕的中式小院。这些住宅的建筑材料绝大部分是当时从国外运来，门窗用的是上好红松，房间里铺设打蜡的地板，屋角有典雅的壁炉，地下室还有供暖的锅炉房。

曾经居住在这里的中国教授对中国的政治、历史、科学、哲学等学科的发展建设产生了深远的影响。历史学家洪业、翦伯赞，数学家江泽涵，物理学家周培源、饶毓泰、褚圣麟，经济学家马寅初、陈岱孙，哲学家冯友兰、汤用彤、冯定，化学家张龙翔、黄子卿，语言学家王力、林焘，美学家朱光潜，生物学家沈同，文学家林庚，历史地理学家侯仁之，文学家冰心（谢婉莹）和社会学家吴文藻夫妇等都曾生活在燕南园。
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不知怎么，一到春暖花开，一到绿树茂盛的时节，便不由人地让我想念起那个静雅的园中之园来，而且顷刻间，仿佛过去不是过去，现在不是现在了，有一种熟悉的树脂味儿夹杂着蔷薇花的香气弥漫了我周围的空间。

那是燕南园独有的味道。

上学那会儿，每日打女生宿舍出来，必须穿过燕南园去图书馆，去电教楼，去各系办公室的一二三四院。穿过那个园子也是要有几条弯弯小路的。路的两边或是松，或是槐，或是竹。松的后面、槐的后面和竹的后面是一个个人家。有的家门口围有栅栏，大都是木的。院子里有时也摆了一两把藤椅，藤椅上常常会遗落了一本倒扣着的书或是报纸一样的读物，仿佛主人刚刚在这儿晒了太阳，这会儿有了睡意便回屋去了；也有的人家门外用石块或砖头垒出了院中院，好像是为了使那些暂时不用的家什有了整齐的安置。无论如何千姿百态，那每个门对我来说，都如同一个个从未涉及的学科那般神秘而深奥。

程丹梅：《燕南园的身影》
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【燕南园54号】——李家驹　摄

The Yannan Garden is named after its location (in Chinese "nan" means "south" and this garden is located in the south of PKU). The history of this area dates back to the 1920s. During the 20th century, this region housed the foreign faculty of Yenching University. The houses in the Yannan Garden were numbered from No. 50 to No. 66, and those house numbers are still in use today. If you pay a visit to the Yannan Garden, you can still find the original doorplates people used to use.

One of the features of the Yannan Garden is the different style of houses, including both typical Western-style small houses and Chinese-style old courtyards surrounded by low walls. Most of the building materials used for these houses were imported, making them even more exquisite.

Many respectable PKU scientists, professors and writers have spent their lives in the Yannan Garden. They have deeply influenced the development of China and made a great contribution to both China and PKU. Countless stories and anecdotes about them and their houses have been passed down from generation to generation.
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Yannan Garden No. 54 (photo by Li Jiaju)



●　燕南园54号

燕南园54号，位于燕南园的东北角，原是曾任燕京大学历史系主任、图书馆馆长的著名历史学家洪业的住所。建筑形式为L型西式二层小楼，坡顶青砖墙面，开窗形式以券窗和方窗相结合。这里最早的主人洪业先生将其命名为“健斋”，又称“无善本书屋”，因为他存书只为做学问，不为收藏。当时洪先生经常不定期地在54号的家中召开历史学会的会议，邀请数位老师同学一边品茗或饮咖啡，一边切磋学问。后来也住在燕南园的著名历史地理学家侯仁之就是洪先生的弟子。

The building No. 54, located in the northeast of the Yannan Garden, once housed the famous historian Hong Ye. He also worked as dean of the Department of History and curator of the Yenching University Library.



●　燕南园55—56号

燕南园55号和56号，位于燕南园的东侧。这两组住宅为一对对称的中式小院，形态相似但是朝向相反。建筑形式采用了传统的卷棚硬山顶，建筑格局采用了L型连坡顶的形式。院子中摆放的石桌椅也成为如今北大学生休憩的场所。

燕南园55号，曾是原北京大学副校长冯定的住所，直到1983年。后著名经济学家陈岱孙搬来这里，他过世后学校在院内为他立了一尊铜像。而如今的燕南园55号已经成为诺贝尔物理学奖得主李政道先生的住所。

燕南园56号，原是著名的理论物理学家、流体力学家、中国科学院院士、曾在1978—1981年任北京大学校长的周培源先生的住所。周培源先生是爱花之人，56号曾遍植樱花，春来如雪，人称“周家花园”。如今的燕南园56号是北京大学美学与美育研究中心的办公场所。

In the east of the Yannan Garden stand buildings No. 55 and No. 56, two symmetrical buildings with identical structures but opposite orientations. Feng Ding and Chen Daisun once lived in the building No. 55 and now it is the residence of Li Zhengdao. The building No. 56 was where former PKU President Zhou Peiyuan lived, and now it is used as the office of the Research Center for Aesthetics and Fine Arts.



●　燕南园57号

燕南园57号，位于燕南园的东南隅，是一个中式小院，院落格局为L型，建筑样式采用了卷棚硬山顶的中国古建形式。一丛绿竹掩映在门前，两尊石狮守着院门。这里原是著名哲学家冯友兰的住所，1952年院系调整后，冯友兰从清华园迁到燕南园，并终老于此。冯老因其院子中的三棵松树而将57号命名为“三松堂”。晚年冯老曾在这里整理他的毕生著作，并将其命名为《三松堂全集》。

庭中有三松，抚而盘桓，较渊明犹多其二焉。

冯友兰：《三松堂自序》

庭院中三松依旧，不时有人来凭吊并摄影。那贺卡中平凡的乐音似乎在三棵松间萦绕。读三松堂书的人，都会在心中有一个小小的纪念馆。

宗璞：《三松堂岁暮二三事》

The building No. 57 is located in the southeast it of the Yannan Garden. On account of the three pine trees growing in the courtyard, it was also named "Three Pines Hall" by Professor Feng Youlan, the well-known philosopher. This Chinese-style courtyard has a pair of stone lions guarding the front door. During Feng's later years, he spent much of his time here and named his books the The Complete Works of Three Pines Hall
 .



●　燕南园60号

燕南园60号，位于燕南园的中部，原是燕大教授夏仁德的住宅。这是一座西式的两层小楼，坡顶青砖墙面，一层有拱券外廊。1957年，著名的语言学家王力教授搬迁到此，在这完成了一生中的大部分著作。别墅的一层南部是宽敞的客厅，当时古代汉语教学组常在这里开会。二楼有三个卧室和一个书房，王力先生以书房作为工作室。如今燕南园60号是北京大学工学院的办公场所。

The building No. 60 stands in the middle of the Yannan Garden and is a two-story Western-style building, with a lanai outside. In 1957, linguist Wang Li moved in and finished most of his works here. The No. 60 has now become the office for the College of Engineering.
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●　燕南园61号

燕南园61号，位于燕南园的中部偏西南处，是一座西式的两层小楼，坡顶青砖墙面，二层有退台。建筑掩映在一片深绿的树丛中，旁边又是一丛翠竹，望之蔚然而深秀。中国历史地理学创始人之一侯仁之院士曾经在此居住。侯仁之和夫人于20世纪30年代初考入燕京大学，1950年搬入燕南园。

The building No. 61 was the home of Professor Hou Renzhi, one of the founders of Chinese Historical Geography. It also adopts a Western style of architecture. Hou Renzhi and his wife began to study at Yenching University in the early 1930s and in 1950 they moved into the Yannan Garden.
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●　燕南园63号

燕南园63号，位于燕南园的西南部入口处，毗邻餐饮中心。建筑采取中国传统的建筑样式，五开间庑殿顶，坐落在一个较大的台地上，布局采用西式的工字型布局。这里原是燕大的美籍音乐教授范天祥自费修建的住宅，当时他的院子最大，被人称为“范庄”。北大迁入燕园后，燕南园63号成为当时的北大校长、著名经济学家和人口学家马寅初的宅第。“文革”期间，63号曾历尽风波，之后的70年代初，北大副校长、语言学家魏建功搬入此院。如今燕南园63号成为北大老干部活动中心，时常有一些退休的老教工在这里活动。

If you walk to the southwest entry of the Yannan Garden, you will find a large house. It was built by Professor Bliss Wiant (Fan Tianxiang), an American professor of music. This house was later given to Ma Yinchu, then PKU president, demographer and economist, and other professors successively before turning into its current role as an activity center for veteran cadres.



●　燕南园66号

燕南园66号，位于燕南园的西北，与第二体育馆隔墙相望，原是著名社会学家吴文藻和著名文学家冰心夫妇的居所。这是一座西式的二层小楼，坡顶青砖墙面，一楼有拱券外廊。上世纪20年代冰心与吴文藻两人学成回国，燕大对这两位从美国归来的青年学人特别予以厚遇，便将这座二层小楼拨给他们作为住所。当时一楼客厅中摆放了许多他们订阅的报纸和学术刊物，很多师生都前来这里一睹为快，因而这里以燕大的“期刊阅览室”闻名。冰心曾在许多文章里细致地描述过这幢小楼，就是在这里，她先后写下了《往事》《南归》等小说、散文作品。此后66号又先后迎来了几位新主人，其中包括著名美学家朱光潜先生。如今燕南园66号为北京大学中国画法研究院所在地。

The famous female writer Bing Xin used to live in the building No. 66 with her husband Wu Wenzao, the notable sociologist. Yenching University gave this house to the couple as a gift after they came back from the United States. The Western-style house was always full of newspapers and academic journals, attracting many students and professors and making the No. 66 Yenching's "periodical reading room". It is now used as the PKU Academy of Chinese Painting Technique Research.



静园一至六院

静园六院是燕园内围绕静园草坪而建的六处三合院落，位于俄文楼和南北阁之南，与第二体育馆构成“品”字形结构。这六座精巧玲珑的庭院中的一院、二院、四院和五院原为燕京大学女生宿舍，三院和六院是1952年根据当初图纸加建的。现一至六院已经成为燕京学堂等一些院系、研究所的教学、科研、办公所在地。

六座庭院均为“品”字形布局，建筑均为老式砖木结构，硬山顶的二层小楼，每院有灰顶红色小门楼一座，由石砌虎皮矮墙连成一体。院落为东西向，每院内各有两间南北向厢房，中间以正房相连。每座院落中，寻窗而上布满墙面的爬山虎、院内高大茂密的乔木以及门前的紫藤花架等各种植物参差交错，为小院赋予了四季不息的生命。虽然新建的三院和六院模仿原有四院的样式，但仍可在细节上看出差别。

在美丽的燕园读书，以这安全舒适的宿舍为家，我居住了六年。我怀念这里，至今仍时时梦见二院宿舍，梦见那不远的小山上的六角钟亭，听到那能告知钟点的洪亮钟声，这是我们的校钟，我怀念我们的燕园生活。

唐冀雪：《燕大女生宿舍》
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【静园四院】——张一琪　摄

If you sit on the lawn of the Jingyuan Garden, you will find six delightful three-sided courtyards standing on its two sides. These were once living quarters for Yenching University's female students. No. 1, No. 2, No. 4 and No. 5 were built in 1926, to which were added two more buildings in 1952.
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Jingyuan Courtyard No. 4 (photo by Zhang Yiqi)



第二体育馆

第二体育馆原为燕京大学女子体育馆，落成于1933年，为威廉·鲍埃夫妇捐资兴建，因而又名鲍氏体育馆。鲍氏体育馆坐落在亨利·墨菲为燕京大学校园所设计的南北轴线之南端，其建筑形制采用了庑殿顶，素墙青瓦，红色柱子，一层入口采用了别致的拱形入口。现在的二体东侧有篮球场，西侧有网球场，北侧有方便学生聚会休闲的静园草坪，是深受学生欢迎的体育锻炼、休闲娱乐场所。
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【第二体育馆】——王芳　摄

In the past, the Gymnasium No. 2 was the Women's Gymnasium. It was built in 1933, donated by Mr. and Mrs. William Boyd. At that time, it was also known as the Boyd Building. The No. 2 Gymnasium is very popular among the students thanks to the tennis court, basketball court and lawn of the Jingyuan Garden nearby.
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Gymnasium No. 2 (photo by Wang Fangyu)



治贝子园

治贝子园位于第四教学楼东、邱德拔体育馆西侧，门口立有一尊老子汉白玉石雕立像，古色古香，门牌“治贝子园”四字为季羡林所题写。治贝子园最早因主人为清宗室贝子载治而得名，后由载治之子溥侗继承，称“红豆馆”。溥侗对昆曲、京剧造诣很深，常在治贝子园内与票友唱戏交流，因此“红豆馆”也在中国近代戏曲史上具有重要的地位。1928年治贝子园为燕京大学拍卖而得，作为农场使用，故又名“燕农园”。1995年，经台湾学者陈鼓应呼吁，台湾友人雷永泰、陈金发捐资修缮了治贝子园，该园现为中国哲学暨文化研究所的办公用地。

治贝子园曾占地四顷，有房屋139间，树木逾800棵，现在只余一座两进的四合院。修缮后的院子仍然保留了传统合院南北向的建筑格局以及卷棚硬山顶、灰色砖墙面的传统建筑风格，掩映在邱德拔体育馆、第四教学楼等现代建筑之间，显得格外典雅。

If you walk behind the classroom building No. 4, you will find a marble statue of Laozi and the Zhibeizi Garden. The name of this garden came from its first master, the royal family member Zaizhi. In 1928, this garden was bought by Yenching University from an auction, and was later used as farmland, which is why it is also called the Nongyuan Garden. In 1995, this garden was renovated and it is now used as the office for the Institute of Chinese Philosophy and Culture.
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花神庙碑

花神庙碑位于燕南园西北靠近二体的坡道入口处，共两座，坐北朝南，分立路边。路东一座立于乾隆十年（1745），路西一座立于乾隆十二年（1747）。两碑均为汉白玉制，高3米，宽0.88米，螭首龟趺，雕刻精美。

两碑碑额均题为“万古流芳”，阳面记述乾隆十年花朝节后和十二年中秋节后圆明园百花竞放、花匠感念司花诸神的保佑因而祭祀花神的祝词；阴面刻有圆明园众多花匠的名字。据燕京大学档案记录，燕南园建成之时，两碑由未名湖南岸被运至燕南园。

寒来暑往，岁月推移，这两块来自圆明园的花神庙碑如今已与燕南园的文化景观融为一体。宗璞先生在《燕园碑寻》一文中曾深情追忆她在三松堂生活时每日行经花神庙碑的过往。

There are two tablets standing near the entrance ramp of the Gymnasium No. 2. The one in the east was set up in 1745, and the other in the west in 1747. Both are made of white marble, 3 meters in height, 0.88 meter in width. According to the archives of Yenching University, the two tablets were moved to the Yannan Garden from the south bank of the Weiming Lake.

As time passes by, these tablets have become an integral part of the cultural landscape of the Yan Garden.
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乾隆十年碑文

万古流芳

洪惟我皇上德溥生成，庥征蕃庑。万几清暇之余，览庶汇之欣荣，煦群生于咸若，对时育厥功茂焉。王进忠、陈九卿、胡国泰近侍掖庭，典司艺花之事，于内苑拓地数百弓，结篱为圃，奇葩异卉，杂莳其间。每当露蕊晨开，香苞午绽，嫣红姹紫，如锦如霞，虽洛下之名园，河阳之花县，不是过也。伏念天地间一草一木，胥出神功，况于密迩宸居，邀天子之品题，供圣人之吟赏者哉。爰列像以祀司花诸神，岁时祷赛，必戒必虔。从此寒暑益适其宜，阴阳各遂其性，不必催花之鼓，护花之铃，而吐艳扬芬，四时不绝。于以娱睿览，养天和，与物同春，后天不老，化工之锡福岂有量乎！若夫灌溉以时，培护维谨，此小臣之职，何敢贪天功以为已力也。

乾隆十年花朝后二日，圆明园总管王进忠、陈九卿、胡国泰恭记





乾隆十二年碑文

万古流芳

钦惟我皇上德被阳和，幸万几之多暇；休征时若，赌百卉之舒荣。撷瑞草于尧阶，春生蓂荚；艺仙葩于阆苑，岁献蟠桃。允矣鸿禧，夐哉上界。彭开昌、刘玉、李裕，职在司花，识惭学圃。辟町畦于禁近，插棘编篱；罗花药于庭墀，锄云种月。檀苞粉蕊，烂比霞蒸；姹紫嫣红，纷如锦拆。虽有河阳之树，逊此秾华；宁容洛下之园，方兹清丽。伏念群芳开谢，胥有神功；小草生成，咸资帝力。荷荣光于上苑，倍著芬菲；邀宠睐于天颜，益增旖旎。爰事神而列像，时崇报以明禋。必式必虔，以妥以侑，从此阴阳和协，二十四番风信咸宜；寒燠均调，三百六日花期竟放。何烦羯鼓，连夜催开；岂必金铃，长春永护。于以养天和之煦妪，供清燕之优游，则草秀三芝，并向长生之馆；花开四照，纷来延寿之宫矣。

乾隆十二年中秋后三日，圆明园总管彭开昌、刘玉、李裕恭记





米玉及夫人马氏墓志铭石

1929年夏，在燕南园西北口西侧的土坡中，发现了米万钟之父米玉及其夫人马氏的坟墓，墓中有二人的墓志铭石。墓志铭比较详细地记载了米玉的家世及生平，并涉及米万钟的身世，是研究米氏家族的重要资料。又据志文云“葬于海甸之原，盖公所自卜者”，可见米家与海淀在构建勺园之前就早有渊源。该墓志铭石出土后收藏于燕京大学图书馆内，后归属北京大学。

The gravestone of Mi Yu and his wife was found on the earthen slope northwest of the Yannan Garden in the summer of 1929. The inscriptions on the gravestone record the family background and lifetime of Mi Yu, and touch upon his son Mi Wanzhong's life story, providing important information to the research of the Mi family. The gravestone is now kept in the Peking University Library.
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米玉及夫人马氏墓志铭

明故昭信校尉锦衣卫百户昆泉米公暨配安人马氏墓志铭

赐进士出身右春坊右谕德兼翰林院侍讲纂修国朝正史前直起居管理诰敕文华殿日讲官南充黄辉撰

赐进士出身右春坊右中允兼翰林院侍讲记注起居纂修正史兼理诰敕讲读官四明冯有经书

赐进士出身左春坊左中允兼翰林院侍讲管理诰敕兼修正史经筵官端溪区大相篆

有缇骑于嘉靖而能以其僚平者乎？曰：法取荆棘，毋苛以蔓也。毋殖于诇，后将不食。故中人产之，弗屑保焉，而卒以有厥子，吾犹及之。曰：故昭信尉昆泉公玉，其先晋阳人。祖虎始徙北郡之安化，以功授金吾百户，公其支子之第五子也。六岁而孤，性纯警，食于诸兄嫂，常自为色饱。是时，金吾世中绝，而诸兄皆农，公独自意必绍之。弱冠，则尽鬻所服产以北。家人咸谇笑：『胡为乎是孑孑者？京师在天上，何锦衣百户也？』不谓公俄锦衣百户也。盗魁冯璜谋为乱，公冒危获焉，而舍诸胁从人，功宜最，乃仅授昭信校尉。得请还展墓，族党出迎，或至数十里。望见驺导，且前且却，莫知辞色所为。公逆下车，欢呼笑语，一一问慰如往昔。众乃争自前，相与叹服曰：『吾村安所得是人！天与人官，定不妄耳。』于是大会宗党亲故，推金钱布帛有差。会岁饥，所全活数百人。分守杨副使锦曰：『义哉米侯！』手为勒碑于墓次旌之。自是诸米常仰公北来。其后关中复大凶，米无莩者，故邻夫妇归生死于公，曾不少厌，其笃谊类如此。居常为德于人，不愿人知之。有贷辄应，即故负不校。长子万春第武举，公遂谢世。产日落，然终不悔也。初，公娶于杨，继者宋，又继者马。宋生参将万春，马安人归，春三岁矣。仲子永宁令万钟生二岁，母田卒。季子锦衣冠带总旗万方生十岁，母董卒。安人抚之，不啻腹也。即诸子视安人，不啻腹也。春将之官，不能装。安人下簪珥资之。乃克行。万方周岁而痘，危甚，安人抱持不交睫，至染疔毒，傍人苦之，不知也。佐训诸子，礼其师必以腆。进则喜，不则痛厉之，曰：『奈而父何？』宋安人母杜养于公，垂没，谢曰：『老妇累半子，藉令弱女在，视我何以加安人？老妇不忘来生报也。』人谓安人母犹母，子诸子，皆女德所尤难。万钟每向予语，泪涔涔下云。公素好客，虽贫不衰。夫人操馈如一日。诸米来京师，德公，尤德安人也。公年六十九，为寿者倾都下。明年以迎养之永宁，其士民寿如之。是时已病，犹力寻上阁、香泉、龙头、龟潭之胜。洒然引觥曰：『予尝慕仙游，今得洗神乎？于兹虽晚不恨。』已病革，惟忠孝是属，且命以覆巾野服敛，曰：『予志也。』东首右胁而化，面如生。吊者诧未尝有焉。安人毁甚，欲从公地下。又二岁，亦卒。将合葬于海甸之原，盖公所自卜者。宋夫人及田氏、董氏从焉。当公中落，尝手摩仲子项曰：『而翁虽不于公，自顾少憾于天，天有知邪，将食吾于孺子。』安人亦曰：『君有是在，何言贫也。』钟竟举进士，有声于时。安人王大父尚宪庙宜兴大长公主，其诗礼所渐远矣。公尝以事至潞河，或荐之姝，怪其类良家子，泣曰：『然，坐夫窘至此。』立予二十金，俾自赎以免。夫轻财，人所时有，独仓卒见美妇人，不即昵近，必审所以来，贤于人远矣。不者，岂其偶然藐孤子，能保坠绪，而益昌之乎哉？公生于嘉靖戊子年二月十二日。万历丁酉年六月二十五日卒。得年七十。安人生于嘉靖壬寅二月十五日。万历己亥十二月十五日卒。得年五十有八。春登隆庆辛未武进士，历官分守通州参将，娶锦衣百户蒋维藩女。生女一，适锦衣千户田男太学生田元德。钟登万历乙未进士，初任永宁县知县，娶锦衣百户皇亲李凤女。生男一，孟骐方锦衣冠带总旗，娶锦衣百户王嵩女，生女二，尚幼。

铭曰：予不厌幽，还则彰也。育无择慈，一所从也。天之兆兹地，守以龙也。曰昌厥遗，远益征也。维石可浮，视兹颂也。





杭爱碑及石像生

杭爱（？—1683），满洲镶白旗人，章佳氏，历任吏部郎中、山西布政使、陕西巡抚等职，康熙二十二年（1683）卒于四川巡抚任上，谥号“勤襄”。

杭爱碑共两座，分别位于静园草坪东北角与西北角，掩映在萧疏竹影之中，乃杭爱墓冢前的旧物，均立于康熙二十四年（1685），即杭爱去世两年之后。其中，东侧为敕建的墓碑，上刻康熙御撰的碑文以表彰他一生的功绩；西侧为谕祭和诰命碑，阳面所刻为康熙御撰的祭文（遣礼部侍郎敖哈郎中稚虎谕祭），阴面所刻为康熙十四年（1675）诰封资政大夫的圣旨。二碑碑文满汉文并用，整体古朴庄严，形制相同，均为汉白玉石材，螭首龟趺，今保存完好。

东侧杭爱碑南面不远处有石羊、石虎各一只，当为旧时杭爱墓前的石像生。这两只石像生，一卧一坐，惟妙惟肖，如今可谓点缀静园草坪的灵动一笔。

据燕京大学档案记载，杭爱墓原位于今静园六院和俄文楼之间的土丘处，兴建静园时才将石碑与石像生移至今址。
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【杭爱碑及石像生】——唐伽拉　摄

There are two stone tablets of Hang'ai, respectively on the northeast and northwest corner of the lawn of the Jingyuan Garden, hidden among the desolate bamboo shadows. Hang'ai was a high official of the Qing dynasty. The tablets are the relics of his tomb, both set up in 1685, two years after his death. The inscriptions on both tablets are in the Manchu and Chinese languages, simple but solemn. Both are made of white marble and kept intact today.

The stone sheep and stone tiger not far from south of the northeast tablet were the stone animals in front of Hang'ai's tomb. These two animals, one lying and the other sitting, add a vivid touch to the lawn in serenity.
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Stone Tablet of Hang'ai and Stone Animals (photo by Tang Jiala)



东侧墓碑碑文

敕建

四川巡抚都察院右副都御史加五级谥勤襄杭爱碑文

朕惟自昔人臣宣力于国家者，必有荣始哀终之典，以示褒嘉。凡以崇奖贤劳，风励有位，事綦重也。尔杭爱，恪慎矢心，精勤奉职。总藩晋地，著声绩于当年；拥节关中，弘抚绥于比屋。值逆氛之未靖，我武惟扬；念转饷之罔愆，尔猷具在。迨移旆于蜀省，复效绩于岩疆。勤黎庶之招携，功收镇静；励耕桑之作息，业奏敉宁。倏尔沦亡，殊深轸悼。爰稽彝典，赐谥勤襄。於戏！嘉乃勋劳，宁靳天家之报；沛兹恩宠，益增泉壤之光。俾勒丰碑，以永休命。

康熙二十四年三月初六日立





西侧谕祭与诰封碑碑文

（阳面）

谕祭

皇帝谕祭四川巡抚都察院右副都御史加五级谥勤襄杭爱之灵曰：朕惟宣猷布泽，聿崇保障之勋；怀远招携，尤赖抚绥之略。故矢心奉国，既职业之克勤；荣始哀终，宜恩纶之下逮。易名有典，予祭维经。尔杭爱，性本恪恭，才优经济，聿资藩翰，干略特闻。再秉节旄，拊循是寄。属进兵于蜀道，屡转饷于关中。飞挽无愆，饱腾攸济，乃移旌旆，俾奠已渝，闾阎获家室之安，山泽息萑苻之警。方深倚任，遽悼沦亡。於戏！眷三载之成劳，残黎甫集；缅两川之瘠坏（壤），旧绩犹存。特弘追恤之仁，以为勤事之劝。尔灵不昧，尚克钦承。

康熙二十四年九月初九日，遣礼部侍郎敖哈郎中稚虎祭文





（阴面）诰命

奉天承运皇帝，诏曰：褒忠表义，昭代之良规；崇德报功，圣王之令典。特颁恩命，以奖勤劳。尔巡抚陕西等处地方赞理军务都察院右副都御史加二级杭爱，性资端谨，才识弘通。俾掌封疆，恪慎无惭于职守；宣劳政务，夙夜克矢乎寅恭。任用有年，小心益励。崇阶洊陟，历试能勤。欣兹庆典之逢，宜沛恩纶之宠。兹以覃恩，特授尔资政大夫，锡之诰命。於戏！恩推自近，乃弘奖夫崇阶；业广惟勤，尚钦承夫宠锡。凛予时命，励尔嘉猷。

康熙十四年十二月十四日





北京大学革命烈士纪念碑

北京大学革命烈士纪念碑位于静园草坪北侧。纪念碑用红色大理石制作，碑体呈不规则的多边形，共五块，构成写意的“心”字，主碑高四米，合起来象征着五四精神。主碑正面的镏金大字为老一辈革命家陈云题词“北京大学革命烈士纪念碑”。主碑背面刻有碑铭，并与后面的两块石碑一道，刻有从五四运动到新民主主义革命胜利期间北京大学（包括西南联大和燕京大学）师生和校友中牺牲的83位革命烈士的姓名、生卒年和籍贯。纪念碑于1993年5月4日正式揭幕落成。此碑既是纪念碑，又是极具艺术性的雕塑，堪称静园草坪上一处重要的景观。

中华人民共和国成立后的北京大学第一任校长马寅初先生，曾把该碑所铭刻的精神与传统概括为北京大学的“牺牲主义”。他说：“回忆母校自蔡先生执掌校务以来，力图改革。五四运动，打倒卖国贼，作人民思想之先导。此种虽斧钺加身毫无顾忌之精神，国家可灭亡，而此精神当永久不死。然既有精神，必有主义，所谓北大主义者，即牺牲主义也。服务于国家社会，不顾一己之私利，勇敢直前，以达其至高之鹄的。”

[image: alt]


【北京大学革命烈士纪念碑】——邹程浩　摄

The Monument of Peking University Martyrs for Chinese Revolution stands in the north of the lawn of the Jingyuan Garden. It consists of five red marbles put together in the shape of a "heart", the height being 4 meters, symbolizing the May Fourth spirit. The inscription on the front of the main monument was written by the respected revolutionist Chen Yun. On the back of the main monument and the other two tablets are inscribed the names, years of birth and death and native places of the 83 martyrs from the May Fourth Movement to the victory of the New Democratic Revolution. The monument was formally inaugurated on May 4, 1993.
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Monument of Peking University Martyrs for Chinese Revolution (photo by Zou Chenghao)
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北京大学革命烈士纪念碑铭文

从一九一九年五四运动到新民主主义革命取得全国性胜利，北京大学（含西南联合大学、燕京大学）的师生和校友有八十三位（其中中共党员七十位）为中国的民族解放和人民革命事业英勇献身。为缅怀先烈，继往开来，敬立此碑，以志纪念。

一九九三年五月四日









【四】燕园北区

Northern Yan Garden Area


鸣鹤园

鸣鹤园位于校园西北部，原为嘉庆第五子惠亲王绵愉所有，后由徐世昌购得，又转手归陈树藩所有，并于1928年左右由燕京大学购得作为校园的一部分。当年徐世昌拆除园中建筑，将建筑构件运回老家，对园区造成了毁灭性的破坏。鸣鹤园在其全盛之时曾被誉为京西五大邸园之一，其面积约9公顷，园中山峦起伏，沟壑纵横，又有两处池水（今荷花池与红湖），一派自然山水风光。历经坎坷后，鸣鹤园中原有建筑大多已荡然无存，仅有翼然亭保存完好。今日鸣鹤园中建有赛克勒考古与艺术博物馆、考古文博学院新馆、生物技术楼、动物房等——均为仿古建筑，以期与鸣鹤园的古典风貌相契合。园中有石刻“鸣鹤园”三字，为启功先生题写。
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【鸣鹤园冬景】——周杨　摄

The Minghe Garden is in the northwest of the campus, having been bought by Yenching University around 1928. It was thought to be one of the most beautiful gardens in the city of Beijing. You will find the Yiran Pavilion and the Arthur M. Sackler Museum of Art and Archaeology located in this garden.

[image: alt]


Minghe Garden in Winter Days (photo by Zhou Yang)



镜春园

镜春园，位于未名湖东北，第一体育馆通向朗润园的大路西侧，南临未名湖，北接朗润园，西接鸣鹤园，是北京大学校园中旧日园林里保存较为完好的区域。镜春园面积不大，嘉庆七年（1802）被赐予嘉庆皇帝第四女庄静公主，光绪二十二年（1896）并于鸣鹤园，属于嘉庆皇帝第五子绵愉后人所有。新中国成立以后，镜春园得以并入北大校园。

镜春园主要建筑包括镜春园75号和79号，现在是北京大学教育基金会和北京国际数学研究中心所在地。

二十年代前期，燕京大学以淑春园旧址为中心开始建校时，现在的镜春园仍属徐世昌所有，而当时燕大却已租得镜春园北邻的朗润园作为教职员住宅，中间隔有镜春园，不能通行，必须绕道东门外来往。1937年卢沟桥事变之前，燕京大学曾屡与徐家洽商，计划扩大校园，向北直通朗润园，希望以优惠价格购入镜春园，并在园内兴建专供中外文化交流之用的图书馆一座，即以徐氏别号“东海”为名，作为协商条件。议还未成，而1937年抗日战争爆发，事情也就这样结束了。直到新中国成立之后，镜春园才得合并于北大校园。

侯仁之：《燕园史话》
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【镜春园79号院】——邓毓晨　摄

The Jingchun Garden is located at the northeast end of the Weiming Lake. It was given to Princess Zhuangjing by Emperor Jiaqing in 1802 and then it became part of the Minghe Garden in 1896. After the People's Republic of China was established, the Jingchun Garden was bought by PKU.

The Jingchun Garden No. 75 is now Peking University Education Foundation and the No. 79 is Beijing International Center for Mathematical Research.
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Jingchun Garden No. 79 (photo by Deng Yuchen )
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朗润园

朗润园地处校园东北部，北面与圆明园仅一墙之隔，南隔镜春园与未名湖相望，西接鸣鹤园，面积约7公顷，是燕园中保存最好的一座古园林。朗润园原名春和园，嘉庆年间为乾隆第十七子、庆亲王永璘赐园，故又称庆王园。道光末年，春和园转赐恭亲王奕，始改称朗润园。至民国初年，朗润园被赐予载涛作为私产，后载涛将朗润园租与燕京大学作为教职工住宅使用。

朗润园主体为一个方形岛屿，四周有溪水湖泊环绕。岛上主体建筑分为中、东、西三所，早期共有大小房屋150余间、游廊亭阁数十间，经奕修缮增建后全园大小房屋达237间，游廊77间，规模盛大。东所为主体建筑中最大的部分，自南向北依次有宫门“春和别业”、正殿“恩辉余庆”、抱厦殿“澄怀撷秀”等，东南侧有四方亭“涵碧亭”，亭名为奕手书。在圆明园毁于英法联军之手的劫难中，朗润园虽近在咫尺却逃过一劫，主体建筑基本完整地保留了下来。

20世纪50年代，北京大学在朗润园东北部滨湖新建六座教职工住宅楼和一座招待所楼（今科维理天文与天体物理研究所）。至90年代以后，朗润园历经修缮与增建，现已成为国家发展研究院（原中国经济研究中心）、中国古代史研究中心等多个研究机构的办公场所，古老的建筑在得到有效保护的前提下，终于旧貌换新颜。朗润园岛上今有“朗润园”石碑，为曾经久居朗润园的季羡林先生题写。

The Langrun Garden is located in the northeast of the campus, next to the Yuanming Yuan. It is the best preserved ancient garden at PKU and was also once a royal garden. The Langrun Garden is a square island, surrounded by lakes. In the past there were more than 150 houses on the island. In the 1950s, PKU built a group of new buildings on the island, including the National School of Development, the Center for Research on Ancient Chinese History and the Kavli Institute for Astronomy and Astrophysics.
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校景亭

校景亭，原名翼然亭，位于鸣鹤园中，民主楼北部一座土山之上，北面俯临红湖，该湖在北大迁入燕大后，曾长期作为露天游泳场使用。校景亭建筑形式为大式重檐四角方亭，古朴大方，四周有假山叠置、树木环抱，西面有一方形水池。

校景亭建于乾隆初年，乾隆十二年（1747）清高宗乾隆曾登亭观赏游玩，并以《翼然亭》为题赋诗。咸丰十年（1860），鸣鹤园毁于英法联军之手，翼然亭幸免于难。1926年燕京大学迁入新校址以后对翼然亭进行了修整，并在亭内彩绘燕园校景十二幅，校景亭因此而得名，并成为燕园西北部的一处重要景观。
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【校景亭】

The Campus Scenery Pavilion was originally named Yiran Pavilion, constructed in the early years of Emperor Qianlong's reign. It stands on the top of a small hill to the north of the Minzhu Building. In 1860 the Minghe Garden was destroyed by the Anglo-French Allied Forces whereas the pavilion made a narrow escape. In 1926, the pavilion was renovated and adorned with twelve paintings of the campus scenery, hence its present name.
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Campus Scenery Pavilion



日晷

北大赛克勒考古与艺术博物馆前有一座汉白玉日晷，高近3米，由大底座、碑身和赤道式日晷组成。碑身刻有篆字碑文，东西南北四面碑文分别为“近取诸物”“远取诸身”“仰以观于天文”“俯以察于地理”。

这座日晷是乾隆第四女和嘉公主府第的遗物，1898年京师大学堂成立后，清廷将闲置的公主府划为学堂校址，这座日晷也同归学堂所有。京师大学堂不久更名为北京大学，北大迁出后，日晷由人民教育出版社代为保管，日晷的晷盘和晷针不幸损坏。20世纪80年代后期北大将日晷取回，放在现塞万提斯像东侧草坪内。赛克勒博物馆建成后北大将日晷移到现处，并恢复了晷盘与晷针。现在日晷已不再作为计时工具使用，而因其文物价值和观赏价值成为燕园一景，与博物馆内陈列的物品一起记录着光与影的时光印记。

此外，燕京大学时期也留有一个日晷，目前留有一基座，存于西校门附近。
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【日晷】——张博言　摄

In front of the Arthur M. Sackler Museum of Art and Archaeology, there stands a 3-meter-high marble sundial. It was a relic from a princess's mansion in the Qing dynasty. When the Imperial University of Peking was established in 1898, the sundial together with the princess's mansion was owned by the University.
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Sundial (photo by Zhang Boyan)



勺园太湖石

赛克勒考古与艺术博物馆内庭院正中有一方高大的太湖石，据侯仁之先生考证，乃米万钟勺园遗物。

米万钟为晚明著名画家，与松江董其昌齐名，号称“南董北米”。约在万历四十年（1612）至四十二年（1614）间，米万钟筑勺园于海淀，其旧址在今北大校内西南隅，是海淀园林开辟的先驱。

米万钟爱石成癖，别号“友石先生”，勺园内收藏有数量众多、品质上佳的太湖石。据明代孙国敉《燕都游览志》记载：“勺园径曰风烟里。……逾梁而北为勺海堂。……堂前怪石蹲焉，栝子松倚之。”参之以米万钟万历四十五年（1617）手绘《勺园修禊图》，则勺园正堂勺海堂前确有一巨石矗立，旁有高树倚之。

这方太湖石早先位于校园东南角原治贝子园后殿屋后，1993年赛克勒博物馆建成后移至馆中。

至于今，过海淀所为勺园者，残陇荒陂、烟横草蔓，则当年之晴轩月榭、凉台燠室也。枯塘颓径、蛇盘狸穴，则当年之文窗窈窕、古槎嵯峨也。求其莲房松岸，楼舫相掩映，而危梁穹窿于木末者，茫不可得。惟巍巍一石，宛然当年荫高梧而峙庭前者也。

王崇简：《米友石先生诗序》

In the center of the courtyard of the Arthur M. Sackler Museum of Art and Archaeology stands a tall Taihu stone. According to Hou Renzhi, it is a relic of Mi Wanzhong's Shaoyuan Garden.

Mi Wanzhong was a well-known artist in the late Ming dynasty, often referred to together with Dong Qichang, a famous contemporary paintercalligrapher, as the "southern Dong and northern Mi". The Shaoyuan Garden was built around 1612 to 1614. It is the earliest garden developed in Haidian District.

Mi Wanzhong had a weakness for stone. There were a good number of Taihu stones of superior quality in the garden. This Taihu stone was moved to its present place from the Zhibeizi Garden in 1993.
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半月台乾隆诗刻碑

半月台乾隆诗刻碑位于校园西北角的荷花池西北岸。石碑汉白玉制，碑顶雕半月云纹形，碑身刻有乾隆三十一年（1766）御制诗。该碑几经罹难，碑身破碎，涂画严重，后虽有修补，但十分粗劣，恐难以再复原貌。原碑座已经遗失，现有碑座石质、尺寸与碑身均不相符。

半月台乾隆诗刻碑原位于圆明园中长春园思永斋以北，湖面正中岛屿上的“海岳开襟”旁。“海岳开襟”建于乾隆十二年（1747），主体建筑为直径百米、围以汉白玉栏杆的两层圆台。“半月台”为“海岳开襟”岛东岸叠石而成的高台，专供皇帝赏月，这通汉白玉诗碑就伫立于台上。至于其何时辗转流入燕园，目前尚不清楚。
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【半月台乾隆诗刻碑】——唐伽拉　摄

The Emperor Qianlong's Poem Tablet on the Half Moon Platform stands on the northwest bank of the Lotus Pool in the northwest corner of the campus. The tablet is made of white marble, with halfmoon moiré patterns on the top and Emperor Qianlong's poem inscribed on the body. Despite later repairs, the gravely damaged tablet could not be restored to its original appearance. The old base was lost, substituted by a new one suited neither in texture nor in size to the body.

The tablet was originally in the Haiyue Kaijin (Sea of Magnanimity) in the Yuanming Yuan. The Half Moon Platform on the east side of the Haiyue Kaijin was specially made for the emperor to enjoy the moon, while the tablet was right there on the platform.
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Emperor Qianlong's Poem Tablet on the Half Moon Platform (photo by Tang Jiala)



乾隆御制《半月台》诗

台形规半月，白玉以为栏。

即是广寒界，雅宜秋夕看。

会当银魄满，不碍碧虚宽。

太白镜湖句，常思欲和难。

丙戌新秋御题





“断桥残雪”石牌坊构件

“断桥残雪”石牌坊构件现立于朗润园南部、北京国际数学研究中心与斯坦福中心之间小石桥的南端，2012年朗润园施工时被从地下挖出。石坊坊楣阳面为乾隆御题的“断桥残雪”，阴面刻有乾隆御制诗，坊柱两面皆刻有对联。

“断桥残雪”原位于“圆明园四十景”之一“汇芳书院”东南，建成于乾隆二十八年（1763），为圆明园仿西湖十景之一，亦为“四十景”之后续增的八景之一。至于其如何流入朗润园，又被埋藏地下，尚待考察。
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【“断桥残雪”石牌坊构件】——何晋　摄

The "Duanqiao Canxue" (Remnant Snow on the Bridge in Winter) Dolmen Component is now in the south of the Langrun Garden, the southern tip of the small stone bridge between Beijing International Center for Mathematical Research and Stanford Center. It was unearthed in 2012 when the Langrun Garden was in construction. The characters "Duanqiao Canxue" are the handwriting of Emperor Qianlong.

The dolmen was originally situated in the southeast of the Huifang Shuyuan (Library of Collected Fragrances), one of the Forty Scenes of the Yuanming Yuan. It was an imitation of the Ten Scenes in the West Lake, and one of the Eight Scenes succeeding the Forty. There is no knowing about how it came to the Langrun Garden and was buried later.
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"Duanqiao Canxue" Dolmen Component (photo by He Jin)



对联

（阳面）杨柳似含烟羃[image: alt]
 ，楼台仍积玉嵯峨。

（阴面）连村画景张横幅，著树梅花发野桥。





乾隆御制《断桥残雪》诗

在昔桥头密雪铺，

举头见额忆西湖。

春巡几度曾来往，

乃识西湖此不殊。

癸未孟冬月御题





“柳浪闻莺”石牌坊构件

“柳浪闻莺”石牌坊与“断桥残雪”石牌坊相同，均为圆明园对西湖十景的仿建，原建于乾隆二十八年（1763），竖立在文源阁西北溪滨柳荫之间。1977年，在朗润园岛上西北角出土了刻有“柳浪闻莺”字样的坊楣，坊楣背面亦刻有乾隆的御制诗。此坊楣后被北大捐赠给圆明园，成为国内第一批回归圆明园的流失文物之一，现展陈于圆明园西洋楼海晏堂遗址北侧。2012年，“柳浪闻莺”的坊柱与“断桥残雪”石牌坊构件同时被挖出，坊柱两面亦刻有对联，现立于红湖东岸。
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【“柳浪闻莺”石牌坊构件】——邹程浩　摄

Built in 1763, the "Liulang Wenying" (Orioles Singing in the Willows) Dolmen Component was an imitation of the Ten Scenes in the West Lake in the Yuanming Yuan. The top of the dolmen was donated to the Yuanming Yuan by Peking University among the first batch of lost cultural relics back home. It is now on display to the north of the old site of the Haiyan Tang. The columns of the dolmen were unearthed in 2012 and now stand at the east end of the Honghu Lake.
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"Liulang Wenying" Dolmen Component (photo by Zou Chenghao)



对联

（阳面）能言春鸟呼名字，罨尽云林自往回。

（阴面）几缕画情遮过客，一行烟意□新题。

乾隆御制《柳浪闻莺》诗

十景西湖名早传，

御园柳浪亦称旃。

栗留叽啭无端听，

讶似清波门那边。









【五】燕园西区

Western Yan Garden Area


畅春园

畅春园位于北京大学西门外，蔚秀园以南。畅春园原是清圣祖康熙皇帝所修建的皇家园林，其前身为修建于明万历年间的清华园，始建于万历十年（1582）。畅春园是康熙皇帝在北京西北郊修建的第一座大型园林，也是庞大的“三山五园”皇家园林区的开端。康熙皇帝曾亲撰《御制畅春园记》，并经常在此听政理事、休养游玩，最终病逝于此。至乾隆朝，乾隆皇帝的生母常居畅春园，故乾隆皇帝时常来到这里请安游赏，留下很多诗文。根据记载，全盛时期的畅春园分为中、东、西三路，园中既有议政和居住用的宫殿，又有亭台楼阁与山水相间的园林，一派江南景致，风光秀美非凡。1860年在英法联军火烧圆明园的劫难中，畅春园中的建筑也被焚毁殆尽，至今仅存恩佑寺、恩慕寺山门和畅春园东北界碑。后畅春园遗址的北部划归北京大学所有，康熙皇帝所居住的清溪书屋即在此范围内。现遗址内建有北达资源中学校舍、北大教工宿舍和畅春新园宿舍。
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【畅春园敬建恩佑寺】

The Changchun Garden (Joyful Spring Garden) is next to the Weixiu Garden. It was the first large-scale royal garden constructed by Emperor Kangxi in this area. Many emperors used to choose this garden as a place for leisure and holidays. However, it was burned to ashes by the Anglo-French Allied Forces in 1860. Now the north part of the garden belongs to PKU and is used as a dormitory area for staff and students as well as a teaching area for Beida Resource Middle School.
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Enyou Temple of the Changchun Garden



蔚秀园

蔚秀园位于畅春园以北，园门与西校门相对，原为圆明园附属园林之一。蔚秀园曾为道光年间定郡王载铨的赐园，原名含芳园，又称定王园。咸丰八年（1858），含芳园被转赐醇亲王奕[image: alt]
 ，并由咸丰皇帝赐名蔚秀园。清室覆亡前，蔚秀园被赐予奕[image: alt]
 第五子载沣作为私产，1931年由燕京大学购得。蔚秀园中曾经湖泊相连，将园区分为东、中、北三个相对独立的小岛，岛上建有院落、戏台、花园等。如今园中尚保留有三个小湖，湖中岛上存有奕所建平房院落，湖西岸土丘上有方亭（南亭）一座，其北侧有歇山顶亭（北亭）一座，另有“紫琳浸月”碑和“云根”石存园中。20世纪70年代北京大学曾在园中西部和北部建造了15幢楼房，作为教职工住宅使用，后又在园区南部修建了幼儿园。
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【蔚秀园南亭】——李根　摄

The Weixiu Garden is opposite the West Gate. It was bought by Yenching University in 1931. There were many lakes and islands in this garden, yet only three lakes still remain with some courtyards and pavilions on the island. In the 1970s, PKU started to build houses for staff's residence in the west and north of the garden and a kindergarten in the south.
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Southern Pavilion of the Weixiu Garden (photo by Li Gen)



承泽园

承泽园原为清代皇家花园，位于西苑旁，挂甲屯南，东南临畅春园，东北接蔚秀园。承泽园约始建于雍正三年（1725），最初被赐予果亲王允礼，道光年间被赐予道光皇帝六女寿恩公主，故又称六公主园。光绪中叶，承泽园又被赐予庆亲王奕劻，奕劻去世以后，该园为张伯驹购得，1953年又被张卖给北京大学，成为北大校园的一部分。时至今日，园内山水、清代楼阁宅院尚存遗痕，使之成为西郊诸园中保存较完整的园林之一。据记载，承泽园总体上分为南北两部分，中间隔以东西走向的溪湖。南部为宫门和附属房屋，北部为园区建筑的主体部分，又分为东西二所，建有正房、厅堂、小亭、城关等建筑若干。现在北京大学在园区南部修建了教工楼，又对承泽园西所进行修缮，作为北京大学科学与社会研究中心办公场所使用，并正在对承泽园东北部进行修复改造，以作为国家发展研究院教学科研用房。

The Chengze Garden was also a royal garden in the Qing dynasty and situated next to the Changchun Garden (Joyful Spring Garden). It was built in 1725 and had changed hands several times from Princess Shou'en to Prince Yikuang and then to Zhang Boju. In 1953 Zhang sold the garden to PKU and it has become part of the campus ever since.



畅春园东北界碑

畅春园东北界碑旧址在篓斗桥稍南、万泉河分水东流处，约当今畅春园食堂南门前。2001年兴建畅春园宿舍时，石碑被移至北大校园西南角外火神庙（今大明眼镜店）院内。碑上刻有“畅春园东北界”六个大字。该界碑既是“三山五园”初始建设地的见证，也是北大校内园林水源的地标，具有重要的历史价值，将来应当予以妥善的安置和必要的保护。
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【承泽园绣花楼】——李根　摄

The Changchun Garden Northeastern Boundary Tablet was originally in front of the south gate of today's Changchun Garden (Joyful Spring Garden) dining hall. When the Changchun Garden dormitory was in construction in 2001, it was moved into the Fire God Temple (present-day Daming Glass Store) outside the southwest corner of the campus. Inscribed on the tablet are six characters: Chang Chun Yuan Dong Bei Jie (Changchun Garden Northeastern Boundary). The tablet is not only a witness to the initial construction area of "Three Hills and Five Gardens", but also a significant landmark of the water source of the campus gardens, hence deserving appropriate settlement and necessary protection.
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Xiuhua Building of the Chengze Garden (photo by Li Gen)



“紫琳浸月”石碑

“紫琳浸月”石碑暂放于蔚秀园北部24号楼与26号楼之间的小花园中。蔚秀园中原有湖泊环绕，分为东、中、北三个相对独立的小岛。石碑原位于东部小岛西北角的湖岸边，此地旧时为园主观赏月色之地。石碑上“紫琳浸月”四字，为晚清园主醇亲王奕[image: alt]
 手书。20世纪80年代石碑被移至今址，2006年汉白玉碑座被盗，下落不明，今只存碑身卧于杂草间。“紫琳浸月”石碑是蔚秀园内少数遗存至今的文物之一，应当重增碑座，予以妥善保护。
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【“紫琳浸月”石碑】

The "Zilin Jinyue" Stone Tablet stands in the small garden between No. 24 and No. 26 buildings in the north of the Weixiu Garden. There used to be lakes and rivers in the garden, forming three small islands comparatively independent in the east, middle and north. The tablet was originally on the northwest corner of the small island in the east, where the garden-owner used to appreciate the moon. The inscriptions "Zilin Jinyue" on the tablet are Yixuan's handwriting. In the 1980s the tablet was removed to its present place and in 2006 the base was stolen.
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"Zilin Jinyue" Stone Tablet



“云根”石

“云根”石位于蔚秀园内，嵌于湖心岛通往北岸小径东侧的山石间。石上题“云根”二字，上款为“丙子仲春二日”，落款为满文书写的“醇亲王”。据此，则此石应为园中旧物，石上刻字乃园主醇亲王奕所书，时为光绪二年（1876）二月二日。
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【“云根”石】

The "Cloud Root" Stone stands within the Weixiu Garden, among the hills and rocks east of the pathway linking the Center Island and the north bank. According to the inscriptions on the stone, it was a relic of the Weixiu Garden, and the inscriptions were written by Yixuan in 1876.
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"Cloud Root" Stone



“重修观音庵”碑

观音庵在承泽园东北角，挂甲屯南，俗称“姑子庙”，始建于康熙年间，光绪四年（1878）重修；今存前殿、正殿（包括两旁耳殿）和东西配殿，现作为居民住宅使用。院内存有一石碑，仅存碑身，右下角有缺损，碑面亦有一裂痕。此碑为光绪四年重修时所立，碑额题为“万古流芳”，碑身刻记修庵缘起及修缮情况。碑记撰写人为御膳房三等侍卫佟福祥，是为此次重修的主持者。

The Guanyin Nunnery is in the northeast corner of the Chengze Garden. It was built during the reign of Emperor Kangxi and rebuilt in 1878. Now only the antetemple, main hall and the side halls on the east and west exist, which are now used as dwelling houses. There remains a stone tablet, with the body only. The tablet was set up in the fourth year of Emperor Guangxu's reign (1878). The text was written by Tong Fuxiang, a lower-class official in the Qing dynasty, who presided over the renovation.



重修挂甲屯观音庵碑记

盖闻三摩妙地，仰仗慧日，以辉煌七处，征心须参瞿昙之奥义。群沾法雨，普庇慈云，护佑有灵，报答斯厚。兹因挂甲屯之有观音庵也，由来久矣。近因风雨圮倾，凋残日甚，仅有山门一座，正殿三楹，其余诸屋基址虽在，而栋宇荡然，残钟雪压，法像尘封，观者共为欷歔，闻之莫不感慨。

由是弟子因心有感，发愿重修，第工程浩大，独力难成，不得已募化。四方善信君子各施金赀，共襄盛事，遂于光绪四年正月，诹吉兴修，未及半载而工竣。谨将原有山门一座改建前殿三间，正殿三楹重为建构，并于两旁添建耳殿二间，土地祠一间，正殿左右添建东西配殿各三间，复于庵之西院又建北殿三间，耳殿二间。仰瞻各殿诸神圣像，金身光灿乎云霞，即墙垣等处亦皆一律修整，从此庙貌重新，共仰神灵之有赫。谅必慈恩广布，均沾圣德于无穷。

工既毕，而善信君子告予曰：颓落若此，建构良难，今既重修，宜传永久，爰书其源委而勒之于石。

御膳房三等侍卫内务府正白旗信士弟子佟福祥敬谨叩化重修

大清光绪四年岁次戊寅六月中浣谷旦谨建





六圣祠碑

六圣祠碑共两块，位于北大校园西南角外火神庙院内，与畅春园东北界碑相邻。火神庙南侧旧有清梵寺（今已毁），乾隆四十三年（1778）在寺旁附建六圣祠，内供灶君、马祖等六位神灵，故曰“六圣”。乾隆四十九年（1784）立碑，其中一碑记建祠经过及祠之概况，碑文尚清晰；另一碑开列建祠时捐资人名或商号名，文字漫漶，多不可读。据后者，则六圣祠当为本地绅商集资所建。

There are two Six Sages Shrine tablets within the Fire God Temple outside the southwest corner of the campus, next to the Changchun Garden Northeastern Boundary Tablet. There used to be a Qingfan Temple to the south of the Fire God Temple. In 1778 the Six Sages Shrine was built beside the temple for worshipping the Kitchen God, Mazu and other four gods, hence the name "Six Sages". The tablets were set up in 1784. One tablet records the specifics of the construction and general situation of the temple; the other lists the names of contributors or stores. It is thus conferred that the Six Sages Temple must have been built with the collected money of local gentry and merchants.
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六圣祠碑文（其一）

海淀清梵寺西有六圣祠，祠三楹，中左祀灶君，右祀马祖，左左祀火祖，右祀财神，右左祀元坛，右祀鲁般，均南向，以六神合享一殿，故曰六圣祠。先是，寺中无此祠，岁戊戌，土人佟尚志等倡议，海淀为御园孔道，车马之往来，商贾之辐辏，栉比鳞次，无虑数万户，往往赖神呵护。用能安其生业而丰其货殖，宜建祠以答神贶。会四方之懋迁于是者，闻其议皆曰善。乃相与醵金六千余，创为此举，卜地于寺之西偏，以三十缗易诸寺僧。故祠虽附寺，实于寺无与，顾地址袤而狭，自享殿[image: alt]
 西为齐廊，廊尽为门，门之西，又为斋廊，为穿堂，凡若干间。塈茨丹臒，董其役者，咸踊跃从事，岁末浃而工告藏祠成榜，曰六圣符众志也。稽古先王设教之义，凡有功德于民及能为民捍灾御患者，各立专庑载在祀典，所以昭诚敬肃报享也。今六神合祀，虽为祀典所不载，其功德之切于民生日用者，皆不可一日而无民之祀之也，盖原于心之不容，已而特限于地，故合祀，可以无讥焉。

观乎杗桷瑰丽，金碧炅晃，元柜之幽宣，离景之昭明，房精烛而下孕，宝气毓而上腾万井，烟凝乎画栋，百工巧错乎重楣，罔弗悚然动其诚敬之思，而愈以虔其报享之礼，固知神之潜相默佑，大有造于斯土也。记曰，礼以义起，兹祠之以六圣称其，知此义与。自祠既建且七年，众始谋勒贞珉，以视来兹，请予为记。予一曾游祠中，知其创建始末，因为叙述而并繁之以辞，俾歌以侑神。其辞曰：

玉泉兮巃嵸，天作兮[image: alt]
 宫。郁芳淀兮葱葱，神受职兮物滋丰，岸草碧兮霜叶红，罗俎豆兮仰元功。赛鼓喧阗兮乐未终，灵旗飒杳兮来英风，愿神呵护兮，长无穷。

赐进士出身奉直大夫纂修国史翰林院编修兼四库全书分校寿阳祁韵士撰文并书

乾隆四十九年岁次甲辰孟夏上浣谷旦众善勒石









【六】燕东园

Yandong Garden


燕东园，又名东大地，坐落于成府镇东，清华园西南，北倚万泉河，南临中关园。据说当年万泉河两岸柳阴，野鸭成行，穿行在京西皇家园林间，景色十分宜人。燕东园与北大燕园之间以前还隔着一个成府。

燕东园中最有特色的就是那些一层或两层灰色小楼。小楼一共22座，从21号排到42号。当初建这些小楼是为了给燕京大学的教授们提供住所，而燕大很多教授都是国外聘请来的，因此建筑采取了西式郊区别墅的风格。小楼的样式各不相同，但又都很合理美观，因此一度成了清华建筑系学生写生的理想场所。所有小楼都是砖木结构，冬暖而夏凉。小楼建筑用的木材全部是红松，据说是远道从菲律宾运来。绝大多数木头现在从中间劈开，心依然是鲜红的。这些小楼大多修建于1927年左右，距今已有九十余年的历史。

20世纪50年代能住进这个院子的，大多是新中国成立前就很有成就的学者。燕东园和燕南园在住户分配上，本没有什么高低，只是外界对燕南园的宣传更多一些。到了“文革”时期，很多住户迁入，每栋小楼都被塞得满满的。后来随着北大住宅建设的发展，很多人又迁出，最终留下的，还是那些老教授。他们大多在这里走完了自己的最后岁月。
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燕东园在燕园东门外面，离校园不足一里之遥又称“东大地”。再往东北走，就是清华园，往南去，就是成府街上。边上还有大蒋家胡同，燕园位于明清以来朗润园、勺园的旧址，燕东园可能也是这些旧时名园的边沿吧。大树是不少的。在这些老树荫下，盖了近三十幢灰砖两层楼小洋房，又用围墙围了起来，这便是燕东园。当年燕大的中外知名教授大多都是住在这里的。那在当年真可以说是首屈一指，连清华南院的教授宿舍也是比不上的。这些小楼中都是打蜡地板、壁炉、地毯、水汀、高级卫生间、冷热水，有阳台、庭院，家家小楼前又都种着玫瑰、丁香、藤萝、玉簪……在庭院中就可赏花，出门没有多少步就到了燕园东门了。





由燕东园到燕园东门的一条小路，也是风景极优美，永远使人怀念的一条小路。在这条幽静美丽的小路上，有几家泥墙小院的农舍点缀其间，小小的院门，矮矮的墙头，从墙头上可以望见北屋的房檐下，挂着的老玉米、蒜辫子。而在这几户农舍的旁边，还有一条浅浅的流水，潺潺流过，本来这样的小河在北方其它地方是珍贵的，而在燕园、清华园一带却不稀奇，因为北京的西北郊，处玉泉山脚下，原是一个小小的水网地区。这一带完全是江南水乡风光，夏天由燕东园到燕园的小路两旁，还可以看到荷塘，其中有田田的荷叶，有大三角叶的茨菇、菱角。远望呢，是永远看不厌的西山山色，浓的，淡的，看山夏秋之际，秋冬之间最好，当然春天大黄风天气稍微扫兴些。但钱宾四先生在成都时说的好：“一出西直门，迎着西北风，真痛快呀——”，说明也有喜欢燕山的风，怀念燕山的风。而在冬天，大雪之后，那这条路就更浑然一体了。这条小路上曾走过爱德加·斯诺、吴雷川、许地山、邓之诚、郭绍虞、陆侃如、冯沅君、顾颉刚等多少位名人啊。

邓云乡：《文化古城旧事》
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【燕东园一角】——唐伽拉　摄

The Yandong Garden is located to the south of the Wanquan River. It was said that the view here was breathtaking. This garden also features Western-style buildings, which were old homes for famous Yenching University and Peking University professors.
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A Glimpse of the Yandong Garden (photo by Tang Jiala)


附录　北京大学馆藏文物

Appendix: Collections in PKU Museums, Library and Archives






赛克勒考古与艺术博物馆

Arthur M. Sackler Museum of Art and Archaeology


赛克勒考古与艺术博物馆坐落于鸣鹤园，是中国高等院校中第一所也是迄今为止最大的一所考古专题博物馆，由北京大学和美国医药学家、艺术品收藏家阿瑟·赛克勒博士合作建立，1993年5月27日正式开馆。

展厅面积约2000平方米，馆藏品共有两万余件。基本陈列按照时间顺序分为旧石器时代、新石器时代、夏商周时期、战国时期、秦汉时期、三国两晋南北朝至隋唐时期、宋辽金元明时期等部分。馆藏文物多为考古教学典型标本，包括石器、铜器、甲骨、陶器、瓷器、书画、碑帖等几大类。藏品来源较广，包括北京大学在1952年设置考古专业之前的收藏、燕京大学史前历史博物馆的藏品、50年代北大考古专业建立后从田野考古发掘现场带回来的教学标本以及博物馆筹备期间各地文物、考古机构赠送或调拨的展品，还有部分海内外文物收藏家捐赠的藏品等。

Located in the Minghe Garden, the Arthur M. Sackler Museum of Art and Archaeology is the first and so far the largest archeological museum in Chinese universities and colleges. It was jointly founded by Peking University and Dr. Arthur M. Sackler, American pharmacologist and art collector, and formally opened on May 27, 1993.

The exhibition area covers about 2,000 square meters, with over 20,000 collections classified into the Paleolithic Age, Neolithic Age, Age of the Xia, Shang and Zhou dynasties, the Warring States Period, the Age of Qin and Han dynasties, Southern and Northern Dynasties to Sui and Tang dynasties, Song, Liao, Jin, Yuan and Ming dynasties. The majority of the collections are typical samples for archeological teaching, including stoneware, copper ware, oracle bones, earthenware, chinaware, works of painting and calligraphy, and rubbings from stone inscriptions collected from different sources. To name just a few, there are collections before the setting up of the Peking University's archaeology program, collections from the Prehistory Museum of Yenching University, teaching specimens collected from excavation sites in the 1950s, as well as donations and allocations from different archeological agents and overseas cultural relic collectors.



北京大学校史馆

Museum of Peking University History


北京大学校史馆坐落于燕园校区西校门内荷花池畔，1998年5月北大百周年校庆时奠基，2002年5月4日正式开放。时任国家主席江泽民题写馆名。

馆舍分为三层：首层为“北京大学杰出人物展”，展出了北大历史上217位杰出的革命家、思想家、理论家、科学家、教育家的生平简介及照片。地下二层为主展厅，展示北京大学百年校史，有图片、图表800余幅，实物展品440余件，展线长400余米。展览以北大“爱国、进步、民主、科学”的光荣革命传统和“勤奋、严谨、求实、创新”的优良学术传统为主线，将北大百年发展历程分为九个阶段依次展示。地下一层为专题展厅。校史馆以其大量珍贵的遗存成为北京大学校史研究和传统教育的基地。

Located beside the Lotus Pool within the West Gate of the campus, the Museum of Peking University History was inaugurated on May 4, 2002, four years after the ground-breaking ceremony in 1998. Its name was inscribed by Jiang Zemin, then President of the People's Republic of China.

The museum has three floors. The first floor is the Exhibition of Outstanding Figures of Peking University, including brief biographies of 217 eminent revolutionists, thinkers, theorists, scientists and educators in the history of Peking University. The Basement 2 is the main exhibition hall, featuring Peking University's development over the century in nine stages. The Basement 1 is the special exhibition hall. Because of the large quantity of precious remains, the museum has become an important base for history research of Peking University as well as traditional education.



北京大学图书馆

Peking University Library


北京大学图书馆位于未名湖畔，正门向东，前方两翼为文史楼、地学楼，与北大东门连成一线，邓小平同志亲笔题写“北京大学图书馆”。它的前身为建于1898年的京师大学堂藏书楼。经过一百多年的历史发展，北京大学图书馆业已形成了宏大丰富、学科齐全、珍品荟萃的馆藏体系。

到2015年年底，总、分馆文献资源累积量1100余万册（件）。其中纸质藏书800余万册，另有近年来大量引进和自建的国内外数字资源，包括各类数据库、电子期刊、电子图书和多媒体资源约300余万册（件）。馆藏中以150万册中文古籍为世界瞩目，其中20万件5—18世纪的珍贵书籍，是中华民族的文化瑰宝，北京大学图书馆也被国务院批准为首批国家重点古籍保护单位。图书馆在外文善本、金石拓片、1949年前出版物的收藏方面均名列国内图书馆前茅，为研究家所珍视。此外，馆内还有燕京大学学位论文、名人捐赠等特色收藏。

The Peking University Library is located beside the Weiming Lake, with the Wenshi Building and Dixue Building on both sides of its front, lining up with the East Gate. The inscription was written by Deng Xiaoping. Developed from the Library of the Imperial University of Peking established in 1898, the library has, over a century's growth, formed a vast and inclusive collection system profuse with a galaxy of treasures.

By the end of 2015, the accumulation of literature resources has amounted to more than 11,000,000, among which over 8,000,000 are paper books. Its collection of 1,500,000 ancient books in Chinese has attracted world attention, among which the 200,000 books from the 5th to 18th centuries are the cultural gems of the Chinese nation. In collections of books in foreign languages, rubbings, and publications before 1949, the Peking University Library comes out in front of its national counterparts. There are also special collections like dissertations of Peking University, celebrity donations, and more.



北京大学档案馆

Peking University Archives


北京大学档案馆位于西校门内、办公楼南侧。1999年，档案馆脱胎于党委的档案室，成为学校领导下独立的直属机构，收集、管理和永久保存本校档案。

档案馆馆藏档案非常丰富，设有北京大学、西南联合大学、日伪占领区的北京大学、北平大学、燕京大学等五个全宗，分为党政、学籍、科研、基建、出版、会计、声像、人物、实物、已故人员等多个门类，排架长度1900米。这些档案反映了百余年来北京大学创建、变迁、发展、建设的历程，有些档案极为珍贵。其中包括蔡元培任校长时期在北大兴利除弊、祛旧布新的评议会记录，西南联大三校师生在艰苦卓绝的条件下从事教学科研活动的记录，以及从光绪三十三年（1907）第一批毕业生开始，至今十多万名学生的学籍材料等众多珍贵档案。

The Peking University Archives is situated within the West Gate, south of the Bashford Hall. In 1999, the Archives was born out of the archives room of the Party Committee, becoming an independent agency directly under the University, collecting, managing and permanently keeping the University's files.

The Archives has a rich content. At present it includes the complete files of Peking University, Southwestern Associated University, Peking University in the Japanese occupied areas, Peiping University, and Yenching University. Among its numerous rare documents are President Cai Yuanpei's meeting minutes, teaching and research records of the teachers and students of Southwestern Associated University, and information about over 100,000 students' records since 1907.



北京大学地质博物馆

Peking University Geological Museum


北京大学地质博物馆位于北大东门逸夫二楼内，门前摆放着一个黄褐色的庞大“树桩”，这是一株早已灭绝的裸子植物化石，生长在一亿两千万年前的白垩纪时期，上面的年轮仍清晰可见。北京大学地质博物馆历史悠久，早在1909年京师大学堂地质学门创设之初，即在各学科实习室标本陈列的基础上逐步充实，成立了地质陈列馆。1952年院系调整时，全部展品并入新组建的北京地质勘探学院（现中国地质大学）。1955年北大地质学专业恢复招生，陈列馆也随之在燕园重建。目前，地质博物馆馆藏包括史前生命、矿物、岩石、构造等，均为地质学系师生历年采集和有关方面馈赠的珍贵标本。其中，苏联在20世纪50年代赠送的一整套古生物化石标本更是珍贵非凡。

The Geological Museum is in the Yifu Building No. 2 within the East Gate. In front of the gate is a giant yellowish brown "tree stump", a fossil gymnospermous plant of the Cretaceous Period, which lived 120,000,000 years ago. The annual rings are still clear in spite of the years. The museum has a long history. As early as in 1909 when the Department of Geology was established, the geological exhibition hall was set up based on the specimen displays of various disciplines' laboratories. At present, the collections include prehistoric life, minerals, rocks, and structures—precious samples that have been collected by teachers and students and donated by others. Among these, the complete set of fossil specimens donated by the Soviet Union in the 1950s stands out as a rarity.


后记

学校也逐步加强和完善校内文物管理机制。2007年，学校设立文物保护与管理办公室，挂靠考古文博学院；2010年，文物保护与管理办公室变更为发展规划部的内设办公室，后随机构调整变为政策法规研究室内设办公室。2011年，为统筹和规范全校的文物保护与管理工作，学校成立北京大学文物保护管理委员会。

北京大学一直高度重视校园文物的保护工作，早在2006年就编制完成了高校中首个文物保护总体规划：《未名湖燕园建筑文物保护总体规划——北京大学海淀校区文物保护规划》。规划经国家文物局和北京市文物局批准后，一直被严格执行。

按照规划，学校不但完成了办公楼、化学南楼、化学北楼、第一体育馆、第二体育馆、静园一至六院、临湖轩等一系列重要文物建筑的修缮工作，也整理和修复了“断桥残雪”和“柳浪闻莺”石牌坊等重要遗存遗迹，特别是恢复了干涸多年的未名湖以北区域的园林水系，修复了文物本体所依存的历史环境，极大改善了校园的景观风貌。

学校也逐步加强和完善校内文物管理机制。2007年，学校设立文物保护与管理办公室，挂靠考古文博学院；2010年，文物保护与管理办公室变更为发展规划部的内设办公室，后随机构调整变为政策法规研究室内设办公室。2011年，为统筹和规范全校的文物保护与管理工作，学校成立北京大学文物保护管理委员会。

保护文物，责任重大。近年来，损坏校园文物的事件受到了社会的广泛关注，也令我们十分痛心。为了增强全校师生和社会大众的文物保护意识，政策法规研究室组织了一系列宣传教育活动。比如，2017年，我们与学生社团、120周年校庆筹委会秘书处联合举办了“迎接120周年校庆——第一届燕园文物摄影、绘画大赛”，广大师生员工和校友踊跃参与，活动参赛作品近600幅，部分获奖作品收入了本书中。

北京大学党委书记郝平教授对北大创办史、燕京大学校史都有很深入的研究，对燕园文物十分熟悉。同时，作为联合国教科文组织第37届大会主席，他长期致力于文化遗产的保护工作，作出了卓越贡献。本书由他亲自主编，并撰写了序言。此外，岳升阳教授审阅了书稿，图书馆郑清文书记和古籍部的同志提供了宝贵资料，燕园文化遗产保护协会的同学们热心参与，外语教学与研究出版社的领导和编辑给予了大力支持，在此我们深表谢忱！

参加本书编撰工作的人员包括北京大学政策法规研究室的陈宝剑、唐伽拉、任羽中、张兴明、佟萌、陈丹、吴旭、杨超、陈威、吴雅文、杜津威、李根。

为本书提供备选图片的作者有熊瑛、林冰雨、姜南、王爱农、靳戈、刘彦良、何君耀、项婷婷、崔春立、邹程浩、张锐、何晋、张夏妍、夏昕鸣、钟晓艺、石传芬、熊冰雪、朱博雅、姬懿、胡帆、王彬、穆天乐、丁春明、张一琪、周杨、李一凝、姚远、陈燕军、尹双石、蒋少翔、方晓恬、韩昕岐、郭琳、曾亮、李琳、卢裕桦、孟园园、程佳路、夏欢欢、丁一、彭兆睿、胡财华、胡朝志、贾世蓓、蒋德林、李家驹、刘魁良、韩圣与、秦颖、王春茵、陈振亚、孟纹夙、徐开琨、赵琳、李娜、马丁、覃诗雅、魏卓、赵月娥、邓毓晨、张博言、纪世友、李津、薛俊华、刘继伟、王方、吴淑颖、唐伽拉、殷帆、李泉、李根。

燕园文化遗产保护协会的同学程振、尹超、王可达、禹小琴、孙雪静、孙瑀嫚、任鹤坤、陆迪、刘鸣赫、韩京俊、郑欣荻、井宇阳、王中伟、张林、肖灵轩、冯妍为本书编写提供了帮助。

对本书有贡献的其他同学有徐军、王冠之、张玺、郭季豪、王静雪、张清莹、陈川东、李泽宇、宾颖、宋美霖、周鑫、王俊、熊忻恺、董颖、袁薇薇、罗毅、翁汝佳、乔苏婷、李晓丹、采诗悦、梁弘。

我们期待着北大的师生员工、广大校友和所有关心爱护文物的读者给予指教。

北京大学政策法规研究室

2017年10月10日
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